
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

CITY HALL AUDITORIUM, 250 NORTH 5TH STREET 
 

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 24, 2009, 6:00 P.M. 
 

 
Call to Order 
 
 Welcome.  Items listed on this agenda will be given consideration by the City 

of Grand Junction Planning Commission.  Please turn off all cell phones 
during the meeting. 

 
 In an effort to give everyone who would like to speak an opportunity to 

provide their testimony, we ask that you try to limit your comments to 3-5 
minutes.  If someone else has already stated your comments, you may 
simply state that you agree with the previous statements made.  Please do 
not repeat testimony that has already been provided.  Inappropriate behavior, 
such as booing, cheering, personal attacks, applause, verbal outbursts or 
other inappropriate behavior, will not be permitted. 

 
 Copies of the agenda and staff reports are available on the table located at 

the back of the Auditorium. 
 
Announcements, Presentations, and/or Prescheduled Visitors 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
 Items on the consent agenda are items perceived to be non-controversial in 

nature and meet all requirements of the Codes and regulations and /or the 
applicant has acknowledged complete agreement with the recommended 
conditions. 

 
 The consent agenda will be acted upon in one motion, unless the applicant, a 

member of the public, a Planning Commissioner or staff requests that the 
item be removed from the consent agenda.  Items removed from the consent 
agenda will be reviewed as a part of the regular agenda.  Consent agenda 
items must be removed from the consent agenda for a full hearing to be 
eligible for appeal or rehearing. 

 
1. Minutes of Previous Meetings Attach 1 
 
 Approve the minutes of the January 27, 2009 Regular Meeting. 
 

To access the Agenda and Backup Materials electronically, go to www.gjcity.org 

http://www.gjcity.org/


Planning Commission February, 24 2009 

2 

2. Reimer Annexation – Zone of Annexation Attach 2 
Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to zone .081 acres from 
County RSF-R (Residential Single Family Rural) to a City I-1 (Light Industrial) zone 
district. 
 
FILE #: ANX-2009-006 
PETITIONER: Ryan Reimer 
LOCATION: 2751 Riverside Parkway 
STAFF: Michelle Hoshide 
 

3. Perf O Log Office/Warehouse Facility – Conditional Use Permit Attach 3 
Request approval for a Conditional Use Permit to allow for the storage of Hazardous 
and Explosive materials on 2.35 acres in an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district. 
 
FILE #: CUP-2008-088 
PETITIONER: Walid B. Boumatar – Interstate Commercial Park LLP 
LOCATION: 2309, 2311 Interstate Avenue 
STAFF: Ronnie Edwards 
 

4. FedEx Office/Warehouse – Conditional Use Permit Attach 4 
Request approval for a Conditional Use Permit to allow an office/ warehouse on 3.8 
acres in an I-O (Industrial Office) zone district located within the Noise Zone 
(Subdistrict B) of the Airport Environs Overlay Zoning District. 
 
FILE #: CUP-2008-380 
PETITIONER: Diane Schwenke – Colorado West Improvements 
LOCATION: 825, 829 Justice Court 
STAFF: Ronnie Edwards 
 

5. Wynshp Alley Vacation – Vacation of Right-of-Way Attach 5 
Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to vacate the .04 acre alley 
north of Winters Avenue between South 7th and South 8th Streets. 
  
FILE #: VR-2008-089 
PETITIONER: Deborah Shipley – Wynshp Enterprises, LLC 
LOCATION: 946 South 7th Street 
STAFF: Senta Costello 
 

* * * END OF CONSENT CALENDAR * * * 
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* * * ITEMS NEEDING INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION * * * 
 
Public Hearing Items 

 
On the following items the Grand Junction Planning Commission will make the final 
decision or a recommendation to City Council.  If you have an interest in one of 
these items or wish to appeal an action taken by the Planning Commission, please 
call the Public Works and Planning Department (244-1430) after this hearing to 
inquire about City Council scheduling. 

 
6. Bar/Nightclub & Office/Warehouse – Conditional Use Permit Attach 6 

Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a bar/nightclub in an I-1 (Light 
Industrial) zone district.  Remanded back by City Council at the January 21, 2009 
meeting. 
  
FILE #: CUP-2008-158 
PETITIONER: Kevin Eardley 
LOCATION: 2256, 2258 Colex Drive 
STAFF: Senta Costello 
 

7. Twelfth & Patterson Center – Conditional Use Permit Attach 7 
Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to vacate an Irrigation and 
Drainage Easement.  Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a retail 
building that is in excess of 15,000 sq. ft. in the B-1 (Neighborhood Business) zone 
district and request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through retail 
use on 8.4 acres. 
  
FILE #: CUP-2008-323 
PETITIONER: Dillon Real Estate 
LOCATION: SE Corner 12th Street & Patterson Road 
STAFF: Scott Peterson 
 

8. Corner Square, Phase II Apartments – Preliminary Subdivision Plan Attach 8 
Request approval of the Preliminary Development Plan to construct 48 multifamily 
dwelling units on 3.3 acres in a PD (Planned Development) zone district. 
  
FILE #: PP-2008-172 
PETITIONER: Bruce Milyard – F & P Development, LLC 
LOCATION: 2535 Knollwood Drive 
STAFF: Greg Moberg 
 

General Discussion/Other Business 
 
Nonscheduled Citizens and/or Visitors 
 
Adjournment 



 

 

Attach 1 
Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 
 

GRAND JUNCTION PLANNING COMMISSION 
JANUARY 27, 2009 MINUTES 
6:00 p.m. to 6:18 p.m. 

 
 

The regularly scheduled Planning Commission hearing was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 
by Chairman Cole.  The public hearing was held in the City Hall Auditorium. 
 
In attendance, representing the City Planning Commission, were Roland Cole 
(Chairman), William Putnam (Vice-Chairman), Lynn Pavelka-Zarkesh, Patrick Carlow, 
Ebe Eslami and Mark Abbott.   Commissioner Reggie Wall was absent. 
 
In attendance, representing the City’s Public Works and Planning Department – 
Planning Division, were Greg Moberg (Planning Services Supervisor), Lisa Cox 
(Planning Manager), Lori Bowers (Senior Planner), Scott Peterson (Senior Planner), 
Judith Rice (Associate Planner) and Michelle Hoshide (Associate Planner). 
 
Also present was Jamie Beard (Assistant City Attorney). 
 
Lynn Singer was present to record the minutes. 
 
There were 8 interested citizens present during the course of the hearing. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS, PRESENTATIONS AND/OR VISITORS 
 
There were no announcements, presentations and/or visitors. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
1. Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 There were no minutes available at this time. 
 
2. Hall’s Estates Subdivision – Preliminary Subdivision Plan 

Request approval of the Preliminary Subdivision Plan to develop 49 dwelling units 
on 6.87 acres in an R-8 (Residential 8 du/ac) zone district. 
FILE #: PP-2007-296 
PETITIONERS: Hall’s Estates, LLC 
LOCATION: 652 24½ Road 
STAFF: Lori Bowers 
 

3. St. Mary’s Rose Hill Hospitality House – Vacation of Easements and Vacation 
of Right-of-Way 
Vacation of Ingress, Egress and Utility Easement and Vacation of Right-of-Way. 
FILE #: RZ-2008-227 



 

 

PETITIONER: Keith Estridge – St. Mary’s Hospital & Medical Center 
LOCATION: 605 26½ Road 
STAFF: Scott Peterson 
 

4. Fast Eddy’s Relocation – Conditional Use Permit 
Request approval of the Conditional Use Permit to allow a bar/nightclub on 1.04 
acres in a C-1 (Light Commercial) zone district. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-361 
PETITIONER: William Lloyd – L & B, Inc. 
LOCATION: 1224 N 25th Street 
STAFF: Michelle Hoshide 
 

5. Two Rivers Condominiums – Preliminary Subdivision Plan 
Request approval of a Preliminary Subdivision Plan to condominiumize a 10,069 sq 
ft commercial/residential building into 4 units on .145 acres in a B-2 (Downtown 
Business) zone district. 
FILE #: CDP-2008-330 
PETITIONER: Shane Burton – Two Rivers Condo LLC 
LOCATION: 201 Colorado Avenue 
STAFF: Greg Moberg 
 

Chairman Cole briefly explained the Consent Agenda and invited the public, planning 
commissioners, and staff to speak if they wanted any item pulled for additional 
discussion.  After discussion, there were no objections or revisions received from the 
audience or Planning Commissioners on the Consent Agenda items. 
 
MOTION: (Commissioner Eslami):  “Mr. Chairman, I make a motion to approve 
the Consent Agenda and I would be excused from item 2 because of a conflict of 
interest.” 
 
Commissioner Pavelka-Zarkesh seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the 
motion passed unanimously by a vote of 6 - 0. 
 
Public Hearing Items 
 
6. Nellie Bechtel Right-of-Way Vacation – Vacation of Right-of-Way 

Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to vacate .209 acres of 
unimproved F¼ Road right-of-way located north of 3032 North 15th Street. 
FILE #: VR-2008-202 
PETITIONER: Mike Grizenko – City of Grand Junction 
LOCATION: 3032 North 15th Street 
STAFF: Judith Rice 
 

STAFF’S PRESENTATION 
Judith Rice, Associate Planner, Public Works and Planning Department, made a 
PowerPoint presentation regarding a request for vacation of right-of-way.  She said that 



 

 

the proposed right-of-way vacation was located north of Patterson Road and Hermosa 
Avenue and east of North 15th Street.  Ms. Rice said that the right-of-way to be vacated 
ran adjacent and north of the Nellie Bechtel Apartments.  The Future Land Use Map 
indicated this area as Residential High, Medium High and Medium with existing zoning 
immediately around the right-of-way area of R-8 and Planned Development.  She went on 
to state that the Nellie Bechtel Gardens would be the beneficiary of this vacation and 
planned to incorporate the 14 foot strip of land into its open space area which would allow 
landscaping and accessibility for maintenance.  According to Ms. Rice, a nearby citizen 
raised the question of establishing a pedestrian easement on the vacated area.  
However, upon further discussions with the neighbor, it was determined that the right-of-
way area was not the area that he was concerned about.  She concluded that the 
requested right-of-way vacation was consistent with the Growth Plan and the Grand 
Valley Circulation Plan and met the applicable review criteria of the Zoning and 
Development Code had been met and recommended that the Commission forward a 
recommendation of approval to City Council. 
 
QUESTIONS 
Chairman Cole asked if the land to the east presently being used as an extension of what 
the neighbor spoke of as a trail was private property.  Judith Rice said that it was private 
property and was not a formal trail. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
For: 
George Wheeler, 3820 Applewood Street, said that he was one of the owners of Nellie 
Bechtel Apartments.  He said that when the county built the property it gave 14½ feet of 
right-of-way to the north of the property with the intention of building a street from 15th 
Street over to 27½ Road which had never been built.  He concurred that the easement 
should be abandoned and was presently basically a no man’s land and there was no 
maintenance with weeds and elm trees.  They hoped to be able to continue to make it 
into a much better piece of property not only for their tenants but for the neighbors as 
well.  He felt that unless all property owners could get together and give an easement 
through there that there should not be an easement through there for walking purposes. 
 
Against: 
No one spoke in opposition to this request. 
 
QUESTIONS 
Commissioner Carlow asked how this tied into the trail system.  Ms. Rice said that it is not 
currently on the Urban Trails map but could possibly in the future if the City wanted to 
pursue that.  She said that there were also other areas to the north that might also be an 
alternative for connectivity for pedestrians as well.  She further stated that there are trail 
easements in the area. 
 
MOTION: (Commissioner Putnam):  “Mr. Chairman, on the vacation of the 14.5 
foot wide, 627 foot long undeveloped F¼ Road right-of-way, VR-2008-202, I move 



 

 

that the Planning Commission forward a recommendation of approval to City 
Council with the facts and conclusions listed in the staff report.” 
 
Commissioner Pavelka-Zarkesh seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the 
motion passed unanimously by a vote of 6 – 0. 
 
General Discussion/Other Business 
None. 
 
Nonscheduled Citizens and/or Visitors 
None. 
 
Adjournment 
With no objection and no further business, the Planning Commission meeting was 
adjourned at 6:18 p.m. 
 
 



 

 

Attach 2 
Reimer Annexation 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 24, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Michelle Hoshide 
 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Reimer Annexation- ANX-2009-006 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Recommendation to City Council on a Zone of Annexation. 
 

STAFF REPORT / BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 2751 Riverside Parkway 
Applicants  (Prop owner, 
developer, representative) Owners: Ryan M. and Chelsi N. Reimer 

Existing Land Use: Residential Single Family Rural 
Proposed Land Use: Industrial Trade Shop 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Union Pacific Railroad Company 
South Residential Single Family Rural 
East Residential Single Family Rural 
West Residential Single Family Rural 

Existing Zoning: RSF-R (Residential Single Family Rural) 
Proposed Zoning: I-1 (Light Industrial) 

Surrounding 
Zoning: 
 

North I-1(Light Industrial) 
South RSF-R (County Single Family Rural) 
East RSF-R (County Single Family Rural) 
West RSF-R (County Single Family Rural) 

Growth Plan Designation: Industrial 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 

 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: A request to zone .64 acres Reimer Annexation consisting 
of one (1) parcel located at 2751 Riverside Parkway to a I-1(Light Industrial) Zone 
District. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Recommend approval to the City Council of the I-1 (Light 
Industrial) zone district. 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS: 
 
1. Background: 
 
The .64 acre Colorado Reimer Annexation consists of one (1) parcel located at 2751 
Riverside Parkway.  The owners have requested annexation into the City to allow for 
development of a contractor and trade shop.  Under the 1998 Persigo Agreement all 
proposed development within the Persigo Wastewater Treatment boundary requires 
annexation and processing in the City. 
 
Under the 1998 Persigo Agreement with Mesa County, the City shall zone newly 
annexed areas with a zone that is either identical to current County zoning or conforms 
to the City’s Growth Plan Future Land Use Map.  The proposed zoning of I-1 (Light 
Industrial) conforms to the Future Land Use Map, which has designated the properties 
as Industrial 
 
2. Section 2.6.A.3 and 4 of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 
Zone of Annexation:  The requested zone of annexation to the I-1 (Light Industrial) zone 
district is consistent with the Growth Plan.  The existing County zoning is RSF-R 
(Residential Single Family Rural).  Section 2.14 of the Zoning and Development Code, 
states that the zoning of an annexation area shall be consistent with either the Growth 
Plan or the existing County zoning. 
 
In order for the zoning to occur, the following questions must be answered and a finding 
of consistency with the Zoning and Development Code must be made per Section 
2.6.A.3 and 4 as follows: 
 

• The proposed zone is compatible with the neighborhood, conforms to and 
furthers the goals and policies of the Growth Plan and other adopted plans 
and policies, the requirements of this Code, and other City regulations. 

 
Response:  The proposed I-1 (Light Industrial) zoning district is consistent with 
the Growth Plan.  The Future Growth plan designation is Industrial for this 
property. 
 
• Adequate public facilities and services are available or will be made available 

concurrent with the projected impacts of development allowed by the 
proposed zoning. 

 
Response:  Adequate public facilities and services are available to accommodate 
the I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district.  An 8” Ute water line and an 15” Central 
Grand Valley Sanitary sewer line are located within the Riverside Parkway. 
 
 



 

 

Alternatives: In addition to the zoning that the petitioner has requested, the following 
zone districts would also be consistent with the Growth Plan designation of Industrial for 
the subject property. 
 

a. I-O 
b. I-2 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Reimer Annexation, ANX-2009-006, for a Zone of Annexation, I 
recommend that the Planning Commission make the following findings of fact and 
conclusions: 
 

1. The requested zone is consistent with the goals and policies of the Growth Plan. 
 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.6.A.3 and 4 of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met.  
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission forward a recommendation of approval of 
the I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district for the Reimer Annexation, ANX-2009-006 to the 
City Council with the findings and conclusions listed above.  
 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on the Reimer Annexation, ANX-2009-006, I move that the Planning 
Commission forward to the City Council a recommendation of approval of the I-1 (Light 
Industrial) zone district for the Reimer Annexation with the facts and conclusions listed 
in the staff report. 
 
Attachments:   
1. Staff report/Background information 
2. Annexation/ Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
3. Future Land Use Map / Existing City and County Zoning Map  
4. Annexation Ordinance  
 



 

 

Annexation/Site Location Map 
Figure 1 

 

Aerial Photo Map 
Figure 2 

 



 

 

Future Land Use Map 
Figure 3 

 
 

Existing City and County Zoning 
Figure 4 

 
 

 



 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION, COLORADO 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE ZONING THE REIMER ANNEXATION TO I-1 (LIGHT INDUSTRIAL) 
LOCATED AT 

2751 RIVERSIDE PARKWAY AND INCLUDES A PORTION OF 27 ½ ROAD RIGHT-
OF-WAY 

 
Recitals 
 After public notice and public hearing as required by the Grand Junction Zoning 
and Development Code, the Grand Junction Planning Commission recommended 
approval of zoning the Reimer Annexation to the I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district 
finding that it conforms with the recommended land use category as shown on the 
future land use map of the Growth Plan and the Growth Plan’s goals and policies and is 
generally compatible with land uses located in the surrounding area.  The zone district 
meets the criteria found in Section 2.6 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
 After public notice and public hearing before the Grand Junction City Council, 
City Council finds that the I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district is in conformance with the 
stated criteria of Section 2.6 of the Grand Junction Zoning and Development Code. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION 
THAT: 
 
The following property be zoned I-1 (Light Industrial) 
 

REIMER ANNEXATION 
 

A certain parcel of land located in the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) and the Northeast 
Quarter (NE 1/4) of Section 24, Township One South, Range One West of the Ute 
Meridian, County of Mesa, State of Colorado and being more particularly described as 
follows: 
 
Commencing at the Northwest corner of the NW 1/4 NE 1/4 of said Section 24 and 
assuming the West  line of the NW 1/4 NE 1/4 of said Section 24 to bear S00°08’44”W  
with all bearings contained herein relative thereto;  thence S00°08’44”W  a distance of 
30.00 feet along the West  line of the NW 1/4 NE 1/4 of said Section 24 to the Point of 
Beginning;  thence S89°59’19”E a distance of 131.99 feet along a line being 30.00 feet 
South of and parallel with the North line of the NW 1/4 NE 1/4 of said Section 24, said 
line also being the Southerly line of Riverside Parkway Annexation No. 1, Ordinance 
No. 4319, City of Grand Junction; thence S00°00’41”W a distance of 168.00 feet; 
thence N89°58’41”W a distance of 165.39 feet; thence N00°08’44”E a distance of 
167.97 feet along a line being 33.00 feet West of and parallel with the West line of the 



 

 

NW 1/4 NE 1/4 of said Section 24 to a point on the Southerly line of said Riverside 
Parkway Annexation No. 1; thence S89°59’19”E a distance of 33.00 feet along a line 
being 30.00 feet South of and parallel with the North line of the NE 1/4 NW 1/4 of said 
Section 24, said line also being the Southerly line of said Riverside Parkway Annexation 
No. 1 to the Point of Beginning. 
 
Said parcel contains 0.64 acres (27,749.34 sq. ft.), more or less, as described. 
 
 
INTRODUCED on first reading the ____ day of ___________, 2009 and ordered 
published. 
 
ADOPTED on second reading the   day of   , 2009. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 ____________________________ 
 President of the Council 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk 
 



 

 

Attach 3 
Perf O Log Office/Warehouse 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 24, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION: Ronnie Edwards 
 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Perfolog Office/Warehouse, CUP-2008-088. 
 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval of a Conditional Use Permit 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 2309 and 2311 Interstate Avenue 

Applicants:  Walid Boumatar for Perf O Log Wireline Services 
Existing Land Use: Vacant 

Proposed Land Use: Office/Vehicle Maintenance/Warehouse and 
Storage for Explosive and Hazardous Material 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Oilfield Services/Engineering Lab/Trailer Sales 
South Mesa Wireline, LLC 
East Marble Manufacturing 
West Trucking Facility 

Existing Zoning: I-1(Light Industrial) 
Proposed Zoning: N/A 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North I-1 (Light Industrial) 
South I-2 (Heavy Industrial) 
East I-1 (Light Industrial) 
West I-1 (Light Industrial) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial/Industrial 

Zoning within density range? N/A Yes  No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Request approval for a Conditional Use Permit for the 
storage of explosive and hazardous material in a proposed office/vehicle maintenance 
and warehouse facility in an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district located at 2309 2311 
Interstate Avenue. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit. 



 

 

 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
1. Background 
 
The subject parcels were platted in Mesa County in 1980 as the Interstate Commercial 
Park Subdivision.  The entire subdivision was zoned C (Commercial District).  The 
subdivision was part of the Interstate Annexation that occurred in August of 1991 and 
retained the Commercial District Zoning.  The subject two lots were rezoned in July of 
1993 to an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district. 
 
The applicant is proposing a 12,600 square foot building to be utilized as office, shop, 
warehouse and vehicle washing facility on one lot and a temporary portable building will 
be placed on the other lot while the main structure is being constructed.  The portable 
Perf O Log building will be used to store explosives used by gas well service companies 
in the production of natural gas.  The portable building operations will be relocated to 
the permanent building upon completion of construction, but the lot will continue to be 
used for outdoor storage associated with the wireline services facility.  Applicant 
proposes a 32 square foot flush wall sign at the main entrance of the office building, 
which meets the criteria of Section 4.2.G. 
 
Table 3.5 – Use/Zone Matrix of the Zoning and Development Code states that all Other 
Industrial Services, including the storage of hazardous materials, must obtain a 
Conditional Use Permit in an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district to be in conformance with 
City regulations.  The parcel is located just east of 23 Road and south of Interstate 70.  
All infrastructure is being proposed per current Zoning and Development Code 
regulations. 
 
2. Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
Requests for a Conditional Use Permit must demonstrate that the proposed 
development will comply with all of the following: 
 

a. All applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and 
Development Code and with the SSID, TEDS and SWIM Manuals. 

 
Section 2.2.D.4 
 

1) Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable 
corridor or neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan 
and the parks plan 
 

This particular site is in a subdivision developed for office/warehouse 
and storage for industrial uses and surrounded by other commercial 



 

 

and industrial uses in this area.  The proposed use is consistent with 
the Growth Plan designation of Industrial, applicable corridor or 
neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan and the parks 
plan. 
 
2) Conditions of any prior approvals 
 
There are no previous conditions of approval for this particular site as it 
is currently vacant. 
 
3) Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, 

applicable use specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning 
and Development Code and the design and improvement 
standards of Chapter Six of the Code. 

 
The proposal meets the specific bulk standards of Chapter Three and 
the improvement requirements of Chapter Six of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 
 
4) Quality site design practices  
 
The applicant proposes to develop this site meeting landscaping, 
screening, signage and parking requirements that are in compliance 
with current design standards. 
 

SSID Manual 
 
Applicant has provided documents and drawings that meet the standards 
and requirements of the SSID (Submittal Standards for Improvements and 
Development) Manual. 
 
TEDS Manual 
 
Requirements of the TEDS (Transportation Engineering Design) Manual 
have been met.  Existing accesses are in place and no TEDS Exceptions 
were required or submitted. 
 
SWMM Manual 
 
The proposal meets the standards set forth in the SWMM (Stormwater 
Management) Manual.  Appropriate State and City permits will be 
provided prior to construction. 
 

b. The underlying zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of the 
Zoning and Development Code 

 



 

 

The proposal will meet the standards of Table 3.5 Use/Zone Matrix upon 
approval of the Conditional Use Permit and the project complies with the I-
1 zone district standards. 
 

c. The use-specific standards established in Chapters Three and Four of the 
Zoning and Development Code 

 
The proposal complies with the requirements of the applicable sections of 
Chapters Three and Four, that relate to office/warehouse and bulk storage 
of hazardous material in an I-1 zone district.  The applicant proposes a 32 
square foot flush wall sign at the main entrance of the office building, 
which is in compliance with Section 4.2.G.3.e of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 
 

d. Other uses complementary to, and supportive of, the proposed project shall 
be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, business 
and commercial facilities, and transportation facilities. 

 
Complementary and supportive uses are available, such as 
office/warehouse, shipping/trucking facilities and warehouse facilities are 
in close proximity to this site.  The site is served mainly by 23 Road via G 
Road. 
 

e. Compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through measures 
such as: 

 
1) Protection of privacy 
 
The applicant proposes a 14 foot landscape strip for screening adjacent to 
the right-of-way as required by Section 6.5 of the Zoning and 
Development Code.  Privacy fencing is being proposed around the entire 
property not only for privacy but also for security. 
 
2) Protection of use and enjoyment 
 
The proposed site layout provides efficient shared access between the 
two lots, adequate internal traffic circulation and appropriate screening as 
required by City regulations protecting the use of adjoining properties. 
 
3) Compatible design and integration 

 
The hours of operation will be 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through 
Friday, which is typical for the surrounding businesses.  Site design and 
proposed signage are compatible with adjoining uses. 
 
 



 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS 
 
After reviewing the Conditional Use Permit application, CUP-2008-088, the following 
findings of fact and conclusions have been made: 
 

1. The requested Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Growth Plan. 

 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 

have been met. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend approval of the requested Conditional Use Permit, with the findings and 
conclusions listed in the staff report. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on Conditional Use Permit, CUP-2008-088, I move that we approve the 
Conditional Use Permit, with the findings and conclusions listed in the staff report. 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City and County Zoning Map 
Site Plan 
Sign Package 
 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 
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Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 

Figure 3 
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Existing City and County Zoning Map 

Figure 4 
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NOTE:  Mesa County is currently in the process of updating their zoning map. Please contact Mesa 
County directly to determine parcels and the zoning thereof." 
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Attach 4 
FedEx Office/Warehouse 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 24, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Ronnie Edwards 
 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  FedEx Office/ Warehouse/Shipping Facility, CUP-2008-380 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approve the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 825 Justice Court 

Applicants:  Industrial Developments, Inc. for FedEx 
Existing Land Use: Vacant 
Proposed Land Use: Office/Warehouse/Vehicle Maintenance 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Airport 
South Colorado Bureau of Investigation Facility 
East Vacant 
West Vacant/Office/Warehouse Facility/Schwan’s 

Existing Zoning: I-O (Industrial/Office Park) 
Proposed Zoning: I-O (Industrial/Office Park) 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North Planned Airport Development 
South I-O (Industrial/Office Park) 
East I-O (Industrial/Office Park) 
West I-O (Industrial/Office Park) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial/Industrial 

Zoning within density range? N/A Yes  No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Request approval for a Conditional Use Permit to allow an 
office/warehouse/vehicle maintenance facility on 3.8 acres in an I-O (Industrial/Office 
Park) zone district located within the Noise Zone (Subdistrict B) of the Airport Environs 
Overlay Zoning District. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Recommend approval of the Conditional Use Permit. 
 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS: 
 
1. Background 

 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 25,321 square foot FedEx 
office/warehouse/shipping facility located in the Air Tech Park subdivision, which 
was platted in August of 2006.  The subject property is two lots consisting of 3.92 
acres and the applicant has submitted a simple subdivision to combine the lots 
prior to development.  Proposed signage consists of two monument signs, 32 
square feet in size, located at the two site entrances and one 32 square foot flush 
wall sign located at the main front entrance.  The site layout provides for the 
separation of employee parking and customer parking by proposing two separate 
entrance area, which creates efficient site circulation. 
 
Table 7.3 Airport Land Use Compatibility Standards Matrix states a Conditional 
Use Permit is required for Office facilities located within the Noise Zone 
(Subdistrict B).  The Airport Environs Overlay Zoning (AE) is comprised of four 
subdistricts.  These subdistricts represent a determination by the Federal 
Aviation Administration (FAA) of differing levels of expected noise impact and 
hazard from aircraft overflight.  Subdistrict B includes the area within the 65 Ldn 
to 70 Ldn noise exposure area as shown in the Grand Junction Regional Airport 
Master Plan.  Any proposed development shall comply with the requirements of 
Section 7.3 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 

2. Consistency with the Growth Plan: 
 

Policy 8.4 states that the City and County will encourage the development of 
uses that are compatible with the airport and the image of this area as a gateway 
into Grand Junction, particularly: office/warehousing; and light industrial/indoor 
manufacturing near the airport; and highway-oriented commercial development 
serving tourists and visitors along Horizon Drive between Crossroads Blvd. and 
G Road. 
 
Policy 8.5 state the City and County will prohibit inappropriate development 
within the airport’s noise and approach zones. 
 
This particular subdivision was developed for office/warehouse and other 
associated commercial uses.  The proposed use is comparable to existing uses 
in the area and is consistent with the Growth Plan designation of Commercial / 
Industrial and the I-O zone district. 

 
3. Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 
Requests for a Conditional Use Permit must demonstrate that the proposed 
development will comply with all of the following: 
 



 

 

a. All applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and 
Development Code and with the SIDD, TEDS and SWIM Manuals. 

 
The proposal meets all applicable site plan review criteria of the Zoning 
and Development Code and applicable City Manuals.  The proposed 
simple subdivision shall be recorded prior to final sign off by Staff. 

 
Section 2.2.D.4: 
 

1) Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable 
corridor or neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan 
and the parks plan 

 
The proposal is consistent with the goals and policies of the Growth 
Plan and applicable corridor and major street plans. 

 
2) Conditions of any prior approvals 
 
There are no previous conditions of approval for this site or 
subdivision. 

 
3) Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, 

applicable use specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning 
and Development Code and the design and improvement 
standards of Chapter Six of the Code. 

 
The proposal meets the specific standards of Chapter Three and the 
improvement requirements of Chapter Six of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

 
4) Quality site design practices 
 
The applicant is proposing two accesses, one for visitor parking and 
one for employee parking, creating efficient site circulation.  
Landscaping, signage and parking requirements proposed are in 
compliance with current design standards. 

 
SSID Manual: 
 

Applicant has provided documents and drawings that comply with the 
standards and requirements of the SSID (Submittal Standards for 
Improvements and Development) Manual. 

 
TEDS Manual: 

 



 

 

Requirements of the TEDS (Transportation Engineering Design 
Standards) manual have been met.  No TEDS Exceptions were 
required or proposed for this site. 

 
SWMM Manual: 
 

The proposal meets the standards set forth in the SWMM (Stormwater 
Management) manual.  Appropriate Stormwater Permits shall be 
provided prior to construction. 
 

b. The underlying zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of the 
Zoning and Development Code 

 
The proposed project complies with the I-O zone district standards 
concerning dimensional requirements.  All loading docks are located in the 
side and rear yards as required by Section 3.4.F of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

 
c. The use-specific standards established in Chapters Three and Four of the 

Zoning and Development Code 
 

The proposal complies with the requirements of applicable portions of 
Chapters Three and Four, associated with an office/laboratory in an I-O 
zone district. 
 

d. Other uses complementary to, and supportive of, the proposed project shall 
be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, business 
and commercial facilities, and transportation facilities. 

 
Complementary and supportive uses, such as offices, retail services, 
restaurants and hotels are in close proximity to this project.  The site can 
be served from H Road, Horizon Drive, North Crest Drive, as well as 
Grand Junction Regional Airport. 
 

e. Compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through measures 
such as: 

 
1) Protection of privacy 
 

The petitioner is proposing landscaping and buffering as required by 
the Zoning and Development Code, which will protect the adjoining 
properties. 
 

2) Protection of use and enjoyment 
 



 

 

The proposed site design provides for efficient access, internal traffic 
circulation and adequate screening, protecting the use of adjoining 
properties. 
 

3) Compatible design and integration 
 

Hours of operation and design of the site are compatible with the 
surrounding uses. 
 

4. Section 7.3 of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 

The Airport Environs Overlay Zoning District (AE) was created to protect public 
health, safety and welfare by regulating development and land use within noise 
sensitive areas and airport hazard areas and to protect the airport from 
incompatible encroachment. 
 
The AE is comprised of four subdistricts and each one represents a 
determination by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) of differing levels of 
expected noise impact and hazard from aircraft overflight.  The subdistricts are 
Subdistrict A (Area of Influence), Subdistrict B (Noise Zone), Subdistrict C 
(Critical Zone) and Subdistrict D (Clear Zone).  The distinction between the 
subdistricts is the proximity to the airport in relation to the runways. 
 
The north portion of the subject property is within the Subdistrict B area, which is 
the 65 Ldn to 70 Ldn noise-exposure area.  According to Table 7.3 (Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Standards Matrix), a Conditional Use Permit is required for 
office and other commercial uses. 
 
Grand Junction Regional Airport requires that an avigation easement be 
recorded for development near the airport and this subdivision is covered by an 
easement recorded in Book 4220 at Pages 906 to 907.  The applicant is aware of 
the impacts of being in close proximity to the airport.  Special construction and 
materials for sound attenuation are not required for commercial uses, but 
strongly recommended.  The applicant has provided the required FAA Form 
7460-1 to the Denver Airports District Office.  All exterior lighting proposed is 
downward directional as required by City and Grand Junction Regional Airport 
standards. 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS/CONDITIONS: 
 
After reviewing the FedEx Facility application, CUP-2008-380, for a Conditional Use 
Permit to allow an office/warehouse facility in an I-O zone district, located in the Noise 
Zone (Subdistrict B) of the Airport Environs Overlay Zoning District, I make the following 
findings of fact, conclusions and conditions: 
 



 

 

1. The requested Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Growth Plan. 

 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 

have been met. 
 
3. The request is in compliance with Section 7.3 of the Zoning and Development 

Code. 
 
4. Conditional approval upon the simple subdivision recordation prior to final 

approval of site plan. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend approval of the requested Conditional Use Permit, with the findings, 
conclusions and conditions listed in the staff report. 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on Conditional Use Permit, CUP-2008-380, I move that we conditional 
approve the Conditional Use Permit, with the Findings of Fact/Conclusions and 
Conditions listed in the staff report. 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location/Aerial Maps 
Future Land Use Map/Existing City and County Zoning Map 
Site Plan 
Sign Package 
Airport Noise Contour Map 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 
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Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 

Figure 3 
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Existing City and County Zoning 

Figure 4 
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NOTE:  Mesa County is currently in the process of updating their zoning map. Please contact Mesa 
County directly to determine parcels and the zoning thereof." 
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Attach 5 
Wynshp Alley Vacation 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 24, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION PRESENTER:  Senta L. Costello 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Vacation of Public Right-of-Way, Wynshp Alley Vacation (File #VR-
2008-089). 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Vacation of Public Right of Way 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: North/South alley, east of South 7th Street, North of 
Winters Avenue 

Applicants:  Wynshp Enterprises, LLC – Deborah Shipley 
Existing Land Use: Alley right-of-way 
Proposed Land Use: Private parking for businesses 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Commercial 
South Commercial/Industrial 
East Vacant Industrial 
West Commercial 

Existing Zoning: Not Applicable 
Proposed Zoning: C-2 (General Commercial) / I-1 (Light Industrial) 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North C-2 (General Commercial) / I-2 (General Industrial) 
South I-1 (Light Industrial) 
East I-1 (Light Industrial) 
West C-2 (General Commercial) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial; Commercial/Industrial 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 

 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Applicant is requesting to vacate the North/South alley 
right-of-way located west of South 7th Street, north of Winters Avenue 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Recommendation of approval to City Council 
 
 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS 
 
1. Background 
 
The alley was created in 1913 as a part of the Benton Canon’s First Subdivision 
Amended Plat.  The properties in the area have developed and redeveloped into a mix 
of vacant, residential, commercial, and industrial sites. 
 
The applicant wishes to vacate the alley in order to use the land for a parking and 
loading area for the adjacent business, allowing for better customer and public access 
to the area. 
 
2. Section 2.11.c of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
The vacation of the right-of-way shall conform to the following: 
 

a. The Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan, and other adopted plans 
and policies of the City. 
 
Response:  Granting the right-of-way vacation does not conflict with 
applicable Sections of the Growth Plan, major street plan and/or any other 
adopted plans and policies of the City 
 

b. No parcel shall be landlocked as a result of the vacation. 
 
Response:  All adjacent properties have street frontage on either South 7th 
Street or Winters Avenue.  Vacation of the alley will not land lock any parcels. 

 
c. Access to any parcel shall not be restricted to the point where access is 

unreasonable, economically prohibitive or reduces or devalues any property 
affected by the proposed vacation. 
 
Response:  All existing accesses for all properties will remain in the current 
configuration and will not be restricted. 

 
d. There shall be no adverse impacts on the health, safety, and/or welfare of 

the general community and the quality of public facilities and services 
provided to any parcel of land shall not be reduced (e.g. police/fire protection 
and utility services). 
 
Response:  The adjoining properties are the primary users of the alley 
proposed to be vacated and the vacation will cause no adverse impacts on 
the health, safety and/or welfare of the community.  Public facilities and 
services will not be affected. 

 



 

 

e. The provision of adequate public facilities and services shall not be 
inhibited to any property as required in Chapter Six of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 
 
Response:  The vacation does not affect public facilities and services. 

 
f. The proposal shall provide benefits to the City such as reduced 

maintenance requirements, improved traffic circulation, etc. 
 
Response:  If the alley is vacated, alley maintenance will become the 
responsibility of the property owner’s who receive the land, 

 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS 
 
After reviewing the Wynshp Alley Vacation application, VR-2008-089 for the vacation of 
a public right-of-way, I make the following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The requested right-of-way vacation is consistent with the Growth Plan. 
 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.11.C of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission forward a recommendation of approval of 
the requested right-of-way vacation, VR-2008-089 to the City Council with the findings 
and conclusions listed above. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on item VR-2008-089, I move that the Planning Commission forward a 
recommendation of approval to the City Council on the requested alley right-of-way 
vacation, with the findings and conclusions listed in the staff report. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City Zoning Map 
Ordinance 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 

 

Aerial Photo Map 
Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 

Figure 3 

 

Existing City Zoning Map 

Figure 4 
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CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION 
 

Ordinance No. 
 

VACATING RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR NORTH/SOUTH ALLEY 
LOCATED EAST OF SOUTH 7TH STREET, NORTH OF WINTERS AVENUE 

 
RECITALS: 
 

A vacation of the dedicated right-of-way for has been requested by the adjoining 
property owners. 
 
The City Council finds that the request is consistent with the Growth Plan, the Grand 
Valley Circulation Plan and Section 2.11 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 

The Planning Commission, having heard and considered the request, found the 
criteria of the Code to have been met, and recommends that the vacation be approved. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GRAND JUNCTION THAT: 
 
The following described dedicated right-of-way for is hereby vacated subject to the 
listed conditions:   
 
1. Applicants shall pay all recording/documentary fees for the Vacation Ordinance, any 

easement documents and dedication documents. 
 
The following right-of-way is shown on “Exhibit A” as part of this vacation of description. 
 
Dedicated right-of-way to be vacated: 
 
A portion of an alley situated in Block 2, Benton Canon's First Subdivision Amended to 
Grand Junction, CO in Section 23, Township 1 South, Range 1 West, Ute Meridian, 
Mesa County, Colorado, more particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at the SE Corner of Lot 1, Block 2, Benton Canon's First Subdivision to 
Grand Junction, and considering the line between the Grand Junction City Monuments 
at the corner of the 4th Avenue and South 7th Street and 4th Avenue and South 8th 
Street to bear N89°56'15"E 456.53 feet and all bearings contained herein to be relative 
thereto; thence N00°04'10"W 124.03 feet to the NE Corner of Lot 5 of said Block 2; 
thence N89°59'02"E 15.00 feet to the NW Corner of Lot 28 of said Block 2; thence 
S00°04'10"E 124.04 feet to the SW Corner of said Lot 28; thence N89°58'10"W 15.00 
feet to the point of beginning, 
 
containing 0.04 acres as described. 
 
Introduced for first reading on this   day of   , 2009 



 

 

 
PASSED and ADOPTED this    day of   , 2009. 
 
ATTEST: 
 ______________________________  
 President of City Council 
 
______________________________  
City Clerk 



 

 

 



 

 

Attach 6 
Bar/Nightclub & Office/Warehouse 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 24, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Senta L. Costello 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Bar/Nightclub Conditional Use Permit – CUP-2008-158 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 2256 and 2258 Colex Drive 

Applicants:  Owner: Kevin Eardley 
Representative: Design Specialists, PC – Rob Rowlands 

Existing Land Use: Vacant 

Proposed Land Use: Bar/Nightclub; Office/Warehouse 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Vacant / Industrial 

South Western Slope Ford 

East Non-Conforming Residential 

West Vacant / Industrial 

Existing Zoning: I-1 (Light Industrial) 

Proposed Zoning: I-1 (Light Industrial) 

Surrounding 
Zoning: 
 

North I-1 (Light Industrial) 

South C-2 (General Commercial) 

East I-1 (Light Industrial) 

West I-1 (Light Industrial) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial/Industrial 
Zoning within density 
range? X Yes  No 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Applicant is requesting a Conditional Use Permit to operate 
a Bar/Nightclub in a I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of the Bar/Nightclub Conditional Use Permit. 
 



 

 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND  
 
The property under consideration was annexed in 1992 (Grand Junction West 
Annexation) and is part of the High Desert Commercial Park Subdivision recorded in 
2006.  The applicant proposes a bar/nightclub with a maximum occupancy of 185 
people and an office/warehouse complex with 882 sq. ft. of office and 9172 sq ft of 
warehouse area with an outdoor storage area, with the two sites sharing parking with 
offset hours of operation.  The project will be constructed in two phases with the 
bar/nightclub and all of the parking being completed with Phase 1 and the 
office/warehouse and storage yard being done with Phase 2. 
 
 
PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 
 
This application for a Conditional Use Permit for a bar/nightclub in a Light Industrial (I-1) 
zone comes before the Planning Commission on a second remand from the City 
Council.1  After reviewing the record on appeal, the City Council found that the record is 
insufficient to support the denial of the Conditional Use Permit and has directed the 
Planning Commission to: 
 
(1) consider “neighborhood” in accord with the definition of “neighborhood” in Chapter 

Nine of the Zoning and Development Code rather than as the entire community or 
city; 

(2) base its decision on the use that triggers the requirement of a Conditional Use 
Permit (namely, the bar/nightclub operation, rather than the adult entertainment, 
which is a use by right in this zone district); 

(3) articulate site-specific reasons supporting its determination(s): and  
(4) address the Code criteria with specificity as a basis for its decision.  
 
At the November 25, 2009 hearing, two of the three Commissioners voting to deny the 
Conditional Use Permit found that a bar/nightclub use is not compatible with the I-1 
zone in general, and also not compatible with the residential use adjacent to the east.  
City Council has, on remand, directed the Planning Commission to state specifically, 
using examples specific to the particular site, the conflict(s) with the residential use to 
the east, and to provide a site-specific factual basis for its finding that there are conflicts 
between the commercial bar/nightclub use and industrial uses.   
 
 
DISCUSSION OF APPLICABLE CODE PROVISIONS 
 
“Neighborhood” is defined in the Zoning and Development Code as “an area of a 
community with characteristics that distinguish it from other areas and that may include 

                                            
1 First public hearing by the Planning Commission occurred on August 12, 2008; the CUP was denied and 
the applicant appealed.  City Council reviewed the record on appeal and remanded the application to the 
Commission, which again denied the CUP at a public hearing on November 25, 2008.  Applicant 
appealed again and the City Council remanded a second time. 



 

 

distinct ethnic or economic characteristics, housing types, schools, or boundaries 
defined by physical barriers, such as major highways and railroads or natural features, 
such as rivers.” 
 
The Zoning and Development Code legislates three broad classifications of uses within 
specific zone districts:  (1) not allowed, (2) allowed by right, and (3) conditionally 
allowed. Uses not allowed have been determined by the City Council to be 
inappropriate and therefore not permitted within a specific zone district.  Uses allowed 
by right have been determined to be similar enough in nature to other uses in the same 
zone district so as to be allowed without special consideration. 
 
A conditional use it one that has the potential to be detrimental to permitted uses in a 
given zone district.  Such use may be permitted, however, under certain circumstances 
particular to the proposed location, and where conditions can provide protection from 
potentially adverse effects to adjacent land uses. The specific criteria the Planning 
Commission must address are discussed in more detail below. 
 
Some allowed uses are subject to specific “performance” or “use-specific” standards.  
Adult entertainment is one of these uses.  There is only one use-specific standard for 
adult entertainment establishments: the establishment must be at least one-thousand 
feet from any church, school, park, playground, public building or residentially zoned 
property.  There is no church, school, park, playground, public building or residentially 
zoned property within one thousand feet of the site.  Although there is a non-conforming 
residential use adjacent to the east property line of the site, the property itself is zoned 
Light Industrial (I-1). 
 
The purpose of the I-1 zone district is to provide areas for manufacturing, office, and 
commercial type uses. It allows a wide variety of uses by right, including medical and 
dental clinics, church, indoor animal clinic/boarding, adult entertainment, car wash, 
contractor/trade shops) and allows other uses conditionally, including business 
residence, museums/theaters, jail, general office, health club/skating rink, outdoor 
animal clinic/boarding, retail, bars/nightclubs. 
 
A bar/nightclub is allowed with a Conditional Use Permit in the B-1, B-2, C-1, C-2, I-O, I-
1, and M-U zone districts.  Potential conflicts with neighboring properties are most likely 
in the B-1, B-2, and C-1 zone districts as they allow residential uses and/or are more 
likely to be located next to residential zoning.  The applicant’s property is surrounded by 
I-1 zoned properties to the north, east, and west, and C-2 property to the south.  The 
hours of operation for the bar/nightclub will be offset of most of the other businesses in 
the area. 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA 
 
Consistency with the Growth Plan 
 
The proposal is consistent with the following goals and policies of the Growth Plan: 



 

 

 
Goal 1: To achieve a balance of open space, agricultural, residential and non-

residential land use opportunities that reflects the residents' respect for 
the natural environment, the integrity of the community's neighborhoods, 
the economic needs of the residents and business owners, the rights of 
private property owners and the needs of the urbanizing community as a 
whole. 
Policy 1.1: The City and County will use the future land use categories 

listed and described in Exhibit V.2 to designate appropriate 
land uses within the Joint Planning Area identified in 
Exhibit V.1.  City and County actions on land use proposals 
within the Joint Planning Area will be consistent with the 
plan. 

Policy 1.3: The City and County will use Exhibit V.3: Future Land Use 
Map in conjunction with the other policies of this plan to 
guide zoning and development decisions. 
 City and County decisions about the type and intensity 

of land uses will be consistent with the Future Land Use 
Map and Plan policies. 

Policy 1.7: The City and County will use zoning to establish the 
appropriate scale, type, location and intensity for 
development.  Development standards should ensure that 
proposed residential and non- residential development is 
compatible with the planned development of adjacent 
property.  

Policy 1.8: The City and County will use zoning and special area 
policies (adopted as part of this plan) to describe the 
preferred types of non-residential development in different 
parts of the community. 

Goal 5: To ensure that urban growth and development make efficient use of 
investments in streets, utilities and other public facilities. 
Policy 5.2: The City and County will encourage development that uses 

existing facilities and is compatible with existing 
development. 

Goal 11: To promote stable neighborhoods and land use compatibility throughout 
the community.  
Policy 11.1: The City and County will promote compatibility between 

adjacent land uses by addressing traffic, noise, lighting, 
height/bulk differences, and other sources of incompatibility 
through the use of physical separation, buffering, screening 
and other techniques. 

 
Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
Requests for a Conditional Use Permit must demonstrate that the proposed 
development will comply with all of the following: 



 

 

 
a. All applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and 

Development Code and with the SSID, TEDS and SWMM Manuals. 
 
Section 2.2.D.4 

 
1) Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable corridor 

or neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan and the parks plan 
 
The proposal conforms to the Growth Plan as described above.  The area 
does not have other applicable neighborhood or corridor plans associated 
with it and the street plan and trails plan requirements were address with 
the subdivision. 
 

2) Conditions of any prior approvals 
 

The required subdivision improvements have been completed and 
accepted.  There are no other conditions of approval outstanding. 

 
3) Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, applicable 

use specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning and Development 
Code and the design and improvement standards of Chapter Six of the 
Code. 
 
The Code requirements for zone district bulk standards (i.e. setbacks, 
floor area ratio, maximum lot coverage, maximum building height), 
parking, landscaping and buffering have all been met or exceeded. 
 

4) Quality site design practices 
 

SSID Manual, TEDS Manual. And SWMM Manual 
 

The requirements of the SSID, TEDS, and SWMM Manuals have been 
addressed. 

 
b. The underlying zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of the 

Zoning and Development Code 
 

The I-1 zone district standards of Chapter Three have been met. 
 

c. The use-specific standards established in Chapters Three and Four of the 
Zoning and Development Code 

 
The specific use subject to standards of Chapter Three and Four is Adult 
Entertainment.  All of these standards are met by the proposal.  Chapter 4 
requires that Adult Entertainment establishments be located 1000’ or more 



 

 

away from any other Adult Entertainment business, any church (nearest River 
of Life Alliance Church – 1.82 mi.), school (Appleton Elementary – 1.33 mi; 
new high school site – 1.14 mi), park (nearest Canyon View Park  - 1.42 mi), 
playground (at Appleton Elementary), public building (nearest Persigo Waste 
Water Treatment Facility – 1.15 mi), or residentially zoned property (nearest 
2,600 ft away, north of I-70).  The proposed location meets all requirements 
as described above. 

 
Chapter 4 of the Zoning and Development Code also requires a sign package 
be approved as part of the Conditional Use Permit in order for the site to have 
signage.  The applicant has not submitted a specific sign package and is only 
requesting signage as allowed by the Sign Code. 

 
d. Other uses complementary to, and supportive of, the proposed project shall 

be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, business 
and commercial facilities, and transportation facilities. 

 
There are other business, commercial and/or industrial type uses in the area 
that can support the proposed use.  To the northwest, southwest, and east, 
there are multiple office/warehouse and manufacturing facilities are 
established; the Acorn Truck Stop and Westgate Inn are located 
approximately 1/4 mile to the west. 
 

e. Compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through measures 
such as: 

 
1) Protection of privacy 

 
The proposed building is located along the eastern property line with the 
main entrance on the western face of the building.  The eastern property 
line also has a 10’-15’ landscape strip adjacent the parking area which 
includes shrubs ranging in height from 3’-6’ in height to help maintain 
privacy of the neighboring property. The neighboring property to the east 
has historically been used residentially.  However, both houses on the 
property have been vacant for several months and the property is 
currently for sale, being marketed as industrial land, consistent with its 
present zone designation. 
 

2) Protection of use and enjoyment 
 
The proposed building is located along the eastern property line with the 
main entrance on the western face of the building.  The eastern property 
line also has a 10’-15’ landscape strip adjacent the parking area which 
includes shrubs ranging in height from 3’-6’ in height. The neighboring 
property to the east has historically been used residentially.  However, 
both houses on the property have been vacant for several months and the 



 

 

property is currently for sale, being marketed as industrial land, consistent 
with its present zone designation.  The Police Department has reviewed 
the plan thoroughly and suggested modifications to reduce secondary 
effects and prevent crime in the neighborhood.  The modifications, which 
have all been incorporated into the plan by the applicant, include different 
shrub heights in some areas that may be prone to loitering in order to 
provide better visibility to those areas and defensive landscaping to 
discourage any attempts to access or travel through certain areas. 
 
At the August 12, 2008 Planning Commission hearing, the owner of 
Western Slope Auto expressed concerns about having a bar across the 
street from his property.  I believe the following effectively mitigate this 
property owner’s concerns.  The Code requires a buffer of either a 25’ 
landscape strip or a fence between and I-1 development and an adjacent 
C-2 zoned property.  When a right-of-way other than a local or collector 
street separates the zone districts, buffer requirements can be waived if 
the buffering objectives are met without them.  The proposed bar site is 
approximately 90’ from the Western Slope property, separated by G Road 
which is classified as a Minor Arterial.  The subdivision provided a 6’ wood 
privacy fence and a 14’ landscape tract along the southern property line, 
which serves as a buffer to the C-2 property to the south and exceeds the 
buffer requirements of the Code.  The site will also have internal parking 
lot landscaping and security lighting to maintain safe light levels within the 
parking lot.  The Western Slope site also already has a 6’ chain-link 
perimeter fence with 3 strands of barb wire along the top. 
 

3) Compatible design and integration 
 

The proposed building and site layout are consistent with the surrounding 
commercial industrial park.  The hours of operation are offset from the 
business hours of most other properties in the area, appropriate defensive 
and safe level landscaping, and security lighting should mitigate any 
potential secondary effects to the neighboring properties.  Attached is a 
spreadsheet showing other businesses permitted to serve alcohol for 
consumption on premises and zone districts in which they are located.  
Although there are no I-1 zone districts represented on the spreadsheet, 
most of the businesses have elected to locate in the areas shown, but 
could have made application for opening their business in an I-1 zone 
district; however, no requests for a Conditional Use Permit for a 
bar/nightclub have been requested for any I-1 zoned properties. 
 

 



 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT/CONDITIONS/CONCLUSIONS 
 
After reviewing the Bar/Nightclub application, CUP-2008-158 for a Conditional Use 
Permit, I make the following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The requested Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the Growth Plan. 
 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the requested Conditional Use 
Permit, CUP-2008-158 with the findings, conditions, and conclusions listed above. 

 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on Bar/Nightclub Conditional Use Permit, CUP-2008-158 I move that the 
Planning Commission approve of the Conditional Use Permit with the facts and 
conclusions listed in the staff report. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City Zoning Map 
Proposed Site Plan 
Proposed Landscape Plan 
Map showing 1000’ radius 
Existing Licensed Locations Spreadsheet 
Citizen letters prior to August 12, 2008 Planning Commission meeting 
Planning Commission verbatim minutes – 8/12/08 
Applicant’s 1st letter of appeal 
November 5, 2008 City Council Minutes 
Citizen letters after August 12, 2008 Planning Commission meeting 
Planning Commission verbatim minutes 11/25/08 
Applicant’s 2nd letter of appeal 
Citizen letters after November 25, 2008 
January 21, 2009 City Council Minutes 
 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 
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Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 

Figure 3 
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Existing City Zoning Map 

Figure 4 
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Zoning and Development Code Definitions: 
 Bar – Premises primarily for the sale or dispensing of alcoholic beverages by the drink for on-site consumption and where food may be available for consumption as an accessory use.  An establishment that serves 

both food and alcoholic beverages shall be categorized as a bar if the sale of said beverages comprises more than 25% of the gross receipts. 
 Nightclub – A commercial establishment dispensing alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises and in which music, dancing or live entertainment is conducted.  An establishment that serves both food 

and alcoholic beverages shall be categorized as a bar/nightclub if the sale of said beverages comprises more than 25% of the gross receipts. 
 
 
 

Taverns – Permits the sale to the public of alcohol for consumption on the premises.  Light snacks, sandwiches, pizza, etc. must be available during hours of service. 

Tradename Street # Street Name Expiration 
date File No Zoning Adjacent Zoning Neighboring uses 

N E S W 

Bank 8 Billiards    2460 F Road, Suite #3 5/1/2009 CUP-2004-273 C-1 Res PD C-1 C-1/C-2 C-1 Commercial/Industrial Park, Residential, 
Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Boomers    436 Main 1/6/2009 CUP-2002-117 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Brass Rail Lounge    476 28 Road 6/11/2009 Legal Non-
Conforming C-1 C-1 Res PD C-1 R-24 Residential, Nat’l Guard, Retail 

Bub's Field Sports Pub    715 Horizon Dr, Ste 100 1/26/2010 CUP-2006-055 
CUP-2005-308 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 

Club 
Chupiro's Place    122 South 5th Street 6/27/2009 CUP-1993-060 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Restaurants, Bars/Nightclubs, Offices, Retail 

Country Inns of America    718 Horizon Drive 7/17/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 R-5 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, 
Retail 

Courtyard by Marriott Grand Junction    765 Horizon Drive 10/15/2009 CUP-2004-136 I-O I-O C-1 C-1 I-O Industrial Park, Hotels, Restaurants, Offices 

Fast Eddy's    2650 North Ave #108-110 2/6/2009 CUP-2000-217 C-1 R-8 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Offices 

Freeway Bowling    1900 Main Street 11/2/2009 < 25% C-2 R-8 R-24/C-2 C-2 C-2 Residential, Retail, Office/Warehouse, Auto 
Repair 

GJ Scores    2445 F 3/4 Road 10/18/2009 SPR-2004-095 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Offices 

Grand Junction Athletic Club    2515 Foresight Circle 5/24/2009 < 25% I-O I-O I-O C-1/C-2 I-O Industrial Park, Retail, Offices, 
Commercial/Industrial subdivision 

Junction Indoor Tennis Center    535 25 1/2 Road 9/28/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-1 C-2 C-2 Residential, Retail, Offices 

Mesa Theater & Club    538 Main Street 8/16/2009 CUP-1998-047 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Theaters, Bars/Nightclubs, 
Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Quincy Bar & Grill    609 Main Street 11/26/2009 CUP-2008-263 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Theaters, Bars/Nightclubs, 
Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Residence Inn by Marriott    767 Horizon Drive 6/10/2009 CUP-2004-136 I-O I-O C-1 C-1 I-O Industrial Park, Hotels, Restaurants, Offices 

Snowflake, The    539 Colorado Avenue 9/15/2009 Legal Non-
Conforming B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Tavern on the Point    2938 North Avenue 3/28/2009 CUP-2006-007 C-1 RMF-8 
(Co) C-2 (Co) C-2 (Co) C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Thunder Mountain Tavern    2701 Highway 50 11/12/2009 Legal Non-
Conforming C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Offices, Retail 



 

 

VFW Post 1247    1404 Ute Avenue 12/31/2008 Legal Non-
Conforming 

C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR/C-2 R-O/C-1 Residential, Offices, Retail 

Whiskey River    490 28 1/4 Road 11/6/2009 Legal Non-
Conforming C-1 C-1 Res 

PD/C-1 Res PD Res 
PD/C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Beer & Wine – License permits the sale of malt/vinous liquors only to the public for consumption on the premises.  Must have light snacks available during hours of service. 

Tradename Street # Street Name Expiration 
date File No Zoning 

Adjacent Zoning 
Neighboring uses 

N E S W 

Bamboo City 2472 F Road #2 9/19/2009 < 25% C-1 Res PD C-1 C-2 C-1 Commercial/Industrial Park, Residential, 
Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Black Bear Diner 624 Rae Lynn Road 9/6/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Industrial Storage 
Yards 

Diorio's on Horizon 759 Horizon Dr Unit #N 1/11/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

Kuniko's Teriyaki Grill 1133 Patterson Rd. #11 7/17/2009 < 25% B-1 PD 
Medical B-1 B-1 B-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, 

Medical, Church 

New Dragon Wall Chinese Buffet Rest 2839 North Avenue 8/5/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office 

Pablo's Pizza 319 Main Street 10/18/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

Thai Chili Restaurant 2536 Rimrock Dr, Ste 700 4/11/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Car sales, Auto repair, 
Light Manufacturing 

Brew Pub – License allows for sale/consumption on premises of alcohol & permits the manufacture of malt liquor on the premises.    Malt liquor made on site may be sold for 
consumption on site, to an independent wholesaler, or to the public in labeled “to go” containers.  Required to sell food (meals) as part of their on-site business.  Food sales 

must constitute 15% of the gross on-site food & drink income. 

Tradename Street # Street Name Expiration 
date File No Zoning 

Adjacent Zoning 
Neighboring uses 

N E S W 

Kannah Creek Brewing Company 1960 North 12th Street 9/26/2009 < 25% B-1 B-1 R-8 B-1 PD 
Medical 

Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Offices, 
Medical 

Rockslide Brew Pub 401 Main Street 8/18/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

Club – License permits qualifying non-profit corporations to sell alcohol to members and their guests for consumption on the premises. 

Tradename Street # Street Name Expiration 
date File No Zoning 

Adjacent Zoning 
Neighboring uses 

N E S W 

BPO Elks No. 575 249 S 4th St 12/31/2008 Non-Public B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Restaurants, Museum, Park, 
Offices, Retail 



 

 

Fraternal Order Of Eagles 595 1674 U S Highway 50 12/31/2008 Non-Public C-1 C-1 R-8 C-1 C-1 Residential, Park, Offices, Retail, Commercial 

Loyal Order of Moose 567 25 1/2 Road 5/18/2009 Non-Public C-2 C-2 CSR C-2 C-2 Pomona Elementary, Park, Residential, 
Office/Warehouse, Contractor shops 

Hotel & Restaurant – License permits restaurants, and hotels with restaurant facilities, to sell alcohol to the public for consumption within the licensed premises.  Must have 
full meals available until 8 p.m.  After 8 p.m. must have light snacks available.  Food sales must provide at least 25% of the gross income from the sale of food and beverages. 

Tradename Street # Street Name Expiration 
date File No Zoning 

Adjacent Zoning 
Neighboring uses 

N E S W 

626 On Rood - Modern American 
Cuisine & Wine Bar 626 Rood Avenue 8/2/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar 711 Horizon Drive 11/28/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

Aztecas Family Mexican Restaurant 603 Highway 50 12/7/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 Res PD Res PD C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office 

Bin 707 707 Horizon Drive 9/19/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

Blue Moon Bar & Grille 120 North 7th Street 6/22/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Theater, Restaurant, Office, Retail,  

Bookcliff Country Club 2730 G Road 12/31/2008 < 25% CSR R-2/C-1 C-1 Res PD/C-
1 

R-4/Res 
PD 

Residential, Restaurants, Hotels, Retail, 
Office 

Boston's The Gourmet Pizza 2404 Patterson Road 2/19/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office 

Breckenridge Ale House 2531 North 12th Street 3/8/2009 < 25% B-1 B-1 B-1 B-1 B-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, 
Medical, Church 

Carino's Italian 2480 Highway 6 & 50 4/2/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Sand/gravel operation 

Cavett House Grille & Pub 359 Colorado Ave, Ste 2 4/4/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Elk’s Lodge, Park, Museum, 
Restaurants, Office, Retail 

Chili's Grill & Bar 584 24 1/2 Road 2/11/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1/C-2 C-1 C-1 Theater, Restaurants, Offices,Retail 

Chipotle Mexican Grill 2504 Hwy 6 & 50 Ste 300 3/20/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor shops 
& yards, Car sales 

Chuck E Cheese's 2424 US Hwy 6 & 50 8/18/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office 

Coco's Bakery Restaurant 755 Horizon Drive 7/8/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Hotels, Retail, Office, Country 
Club, Industrial Park 

Conchita's Mexican Restaurant 625 24 1/2 Road 11/14/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Goodwill 

Dolce Vita II 336 Main St 101-104 12/15/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 



 

 

Dos Hombres Restaurant 421 Brach Drive 10/14/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

Doubletree - Grand Junction 743 Horizon Drive 4/20/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

EC's Asian Station 509 28 1/2 Road 7/8/2009 < 25% C-1 Res 
PD/R-8 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office 

El Tapatio 1145 North Avenue 8/1/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1/CSR C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, College, 
Lincoln Park 

Famous Dave's Bar B Que 2440 U.S. Hwy. 6 & 50 11/26/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Railroad 

Fiesta Guadalajara-GJ 710 North Avenue 3/23/2009 < 25% C-1 B-1/C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, High School 

Fly'n Roosters 200 W Grand Ave Ste 4&5 7/6/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 B-1 B-2 R-8 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Park, Office, 
Justice Center, Sheriff station/jail  

Genghis Grill 2474 Hwy. 6 & 50 8/10/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Sand/gravel operation 

Good Pastures 733 Horizon Drive 7/14/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

Grand International Buffet 2504 HWY 6&50, #500 9/16/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor shops 
& yards, Car sales 

Grand Vista Hotel 2790 Crossroads Blvd 9/18/2009 < 25% C-1 I-O C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Hotels, Retail, Office, Industrial 
Park 

Il Bistro Italiano 400 Main Street 12/1/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

Junct'n Square Pizza 119 N. 7th Street 4/18/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

La Bamba 546 Main Street 1/26/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

Las 2 Margaritas Grill Mexican 
Restaurant 2516 Broadway 11/18/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, 

Commercial Distribution Center 

Las Marias Inc 2692 Hwy 50 Sp E & G 11/18/2009 < 25% C-1 R-16 R-8 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Bar/Nightclub, 
Office, Retail, Commercial/Industrial Storage 

Las Palmas Restaurant 752 1/2 Horizon Drive 7/17/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail, Country 
Club 

Le Moulin Rouge 317 Main Street 2/3/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

Los Reyes Restaurant 811 South 7th Street 2/13/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 I-1 Residential, Mesa Feed, Contractor 
shops/yards, Light manufacturing 

Nepal Restaurant 356 Main Street 5/15/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

No Coast Sushi 1119 N 1st St, Unit A 4/17/2009 < 25% C-1 R-24/R-
O C-1 C-1 C-2 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, 

Parks, Car sales 



 

 

Old Chicago 120 North Avenue 1/11/2009 < 25% C-1 B-1 C-2 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, 
Parks, Car sales 

Olive Garden Italian Restaurant #1580 
The 2416 US Hwy 6 & 50 1/2/2010 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 

Railroad 

Orchard Mesa Lanes 295 27 Road 12/7/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 Res PD Ind PD Ind PD Residential, Retail, Office, Park, Light 
manufacturing 

Outback Steakhouse 2432 Highway 6 & 50 8/4/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Railroad 

Qdoba Mexican Grill 2536 Rimrock Ave Ste 100 9/6/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Car sales, Auto repair, 
Light Manufacturing 

Red Lobster #685 575 24 1/2 Road 3/7/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Railroad 

Red Robin America's Gourmet Burgers 
& Spirits 2530 Rimrock Avenue 6/4/2009 < 25% C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 C-2 Restaurants, Retail, Car sales, Auto repair, 

Light Manufacturing 

Rib City Grille 2830 North Avenue 11/24/2009 < 25% C-1 
Res 

PD/R-8/ 
R-O 

C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office  

Smuggler's Brewpub & Grille 2412 Highway 6 & 50 11/9/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Railroad 

Suehiro Japanese Restaurant 541 Main Street 11/13/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Bars/Nightclubs, Restaurants, 
Offices, Retail 

Tequila's 2560 North Avenue 7/26/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office 

Tequila's Mexican Family Restaurant 2454 Highway 6 & 50 12/5/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Retail, Office, Contractor yards, 
Sand & gravel operation 

Texas Roadhouse 2870 North Avenue 8/26/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office 

Two Rivers Convention Center 159 Main Street 3/30/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Hotels, Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

W.W. Peppers LTD 753 Horizon Drive 10/1/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Restaurants, Hotels, Offices, Retail 

Weavers' Tavern 103 North 1st Street 10/4/2009 CUP-2000-210 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Hotels, Convention Center, Justice Center, 
Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

West Gate Inn 2210 Highway 6 & 50 1/31/2009 < 25% C-2 I-1 C-2/I-1 C-2/RSF-R 
(Co) C-2 Retail, Industrial storage yards, Contractor 

shops/yards, Railroad 

Winery, The 642 Main Street 9/7/2009 < 25% B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 B-2 Residential, Theaters, Bars/Nightclubs, 
Restaurants, Offices, Retail 

Wrigley Field 1810 North Avenue 3/17/2009 < 25% C-1 R-8 C-1 CSR C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, Park 

Xian Wei 1530 North Avenue 1/16/2009 < 25% C-1 C-1 C-1 CSR C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, Park 

Zen Garden 2886 North Avenue 11/16/2009 < 25% C-1 R-8/C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1 Residential, Restaurants, Retail, Office, Park 



 

 





 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

 



 

 

Attachment A 
CUP-2008-158, Verbatim Minutes for Bar/Nightclub 
Conditional Use Permit 
 
14. Bar/Nightclub – Conditional Use Permit 

Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a bar/nightclub in an I-1 
(Light Industrial) zone district. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-158 
PETITIONER: Kevin Eardley 
LOCATION: 2256 & 2258 Colex Drive 
STAFF: Senta Costello, Associate Planner 

 
SEE VERBATIM MINUTES FOR THIS ITEM STARTING ON PAGE 11. 



 
CHAIRMAN COLE:  The next item on the agenda is a bar/nightclub 

conditional use permit, CUP-2008-158.  Is staff going to make the initial presentation? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Yes, sir. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay. 

MS. COSTELLO:  If I can find it.  Good evening, Mr. Chairman, 

members of the Commission.  Senta Costello, Public Works and Planning Department.  

This is a request for a bar nightclub conditional use permit located at 2256 and 2258 

Colex Drive.  It’s on the northwest corner of G and Colex Drive.  The property is 

currently vacant.  Much of the existing industrial subdivision that these properties are 

located in are currently vacant.  There’s a few of them that have been through the 

review process and are currently beginning construction.  But for the most part a lot of 

the lots are currently vacant. 

The future land use map designation for this property as well as the 

surrounding properties is commercial industrial and the zone district is an I-1 

surrounded to the north, west and east with I-1 and on the south by a C-2.  As I stated 

the request is for a conditional use permit for a bar and nightclub.  The applicant is 

proposing to construct a 9,000 square foot office warehouse…I’m sorry, almost 10,000 

square foot office warehouse on the property to the north as well as the proposed bar 

site.  The two will have a shared parking lot.  This works for the code because the hours 

of operation for the two uses are offset. 

I have reviewed it and it meets the consistency of the growth plan, goals 

and policies.  It…sorry, it meets the review criteria for the zoning and development code 

and also the submittal standards, the transportation and engineering standards and the 

storm water management standards.  The underlying zone district for chapter 3, the 

proposal meets all of the standards required for the I-1 zone district. 



 

 

The use specific standards required in chapters 3 and 4 for this particular 

type of use have been met.  The…by definition a nightclub includes a establishment 

which has the sale of alcohol which exceeds 25 percent of their total sales and includes 

music, dancing or live entertainment and the applicant has stated that they will have all 

of the above listed.  In their general project report they describe the proposed 

entertainment component as an entertainment area with a bar, stage for two dancers 

and a deejay. 

In reviewing this in accordance with the requirements of chapters 3 and 4, 

the specific criteria that we are required to look at as staff are whether an adult 

entertainment component is an allowed use in this particular zone district of I-1 and it is 

an allowed use, determine whether the proposed site is within a thousand feet from 

another adult entertainment establishment and there is no other existing establishment 

within that boundary. 

The third component is whether the proposed site is within a thousand feet 

of any church, school, park, playground, public building or residentially zoned property 

and I have a map which shows those boundaries and all of those properties are within 

that thousand foot radius and none of them fall under any of those categories as listed.  

The specific conditional use permit criteria talks about the protection of privacy, 

protection of use and enjoyment and a compatible design and integration with the 

surrounding neighborhood. 

This is the site plan proposed by the applicant.  The majority of the parking 

as well as the entrance to the building are located on the west side of the building away 

from the existing property to the east.  This helps to mitigate any uses that may be 

encountered due to the uses within the building as most of the people when they’re 

coming and going are going to be going in and out that front door as well as most of the 



 

 

parking so there’s not going to be a lot of traffic, pedestrian traffic and people on the 

sides of the buildings.  This will help with the protection of privacy and protect the use 

and enjoyment of the adjoining properties. 

The building as proposed is compatible in design with other industrial type 

buildings that have been approved in the same neighborhood.  They are proposing a 

stucco façade with cultured stone accents.  The signage that they’re proposing as you 

can see is located above the door and on the south elevation of the building.  They are 

also proposing on doing landscaping along the eastern property line as an added 

benefit to the property owner to the east.  The landscaping along that side is…ranges 

from 3 to 6 feet in height with a majority of that landscaping closer to the property line.  

This particular side by code does not require landscaping.  The applicant is putting that 

in to help buffer that adjacent property owner to the east and that strip ranges from 10 to 

15 feet in wide…or in width. 

Based on this criteria I do find that it meets the criteria of the zoning and 

development code.  The only condition recommended by staff as the approval will be 

that they do put in place a shared parking agreement for the property to the north to 

guarantee that the parking remains available and with that we’re recommending 

approval.  Are there any questions? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any questions of Senta? 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Ah, yes, Mr. Chairman.  In the 

application that we received with our material for this evening the agenda topic was bar 

nightclub conditional use permit of which we have heard we have jurisdiction on that.  

According to Kathy…Kathy Portner who wrote administrative regulation 0-1-1 in ‘01, 

definition of a bar is premises used primarily for the sale of dispensing of alcoholic 

beverages by a drink for onsite consumption and where food may be available for 



 

 

consumption as an accessory use.  In the general project report as was pointed out in 

the memo from our assistant city attorney, this…she referred to a…a bar nightclub of 

the application the general progress or general project report refers to it in the 

application process as a gentlemen’s club with a conditional use.  What’s a gentlemen’s 

club?  Can you give me a highlight on that? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Based on discussions that we have had with 

the applicant and their representative it became apparent that they fit into the category 

of the bar nightclub category of the code.  You’re correct it doesn’t specifically call that 

out in the general project report as far as we are requesting but like I’ve said we’ve 

through discussions… 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: I assume this is our…this is their 

proposal to us? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: This…this is done at their request and 

it’s their words… 

MS. COSTELLO:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: …and they refer to it on page 3 as wish 

to construct a gentlemen’s club.  Later on they describe the activity as being wholesome 

and whatever.  What  I…what I…what I want to ask is kind of a technical question.  I 

think I know the answer but so maybe you can clarify it for me.  We have jurisdiction 

on…on a bar nightclub applying for an application.  It’s not a…it’s not a…a…it’s…it’s a 

conditional use that we have jurisdiction over. 

MS. COSTELLO:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: But an adult entertainment business is 

not.  It’s an administrative approval decision. 



 

 

MS. COSTELLO:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: So my understanding from…from our 

attorney’s perspective is that if I wouldn’t think this would happen but if this…this 

request came forward for only a…an adult entertainment business we wouldn’t even 

see it? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Correct. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: And if it came forward as we see it as a 

bar by definition we have jurisdiction?  So we’re looking at this strictly as a bar 

nightclub?  Now you mentioned in your comment that you just made that it…it will have 

live entertainment with it? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: What would…what would this might be?  

What would this be?  Could it be a band or live dancers, line dancers, or clowns? 

MS. COSTELLO:  That I think the specifics of that I think is best 

entertained by the applicant. 

COMMISISONER DIBBLE: Entertainment of all sorts?  Stand up 

comic?  Live entertainment.  How about a pole dancer?  How about, I’m going to be 

very blunt here, a striptease artist?  I don’t know if they call them that.  Is that live 

entertainment by definition? 

MS. COSTELLO:  The specifics…that would be classified as live 

entertainment.  As far as what in the specifics of what the applicant has in mind, he is 

best suited to answer those questions. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  Is my definition of the 

jurisdictions correct, Jamie?  Is approval by administration that portion of entertainment 

that would be classified as adult entertainment? 



 

 

MS. BEARD:  If this was not a part of a conditional use permit that is 

coming forward to you because of the bar nightclub portion, then the adult 

entertainment would be determined just as an administrative approval and it would not 

come to you except under the possibility of an appeal. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: But it is…it is something outside of our 

jurisdiction to approve adult entertainment per se?  Is that correct? 

MS. BEARD:  Okay.  It is not outside your jurisdiction to consider the 

adult entertainment as it is part of the criteria.  It’s included as your conditional use 

permit.  But the means by which it’s included is part of your criteria is whether the use 

specific standards in chapter 4 for adult entertainment have been met.  So when you 

consider the adult entertainment it’s in relation to that criteria in determining if it has 

been met and then if there are any secondary effects on the site that may affect 

compatibility for purposes of the site design and the uses that are surrounding this 

particular property. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: They are strictly the code regulations 

such as lighting and setbacks, a thousand feet from a school and that kind of thing as 

far as an adult entertainment? 

MS. BEARD:  For the adult entertainment the criteria were as Senta 

stated earlier and that’s whether or not adult entertainment one is allowed in an I-1 zone 

which according to our code it is.  It is whether or not it’s within a thousand feet of 

another adult entertainment establishment and it’s our understanding from the review 

that it is not and that the…not be within at least a thousand feet of a church, school, 

playground, public building being used for governmental purposes and, Senta, I’m not 

remembering – what’s the last one? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Park and residentially zoned properties. 



 

 

MS. BEARD:  Park and also then residentially zoned property. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Residentially zoned property?  That 

would not be… 

MS. BEARD:  So it has to be at least a thousand feet from any of 

those and that’s the criteria that’s included under the use specific standards which is 

then relevant to the criteria that you’re considering for the conditional use permit. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay, but basically we’re looking at the 

bar nightclub conditional use permit and the administrative approval will still have to be 

made for the other part? 

MS. BEARD:  No, your approval tonight of the conditional use permit 

with the understanding that the adult entertainment is a part of your conditional use 

permit application will be included as part of that approval.  That it’s met those 

conditions of the criteria.  And part of the conditional use permit as you understand is it’s 

not a use of right and so bars and nightclubs have been considered to have certain 

factors sometimes related to it that you… the city council has said they want to look at 

this a little more closer and determine is it appropriate in the location where it’s asking to 

be located.  And in an I-1 a bar nightclub does require a conditional use permit. 

So one of those other factors you’re looking at is compatibility and the 

other criteria that are included under there.  But that compatibility is how is the site 

designed and does it take some of those other factors into consideration that might 

otherwise affect a bar being next to some of the other uses or bar or nightclub being 

next to some of the other uses and those are the secondary effects that we were 

talking…I think that you mentioned such as like traffic, lighting, circulation, access and 

those type of things.  Those are the things that you’re looking in additional because it’s 

a conditional use permit. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: I’m still…this is going to have to be a lot 

more clear to me before I know what I’m thinking but I’m still questioning the fact that if 

a…if a applicant came forward and wanted a adult entertainment approval, who would 

give that?  We don’t have jurisdiction over adult entertainment approval in my thinking. 

MS. BEARD:  Okay.  If it was only for an adult entertainment 

establishment that did not require an approval for a conditional use permit, then you 

would not have the jurisdiction of that to hear that matter.  That would be heard just by 

the director and that would be approved administratively – if it was only for adult 

entertainment alone.  It comes before you simply because it is also a portion of a 

conditional use permit.  The conditional use permit comes into play because of the fact 

that this is also going to be a bar/nightclub.  And I would say it fits the definition most 

with nightclub with including the live entertainment.  That’s the portion that brings it to 

you but because the adult entertainment does have use specific standards under our 

code those are part of the criteria that you will be approving tonight and that’s part of 

your jurisdiction in approving that criteria. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: So we’re…we’re really…the 

nomenclature live entertainment is not the real purpose.  The adult entertainment 

perspective is what we should be looking at along with the approval? 

MS. BEARD:  Okay.  Live entertainment is included as a part of the 

nightclub portion of their application and since part of that live entertainment appears to 

fit the definition of the adult entertainment, though I’m not sure you’ve had much of that 

information come before you.  I think you’ll hear that more from the applicant.  But then 

if it is considered to be adult entertainment we have to look at the use specific standards 

that are set forth specifically in chapter 4 as that is part of the criteria that you’re 

required to consider in granting a conditional use permit. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  Back around to my original point, 

those seem to be more code restrictive rather than any other restrictive. 

MS. BEARD:  That would be correct. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  Well, okay.  I’m still hazy but 

that’s probably me.  It’s late or something. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Are there any other questions? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: If this were a…since this is a use by 

right without the…the bar and liquor license in effect and it would be decided 

administratively if it were only for the entertainment?  Club?  That’s a use by right? 

MS. BEARD:  You’re asking is the adult entertainment in an I-1 zone 

otherwise allowed?  It would be if it meets the criteria and normally that criteria would be 

decided by the director rather than by the planning commission.  It’s now part of the 

conditional use permit though and that’s why it brings it to you as part of your approval. 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: Well what would be the scenario of say 

if they went ahead and did that without alcohol and then came back and applied for a 

liquor license in a year or six months or…? 

MS. BEARD:  When they came back at a later date to change their 

use to now a nightclub then it would be a conditional use permit approval and they 

would have to come forward to you at that time. 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: I understand that… 

MS. BEARD:  And if they were continuing the same live 

entertainment then it would be part of that approval. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: It would be a whole new approval? 

MS. BEARD:  If later they added the nightclub portion to their use 

that would require a new approval. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: But in effect without the liquor license it 

would still be a nightclub…I mean being used for the same thing and then …and then if 

they applied for that, what…what criteria do you use? 

MS. BEARD:  Based on our definition in our land use code, the 

nightclub includes the alcohol so the alcohol would require the liquor license. 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: Yes I know but…but if they did an adult 

entertainment thing it could be set up exactly like what they intend to do with the liquor 

license and then the liquor license would be in addition? 

MS. BEARD:  If they wanted to just go forward with everything but 

not include alcohol at this point in time then it would not need a conditional use permit 

and it could be approved administratively.  If at a later date then they wanted to add the 

alcohol portion to it they would still need to get then a liquor license but in addition they 

would have to get a conditional use permit at that time. 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: Yes I understand.  It just seems to me 

that it doesn’t matter which orders this goes in the result may end up being the same. 

MS. BEARD:  As long as it includes a nightclub it requires your 

approval and so, yes, the decision would be the same regardless with the fact that the 

nightclub is included. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further questions of staff?  Okay, let’s 

proceed to the applicant.  Is the applicant present? 

MR. SIMS:  Good evening, Mr. Chairman, commission members.  

I’m Bryan Sims with Design Specialists Architects.  We are the planners and architects 

of the bar and nightclub.  I don’t have a whole to add to what the planner said as far as 

the technical requirements that we have met.  I believe we have met those technical 

requirements that are involved in the application for a conditional use permit.  And those 



 

 

technical requirements essentially fall into two categories as we see it and we’ve done 

several of these before. 

And those two categories are essentially area and space requirements as 

it concerns the site on the building and that becomes a…both a architectural issue as 

well as a land planning issue.  And those we have sought to solve satisfactorily and 

have gotten approval from staff…from planning staff.  Specifically, for example, the 

parking being adequate.  Specifically we actually more parking there and better 

maneuvering than you might typically see in some of the warehouse areas and I believe 

this…this will help the access and maneuvering in the parking lots night and day.  That’s 

another thing. 

We’ve actually increased the amount of landscaping to provide better 

buffering and screening so the place is more attractive and it’s buffered better from its 

neighbors.  We’ve provided a 6 foot screen fence on 3 sides of the facility which again 

provides a visual barrier and creates a better separation.  Note that one of the 

exposures or both exposures are actually on streetscape so it’s not encompassed 

between two buildings and that’s another good aspect and we did get good comment 

from the police department.  They’re one of the ones that are probably the most 

concerned with some of the experiences from some of the other bars and nightclubs 

which incidentally we are not the architects on and not the planners on.  But they are 

most concerned as you know about keeping order there and we did get comments from 

the police department and we met that commentary in a planning effort. 

The other part or the second area that you cover when you talk about 

conditional use permits is the management operations of the…of the actual building and 

that’s really where the architectural part comes in.  You can’t say that you can separate 

that from space requirements or how it meets that criteria because it really is pretty 



 

 

interrelated and really you can break that down in points that Senta talked about as far 

as the various issues that are internal within the site itself and I can…I’ll just briefly say 

what those are so it’s quite apparent. 

One is the site lighting and security issues and this is brought up by the 

police department.  We were already aware of that and we have provided very good site 

lighting and that would be a good idea as you know to keep that…that site well lit. 

The other thing is…is providing proper entry and exit for the patrons.  

They really only have one entry and exit which is out the front.  Obviously you have to 

by building code requirements you have to have other exits which are fire controlled and 

time controlled exits which have to passed by the building code and…and we’ll address 

that in the architectural plans. 

The other things…the fact that food will be served and that is part…I mean 

any of us who have ever been to a nightclub and bar appreciate at times having 

something to eat.  I think at times it helps us to cope with the some of the beverages 

that we might be drinking at the time and everybody says let’s order something so we 

feel better.  So it does serve food, has a kitchen and there will be good food service 

there. 

The…things the visual barriers within the interior itself are minimized.  And 

that again takes care of security issues by management so they can keep their eye on 

the patrons and also minimal barriers on the exterior – low landscaping.  So the security 

issues are addressed on the outside which again is another issue of the permitting of 

the conditional use permit for this kind of project. 

The…I think an issue here that we don’t normally see in many of the bar 

nightclub aspects is the separation of the employees from the public and if you examine 

the plan you will see how we have addressed that.  It simply says that the employees of 



 

 

the facility and let’s not make any bones about it we do not want the employees and 

entertainers mixing with the patrons other than on the entertainment or live 

entertainment basis.  Therefore, the building does have a separate garage for the entry 

and exit of the employees.  It has a separate dressing room, has separate bathrooms, 

has a separate smoking area…a separate smoking porch and so the actual 

design…architectural design of the plan itself addresses I believe some of the issues 

that this audience and this commission may be concerned with as it concerns adult 

entertainment and the crossing over between the public and the actual employees 

there.  And that is reflected in the plan and we do have…that is I believe that’s part of 

the presentation here as well. 

The last thing is we seem to get in other bar nightclub situations the 

objections adjacent owners saying hey, you know, I’ve got a problem with my…I’ve got 

a problem here.  Bear in mind that the adjacent owner has signed a cross access 

agreement, a cross parking agreement with the owner and that in itself is an 

endorsement that the adjacent property is in support of this position and I believe that’s 

a good issue to resolve that we look at as well. 

And in closing I just feel that this is…understand it’s a little different 

operation as far as the entertainment’s concerned.  And, you know, we’re not kidding 

you about that but I think…I think we’ve met the other criteria…all the other 

criteria…any of the criteria that should be appropriate for the proper approval of this 

application and I’m happy to take any….any questions you have from a planning 

and…and programming standpoint.  We also have the owner and manager of the 

nightclub here tonight who will be able to answer any questions you have during the 

public comment period and I would be happy to answer any questions you have as I 

stand here right now. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Are there any questions of this or the 

applicant’s testimony? 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: You mentioned the adjacent owner.   

MR. SIMS: Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Is that the same owner as the bar 

nightclub? 

MR. SIMS: No. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay, that’s the warehouse person? 

MR. SIMS: That’s correct. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: It’s a separate owner then? 

MR. SIMS: It is. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  I probably should ask the owner 

operator this question and it’s the same question that I asked staff.  What’s a 

gentlemen’s club? 

MR. SIMS: A gentlemen’s club is…is a club where gentlemen and ladies 

may go to have a night of…of beverage, a night of entertainment.  I don’t think…I don’t 

think it’s a misnomer.  I think we just have referred to it as a gentlemen’s club.  It’s 

actually a bar and nightclub and presumably by the adult entertainment, yes, it will 

probably mainly cater to the male population but I…it’s not…ladies may attend as well. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Well I guess I can ask you further what 

goes in a gentlemen’s club but you and I both know that answer. 

MR. SIMS: Probably both.  I think we can both answer that one if you 

like but, you know, we know what happens in gentlemen’s club and it’s not an immoral 

activity.  It’s simply entertainment. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  Mr. Sims, I’ve got a question perhaps 

that can be directed to the proposer but have they had this type of operation previously 

and where? 

MR. SIMS:  I believe they did.  I believe in Grand Junction this 

type of operation at one time, is no longer.  But this particular applicant, no, he’s never 

had this operation. 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  Okay, thank you. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: This applicant is familiar with all of the 

ins and outs of running such an establishment? 

MR. SIMS: Well I…I should hope to make his project profitable or 

his…his nightclub profitable I should hope he does.  He’s paying our bills so it’s 

profitable enough at this point. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Are there questions that the commission would 

like to ask of the owner operator of the…of the establishment? 

MR. SIMS: The owner operator’s in the audience. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  I understand that.  That’s why I’m asking the 

question. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Would he identify himself?  Raise his 

hand?  Okay, thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, with that…thank you, sir, you’ll have an 

opportunity to come back up a little later. 

MR. SIMS:  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  We will now open the public hearing.  I would 

like to state that we have received a number of letters and communication from you 

folks most of which are addressed to the city council.  Some of which are addressed to 



 

 

the Mesa County planning commission which does not have jurisdiction at all on what 

we are considering this evening.  And also there are…one allegation that I would just 

like to speak to this…this evening.  Many of these letters here allude to the fact that it is 

a revenue producer for the city of Grand Junction.  That is not a consideration that we’re 

taking into consideration tonight. 

What has happened here is an application has been made and it’s 

incumbent upon we as a appointed body from the city to render a decision – a fair 

decision – and be…be sure that this hearing is a fair hearing and that the decision is…is 

fair as the commission views it and we…we all have our personal feelings about this but 

hopefully those will not enter into it as much as the facts of the case.  So with that, if you 

have submitted a letter previously, now as I said at the beginning of the meeting these 

that we have just received this evening we have not had a chance to review other than 

very briefly and so we don’t quite know what’s…what’s in all of those but the other 

letters that we’ve received this commission has read those letters and it is something 

that will be entered into as we make our…as we deliberate this evening and render our 

decision at the end of the hearing.  So with that, we will first open the…the hearing to 

those who are in favor of this application. 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  Mr. Chairman, I just have a comment to 

make about…about these letters that were handed to us this evening.  You’re a much 

faster reader than I am.  I want to state that I’ve had no opportunity to read any of these 

letters presented this evening and I can’t consider anything that was presented at that 

time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay and that may be the case with other 

commission members as well and so I would ask that you keep your comments to three 

minutes.  We will enforce that and ask that those comments be restricted to that so that 



 

 

everyone gets an opportunity to speak this evening.  So with that are there those who 

would like to speak in favor of this application?  Okay, yes sir – in the red shirt. 

MR. PE’A:  Mr. Chairman, commissioners and staff.  My name is 

Phillip Pe’a.  As our city grows our contemporary adults’ profile is growing.  These 

younger adults have more disposable income and granted you said to take the revenue 

part out of it.  I think we’re lacking adult entertainment.  Not for revenue purposes just 

for entertainment purposes.  I think they need a place to go, somewhere to just enjoy 

themselves as adults. 

I’ll try to define gentlemen club – strip club basically is more like…I 

perceive Cheers as a strip club.  You know, go in there; it’s crazy, wild out of control 

when a gentlemen’s club is normally more upscale.  You’re dealing with more upscale 

clientele and the valley has a lot of upscale clientele.  I feel again these…the 

contemporary adult profile demographic has more disposable income and they need 

somewhere to go.  If Allegiant Air can fill two planes twice a week to go to Las Vegas, 

why can’t we keep those people here?  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Anyone else who would like to 

speak in favor?  Yes, ma’am. 

MS. COX: Good evening.  My name is Lessette Cox.  I have been in 

this…this is my business.  This is what I do, my entire family.  I have been doing it for 

eight years.  I’ve grown up in the valley.  I do know that we have an extreme need for 

this in the town.  There’s such a high demand.  It’s exploding at the seams and we’ve 

got, you know, girls doing this that probably should be in a better environment, a safer 

environment – a place where they can pay taxes.  Where they can be safe in what 

they’re doing because it’s gonna happen whether we like it or not.  It’s all around us.  

But if we can control that and if, you know, we have that opportunity to control that and 



 

 

add to our community for that and for these girls make sure of their safety and 

everything.  This is a gentlemen’s club.  I’ve traveled all over the country working and a 

strip club is completely different.  A gentlemen’s club is always very respectable.  It 

always works out very nicely.  I’ve seen hundreds of ‘em.  But that’s just all I want to say 

that it’s going to be something very good for the valley and I definitely approve of it. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Anyone else who would like to 

speak?  Yes, sir, in the back. 

MS. BEARD:  Mr. Chairman, you might want to also remind if some 

of these people who are coming forward haven’t actually signed up in the back if they 

please would after they were done so we would have it for the record. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Yes, if you haven’t signed the sheet back in the 

back, we would like for you to sign that if you are speaking this evening.  Yes, sir? 

MR. CLARK:  Good evening, council.  My name is Shaun Clark.  I 

grew up in Las Vegas so I grew up around a lot of clubs similar to what they’re trying to 

approve here.  I believe that they have done their due diligence obviously in the 

planning of the club and doing the zoning, the parking, the restrictions as to, ya know, 

how far away they are from public buildings, schools, and things like that.  Obviously 

there’s a definite need for a service like this anywhere that the energy and gas 

companies exist.  These people have a lot of money and they are going to other states, 

other cities in Colorado and spending their money there.  Like I said it’s not really an 

issue here as to…as to the revenue but I believe that they have done their diligence in 

planning it correctly and I am for it.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else would like to speak 

in favor?  Yes, ma’am. 



 

 

Ms. McKAY-HALVORSON: Thank you for having us here tonight.  

My name is Sooner McKay-Halvorson.  I was born and raised in Grand Junction.  I 

currently own three businesses on Main Street.  I’m very much in support of…of seeing 

a club being opened in Grand Junction.  There’s three points that I want to make to 

present to you and hopefully you’ll consider. 

My first one is the current demand versus the current supply.  My 

businesses on Main Street - I own a pole dancing studio where we teach women pole 

dancing on an aerobic level.  We have a very strong client base with the middle to upper 

class female business and professional women.  My other store is a women’s boutique 

adult toy store and so for the last year and a half I’ve listened to my customers and my 

clients talk to me about the things that they’re looking for for their personal lives and it’s 

very hard to find a resource or a place for them to go to work through these needs – 

these desires.  And when there’s not a resource available, they seek other avenues 

which often are more deviant, they’re more underground and they can get them into 

situations where they’re not abiding by the law. 

The…the supply is there and…or the demand is there and the supply will 

be there no matter if it’s in a gentlemen’s club or if it’s on a private level.  On a private 

level it’s very unsafe for the women who are working in this industry right now.  They are 

going into people’s homes.  They’re being called, hired and paid to go into people’s 

homes and perform for them topless which is probably what would happen in a 

gentlemen’s club.  However, they’re on that person’s private property and if a crime 

were to be committed they are on that person’s private property and so they have not a 

lot of legal recourse if they are to be injured or assaulted by somebody who’s paid them 

to come there to perform for them topless or on an adult oriented way. 



 

 

The current business model…secondly, the current business model for a 

gentlemen’s club it differs substantially from the model of strip clubs of the past.  

There’s been a separation in the type of clientele that the gentlemen’s club caters to.  

As Phil had pointed out, it caters mostly to the middle to upper class professionals who 

are looking for an avenue to play as hard as they work and we don’t have that 

opportunity here.  The strip club or the gentlemen’s club also caters a lot more to 

women and to couples and in my business of speaking to men and women especially in 

the adult toy store, couples are looking for ways to explore their monogamous sexual 

relationships in a way that’s different and there’s no way to do that right now in Grand 

Junction.  You have to go out of town to do it which makes you feel like you’re doing 

something bad.  If you feel like you have to go away, run away from the people that are 

around you. 

I already touched on the other one - the safety and professionalism.  

There’s not a lot of safety for people who are supplying to this demand.  I guess 

just…currently there are no managed, controlled or taxed establishments or 

environments available and where’s there’s a demand there will be a supply in one form 

or another.  A gentlemen’s club, especially the professional establishment being 

proposed, seems to be a responsible means to acknowledge and monitor this aspect of 

entertainment and free enterprise in Grand Junction.  So, thank you for your time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else who would like to 

speak in favor of it? 

MR. MOSBY: Don Mosby, 3348½ B-1/4 Road, regardless of the 

demand, it meets the criteria for the business and it looks like he’s gone above and 

beyond to try to make it attractive and correct for the city so I’m for it.  Thank you. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Anyone else who would like to 

speak in favor?  Yes, sir? 

MR. HALVORSON : Thank you, Chairman and commissioners.  I 

wanted to address a little bit about…oh, I’m sorry.  Matt Halvorson, 2620 Wisteria Court, 

Grand Junction.  I wanted to address a little bit about the owner operator’s character if 

that’s okay. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  No, that is not appropriate. 

MR. HALVORSON:  No?  Okay.  Well I am definitely in support of it.  

I was asked today why and I would think that some of the opposition that we might hear 

are…are some violence or activities that go on there.  Speaking from personal 

experiences and being in the entertainment business I was a casino host in Las Vegas.  

Being in a regular bar or nightclub versus an adult entertainment club I personally saw a 

whole lot more well behaved people in that situation than I did in a regular bar or 

nightclub. 

I also have a lot of experience here in town.  I managed a bar for three 

years and I think that what’s gonna be said that it…that the adult entertainment is going 

to more adversely affect what people are going to be there I think is a farce.  I saw 

plenty of it downtown on Main Street and, you know, I don’t think that that should be 

weighed into…to the fact of if…if we’re going to be able to open a bar, you should be 

able to open it.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Anyone else who would like to speak in favor 

of this application?   

MR. MARTIN: Good evening, Eric Martin.  I just want to remind the 

people that are against it that they don’t have to frequent the establishment. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else would like to speak in favor?  

Okay, we will now go to those who would like to speak in opposition to this land use 

decision.  Yes, sir? 

MR. BRADEN: My name is James Braden.  I live at 4 35 32 Road.  

I’m in opposition to this.  I’m in my seventieth year.  I will give you some of my 

experience up in Alaska during the construction of the pipeline.  My particular section 

was from Fairbanks down to Valdez in security.  We found that these type of gentlemen 

clubs invite into the community people that you do not necessarily want in your 

community.  It is income making but there would be no doubt it.  There will be from the 

peripherals as those that go out probably an increased use of drugs.  Why do we spend 

so much money to build a meth house when we would turn right around and invite it 

right back in. 

I say this very clearly and I think as I have spoke to many people and 

listened to their suggestions, we want to put this down quickly, pleasantly but I do not 

want to see the draw of men that I saw up in Alaska come in, get drunk, walk out and 

begin to look for your daughters.  Now they say…they will say well, a gentlemen’s club 

doesn’t do that but we have a major college here.  Every young man wants to go out 

and experience life and they will probably make a trip out there.  When you start that 

kind of blood rolling in a human body as you as a doctor know you lose control of your 

senses.  Losing control, getting terribly excited and drunk I can see them leaving and 

there’ll be increased traffic accidents on 6 and 50.  So those are just some of the 

qualms. 

It is immoral in a way because it leads to other things that you don’t see 

but we have experience here.  There is dancing already going on in Grand Junction in 

private homes and there is no revenue or taxes being collected from it and yet people 



 

 

are making money from it.  So I think that rather than to say you’re controlling it in one 

spot, you’re actually inviting people from Las Vegas because the income has gone 

down in Vegas will be looking for other places to go.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you. 

MS. HUGHDON DEAL:  Hello, my name is Milana Hughdon Deal 

and I live at 13 13 North 18th Street.  I am writing you regarding the proposed 

gentlemen’s club.  As a former dancer in the seventies in Alaska I saw first hand the 

drugs, violence and prostitution resulting from the environment such an establishment 

provides.  During the Vietnam War and pipeline construction, money flowed.  Not only 

one or two such clubs were established, others followed some out of town and much 

larger.  Behavior allowed in the city limits was even more accelerated and decadent 

outside the city.  Thank you. 

As a dancer I worked in a very small strip club but was about to move to a 

larger one.  The night I was to change location 6 to 8 women were at the new 

club…sorry, were shot with a 12-guage shotgun by a man who was obsessed with one 

of the girls and wanted her to marry him.  Violence seemed to be…seemed to erupt at 

the club nightly. 

Men do not go to these clubs for the artistic beauty of the dance or the 

down to earth conversation with the ladies.  They are going to view, to look for a 

superficial relationship and/or to proposition a dancer for sex.  The ladies…I’m sorry, the 

ladies know it’s easy money.  It’s good money.  It gives them a false self esteem and 

adds to or begins a drug and alcohol habit.  If the men are married it brings trouble in 

the home.  If the girls are married or have a relationship, it causes violence or 

prostitution to occur. 



 

 

Back in the seventies I lived with a heron addict who would have liked me 

to prostitute myself to support his habit.  As an alcohol and drug counselor, I work for 

the Salvation Army for six years in the residential treatment center.  I was the women’s 

primary counselor.  I started…I see, have and started and supported…I’m sorry, as a 

drug…alcohol and drug counselor many of the women and men I see have started or 

supported their drug habit by dancing.  Some have gone further prostituting in addition 

to the dancing because the club generates that kind of activity environment.  We may 

be talking about one club but once one is established and succeeds, many will follow. 

The owner of Rumbay is apparently selling his business.  Why?  Because 

of the violence and police calls his bar generates.  A gentlemen’s club will generate 

even more.  The question between what is moral and what is illegal is an issue for me.  

However,… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Excuse me? 

MS. HUGHDON DEAL: Yes, ma’am? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Would you wrap it up? 

MS. HUGHDON DEAL:  Yes, yes.  However, I would just like to see…I 

love Grand Junction.  I love the…the environment here and I just see, sir, that this 

gentlemen’s club would just bring more prostitution, more drug addiction and more 

crime to our area and I don’t want to see that happen.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 

MS. FINDLAY: My name is Sarah Findlay.  My address 2 0 2 North 

Avenue, number 195.  I am a recovered drug addict and alcoholic and I’m also an ex-

topless dancer.  You’re asking, what is a gentlemen’s club.  I was in the business 

for…for over ten years and I can give you a pretty clear view of what a gentlemen’s club 

is. 



 

 

I started dancing here in Grand Junction when I was 18 years old at 

Cheers.  That’s where my cocaine habit started.  Shortly after I tried doing cocaine I 

began dealing cocaine out of the club.  The deejay was dealing cocaine.  And that was 

just and Cheers was a strip club, yes.  Then I ended up moving to New York and I 

danced in places like Goldfingers, Scores - the top of the line gentlemen’s clubs - and 

the same exact thing that goes on in the dumpiest little strip club like Cheers goes on at 

the top of the line club.  I don’t care how fancy you make it, how you gloss it over, the 

same thing goes on.  It destroys lives. 

Ninety percent of the women that are dancing in those clubs become 

hooked on drugs, become alcoholics.  If any of you have daughters between the ages of 

18 and 30, please do not pass this.  I really agree with what the gentleman said about, 

you know, this is a college town.  We have young women.  This is going to put our 

young women in danger.  It’s gonna…the crime rate is gonna go up.  It’s just…it’ll 

basically be a building where from what I have seen it makes it easier for the drug 

dealing and the prostitution to go on having an establishment like that and I have 

worked in many, many clubs. 

I wrote you guys a letter and like I said, it’s no matter how upscale you 

make it, no matter how you gloss it over, even…I…I mean the idea of separating the 

clients or I mean the dancers from the clientele, that’s a great idea.  That still doesn’t 

stop it.  It doesn’t…it doesn’t stop them.  Are you gonna not let the dancers drink at the 

bar at all?  You’re not going to let ‘em talk…talk to the customers?  It’s not gonna work.  

They’re still gonna interact.  There’s…there’s still gonna be the prostitution that goes on.  

There’s still gonna be the drug dealing that goes on.  There’s still gonna be the 

increased crime rate and it’s…it’s a negative for this community and the reason that I 

can say that is because I was in the business for ten years.  Thank you. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 

MS. STAR:  Hi.  I’m Patty Star, 17 30 North 7th Street, and the 

previous speakers were great and I haven’t been in the business but what I want to say 

is we have enough bars and we really don’t need a strip club and I agree with 

everything they say and what it does.  And it’s not what these people think.  Well, they 

think they need this.  They think.  If you don’t want the revenue part of it in I won’t say 

anything about that but it’s what our town wants.  We don’t want that, you know.  And 

those who say it’s a moral issue or it isn’t, I’m just saying my family goes way back to 

great-great grandfather’s time and great grandfather.  And, you know, a town chooses 

what they want and I think our choice should be no because it does bring in all that and 

we have enough trouble with the bars.  And I know this for a fact because what I do so 

even though I’m here on a personal level I know for a fact things. 

But, at any rate, the definition of a gentlemen’s club, gentlemen, the 

definition is not a strip club so…this is hard to say this in front of everybody but, like I 

said, it’s a choice.  If you have children, wives, grandchildren, you’ll have to think about 

this and you all have to look at yourselves in the mirror and decide what’s best for our 

town not what’s best for some people and the other people it would bring into our town.  

Okay?  So the choice is up to you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 

MR. FERRIS: I’m Mike Ferris.  I own Western Slope Auto Company 

for 30 years.  As I thought about what I’d say tonight I realized it’s just past - a couple 

days ago or a week ago.  But this is…this is a car dealer’s worst nightmare is to have a 

bar located next to their business and this is just across G Road from my business 

which is about 20 acres of facility and millions of dollars in inventory.  And the problem 

for a car dealer being near a bar is the vandalism and the theft that occurs after hours, 



 

 

late at night, as a result of reduced inhibitions and so forth and so when I saw…saw the 

notice on this my concern was what’s going to happen as a result of these people 

leaving at one in the morning, two in the morning. 

I was previously at Second and Main up until 1983.  So I’ve been out at 

the current location for 25 years but somebody broke into the…into the dealership at 2nd 

and Main and so the police called me and I went down and we went through and looked 

at the facility.  Incidentally they send me first.  I thought that was interesting.  They had 

the guns and they sent me first but we…we…we went through the facility to…and…and 

there was nobody there and so we walk out and so on and they’re taking down the 

information and somebody walked out of the bar that was down there and started to get 

under the dash of my car.  He didn’t even notice standing as close as I am to you 

people that this was a police officer and me and he was hot wiring my car right there in 

front of him. 

But the vandalism that I suffered when I was down at 2nd and Main was 

ongoing, it was non-stop, it was theft, it was spare tires, it was bumpers, it was…the 

worst part though always for me was when somebody would scratch the paint on a 

brand new vehicle and…and in a way violate that brand new vehicle where it’s never 

quite the same and so forth.  If they took something I almost felt better about it than I did 

about the other. 

But we’ve got, you know, a couple little minor things from a planner 

her…her comments.  One is she had said the northwest corner.  I think it’s the northeast 

corner as I see it at G Road and Colex is the actual address and immediately behind 

that is a home and I…maybe nobody’s living in that home now.  Maybe it’s not zoned 

residential but there’s a home immediately behind it and I believe there’s another one 

on the other side of that and certainly is within a thousand foot.  If those are being 



 

 

occupied or if they…if the zoning has not been changed on those locations.  So 

those…so those are two minor things. 

Another couple things is the exits onto Highway 6 and 50 are really 

questionable because you’ve got that slope to the west as you go out of there and it’s 

hard to see and turn back and go to the east.  And then 23 Road is really famous for all 

the accidents – serious accidents - that occur at that area.  If they go down to 23 Road 

on G Road and then go up to get onto 6 and 50 so…so there really is some problems in 

terms of traffic patterns that would be exacerbated by a facility like this.  As I think about 

it, you know, this facility is gonna attract younger males on average.  It’s gonna attract 

people who like to drink and it’s…it creates a situation that is really a bad situation 

businesswise for me because of the fact that vandalism and theft is gonna go way up.  

So thank you very much. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else like to speak? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:   Mr. Dibble, you asked a question awhile 

ago what was a gentlemen’s club?  I think we’ve heard…heard what the answer was to 

that already.  I live in Clifton, that’s going to be further away from this place. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Sir, what’s your name? 

MR. TEVIS:  My name is Charles Tevis.  I signed. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, but we still need you to speak it. 

MR. TEVIS:  Okay, my name is Charles Tevis.  We’re talking about 

Grand Junction there but you know it also includes the other towns in this valley.  It 

does.  You’re gonna make a decision for Grand Junction but it also includes Fruita, 

Mack, this little town, it will also include some like Palisade, little town out here, what is 

this little town out here…we have out here?  You pass right by it.  Anyway it’s there.  

Those people live here. 



 

 

I’d like to read the first sentence here on this paper I picked up back there 

- planning commission members are dedicated volunteers who work long hours for the 

betterment of our community.  I do not think a strip joint - and that’s what it’s gonna be – 

is for the benefit of our community.  Nobody’s talked anything about anything about 

morals.  But I’d like to lift up a little bit about morals right now and I don’t want to take 

too much more time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  That’s not appropriate for this. 

MR. TEVIS:  But morals should be…should be included because 

that’s what should be included when you make your decision. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  I don’t necessarily disagree with you. 

MR. TEVIS:  I’m not going to bring up Christianity.  I’m not going to 

bring up a lot of things like that, sir.  But I do want to tell you but there’s a lot of people in 

this whole valley think no to this kind of thing.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else who would like to 

speak in opposition? 

MR. JACOB:  My name is Mike Jacob and I want to thank the ladies 

and gentlemen for allowing us to speak our thoughts this evening and just based on 

what we have seen go out at 30 Road with Rumbay and all of the violence and the 

crime that’s been going on out there, the extra police expense to try to keep some of 

that under control I think it’s going to be worse…even worse out here.  There’s gonna 

be more activity, it’s going to be more perverse, it’s going to be worse and I would 

submit that anyone who attends one of these gentlemen’s club is anything but a 

gentleman. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else like to testify this 

evening?  Yes, sir? 



 

 

MR. DEAL:  Good evening.  My name is Robert Deal.  I live at 13 

13 North 18th Street. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Could you say that again, please? 

MR. DEAL:  My name is Robert Deal. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you. 

MR. DEAL:  I live at 13 13 North 18th Street.  I would like to 

present two things here.  First is, I spent 13 years in the military.  I’ve been to a lot of 

gentlemen’s clubs across the world and as somebody said earlier it doesn’t make any 

difference whether it’s on the south side of some little town or upscale European club.  

They all are the same.  The same thing comes out of them. 

The second point I would like to make some of you may have lived in this 

area long enough to remember a place called the Colorado Club out west of here.  

There have been many, many, many people killed returning from Grand Junction from 

that Colorado Club.  Having a place this far out of town, how are these people gonna 

get back and please don’t tell me they don’t get intoxicated and that far out of town 

they’re not gonna call a cab.  You’re gonna find traffic accidents between there and 

Grand Junction rising very significantly including fatalities because of something like 

that.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else?  Is there anyone 

else who would like to speak this evening in opposition to this application?  Okay, 

seeing none we will close the public hearing and we will allow the applicant to come 

back up for any rebuttal that they would like to make. 

MR. SIMS:  Bryan Sims, Design Specialists Architects.  I will 

speak plainly to the merits of what we have attempted to do in our design, the site plan 

and the building design to mitigate the circumstances that have come about that we 



 

 

have talked about tonight.  Also I learned something I wasn’t aware of and that is the 

car dealer bringing up the aspect of increased vandalism in the area.  If this is 

something that is of concern I do know that the police…the police are…if you put 

something like this in an area, the police are well aware of that something is there 

where it is not presently.  That in itself causes increased enforcement in that certain 

area. 

Obviously we can’t solve all the problems of the offsite situations.  That is 

something that…that the infrastructure of the town obviously is going to have to be 

faced with at some point.  But I do want to emphasize that within the…the…the realm of 

us making a presentation for the benefit of our client and trying to design a facility that 

we feel serves not only the physical needs of what our client’s trying to build but his 

business interest this is the type of facility that…that is probably good for Grand 

Junction in…in…in an economic sense. 

As far as getting into morals, I won’t discuss morals either.  I don’t think 

morals is an issue here.  I think really what is an issue here is…is a business person 

doing a reputable business and doing it properly.  That’s why we’re involved in this 

process.  That’s why we were hired to represent this person because we worked with 

this person on other projects and, no, we will not speak to his character but I can speak 

to his character he is a very good character.  So we’re not dealing with some kind of Las 

Vegas immigrant if that’s what we’re worried about. 

I’ll just emphasize the fact that we’ve tried to solve all the problems.  I 

think the planner has emphasized that we have and as this is passed…as this is passed  

in a positive manner we’ll make every attempt and will make every attempt to solve any 

problems that have come up within this commentary.  So we’ll do the best in our 

professional expertise to do that and I think the owner has told me that his management 



 

 

principles, he’ll do everything in his power to mitigate circumstances that have come up 

in the other areas so that’s the best I can give you at this point. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay.  Are there any questions from the 

commission?  Is it appropriate for us to question, Jamie? 

MS. BEARD:  Are you asking if you can question the applicant? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Yes. 

MS. BEARD:  Yes, you’re entitled to do that. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, okay.  Are there questions of the 

applicant?  Okay, hearing none we will bring it back to the commission for discussion.  

Thank you, sir. 

MR. SIMS:  You’re welcome. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  I might ask the city attorney’s office what we 

are to consider this evening.  If you would just summarize that for us. 

MS. BEARD:  As a conditional use permit, then what you are 

supposed to consider is the criteria that is listed for a conditional use permit which 

includes the site plan, the district standards which are those included for an I-1 zone, 

the specific standards which are the use specific standards that we were referring to 

earlier in regards to the adult entertainment and then the availability of complimentary 

uses, compatibility with adjoining properties and that would include protection of privacy, 

description and protection of use and enjoyment and then compatible design and 

integration.  That is your criteria for consideration. 

As to some of the other things that were brought up and concerns that 

were mentioned by some of the testimony, if it doesn’t fit within the criteria and 

consideration for determining whether or not the criteria has been met, then that 

information isn’t the information that you should be considering as relevant. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, thank you.  Let me just make one quick 

comment.  If this is approved at this stage, I realize that many of you as that have come 

tonight think that this is a camel with it’s nose under the tent thing and you’re trying to 

get your…your piece said right at the beginning of it, I understand that.  But we do have 

criteria to…to consider here tonight.  There will be such things as liquor license hearings 

and those types of hearings that…that will come up at a later date and at that time it 

would also if this passes this evening would be appropriate for you to…to give your 

testimony at that time.  Is that…would you agree with that? 

MS. BEARD:  Yes, there will later be…it’s my understanding they 

have not received a liquor license at this time so there would still be a liquor hearing as 

far as approval by the local office which would include Grand Junction. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  And at that time the needs and the desires of 

the neighborhood can be considered.  Okay, with that does the commission have 

comments that they would like to make? 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: I have a question for staff.  In, excuse 

me, in looking over the lot I noticed as has been referred to that there are a couple of 

houses – two of them obviously looked like they were abandoned but one of the…one 

of the on the back had two cats in the yard and a car in the drive.  I don’t remember who 

sang that song but two cats in the front yard and I’m just wondering if it’s been 

determined or ascertained that there’s occupancy in that house?  It looked like it could 

be but here again.... and whether or not that has any bearing or not I’m curious. 

MS. BEARD:  Technically as the criteria indicates that it must be 

zoned for residential property and it is not zoned for residential property, it’s actually I 

believe either I-1 or commercial or no, I’m sorry, it’s actually not in the city at this time so 

I’m not positive exactly what it is in the county but it’s not residential. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: But it is an allowed use and until that 

changes it will be occupied or available to occupancy? 

MS. BEARD:  If I can clarify they just indicated to me that staff has 

that it is actually in the city.  It is I-1 is what it’s present zone is.  And, I’m sorry, then.  

What was the second question you asked there? 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: If it is occupied it can continue to be 

occupied? 

MS. BEARD:  If it is presently occupied and has been used as a 

residential property and has continued to be used as such then they would be able to 

continue that use. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: So they’ve got a residential neighbor in 

other words? 

MS. BEARD:  If they have a residential neighbor…if there’s 

somebody living there but technically it’s not part of the criteria for consideration so I 

don’t know if staff’s made a definite determination of that or not. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: There was a general meeting held, staff, 

for the property? 

MS. COSTELLO: Yes. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay, and there was not a 

neighborhood meeting held, is that correct? 

MS. COSTELLO: No. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  As long as I’m… 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  I think a point of clarification on the…on 

the zoning thing if I’m not mistaken it was probably residential or farm ground much 



 

 

prior to it ever being industrial.  That’s just an observation of being a resident for 42 

years.  Farm ground before it was industrial.  Anyway. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Is the property to the…to the west 

zoned I-1 also across Millex Road or whatever that is? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Colex Drive. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Colex. 

MS. COSTELLO: This is the zoning map for the property and the 

surrounding area.  To the east, north and west all of those properties are zoned I-1 and 

the property south of G Road is zoned C-2. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay, so potentially within the criteria of 

the zoning matrix it…we could have x number of applications for bars and nightclubs to 

the west of this property? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Potentially. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  Because that’s germane to the… 

MS. COSTELLO:  It is an allowed use with the C-U-P. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: And the criteria in chapter 4?  So as 

long as they meet the criteria we could end up with 5, 8, 10 bars out there? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Potentially if it met the criteria. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: A neighborhood of gentlemen’s clubs, 

right? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Well, for the gentlemen club, for the adult 

entertainment component, there is the thousand foot spacing requirement between uses 

but if they met the requirements. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay.  I still have a problem with the 

understanding of what we’re really…what we’re really grueling on this evening.  We 



 

 

have specific designated jurisdiction over bar nightclub and we have no jurisdiction if 

they weren’t a bar nightclub but they were an adult entertainment club? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Correct. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: I have…I have a real problem.  They 

have come before us as we have been given a staff report that asks for a C-U-P to 

operate a bar nightclub in an I-1 zone district and that’s required in order for them to 

operate and the two areas of consideration for this as you have described because of 

the adult entertainment have added chapter 4.  Is that correct?  We would be going by 

2.2.D 4 if it weren’t for the adult entertainment portion describing by definitions adult 

entertainment and adult entertainment establishments.  Those are definite definition 

descriptions for the process that the city recognizes to control or to oversee adult 

entertainment.  Is that correct? 

MS. BEARD:  Those are the use specific standards that are set forth 

in the code in regards to adult entertainment.  Correct. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: And that’s what you’re telling us we 

need to also consider along with the…the aspects.  Those are called accessory use 

specific aspects, right? 

MS. BEARD:  And as they are part of the actual criteria for a 

conditional use permit then it is part of your consideration to say yes it has or has not 

been met. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Okay, but section 2.2.D 4 is really the 

zoning ordinances that we need to look at and personally after reviewing the area of 

buffering I’m sure and have been assured by the applicant that there will be adequate 

parking, there will be fine lighting, there’ll be I understand a fence or some kind of a 

buffer item.  Building design standards seem to be in order.  The sign conditions I 



 

 

wasn’t sure about the sign conditions but they appear…we didn’t get a copy of that by 

the way I don’t think, did we in our packet?  But I looked at them as they came by and 

they looked like they conform. 

Traffic is still a question mark in my mind.  That is a dangerous stretch of 

road especially at the corner of 23rd and G and I believe they’re going to be doing 

something about that, mister engineer.  Is that correct?  And so that definitely has 

already been earmarked as a danger area.  Well, this will add traffic and probably quite 

a bit. 

But I can’t take issue with the…with those particular things but as I review 

the growth plan I have deep concerns that consistency with the growth plan have not 

been met.  If we refer to goals and policies that substantiate an integral part of this 

program, goal number one states that the proposal must achieve a balance with the 

integrity of the communities’ neighborhoods.  Communities’ neighborhoods is greater 

in…by definition of the word nomenclature and logology of it is different than that 

neighborhood immediately adjacent to the property.  Neighborhoods opens the expanse 

and I would in my own mind consider Grand Junction as part of that extended 

neighborhood. 

The word integrity sticks out in that…in that policy.  It’s my understanding 

of integrity that adherence to moral principle and character are directly related to 

understanding the meaning of that word.  Another way of looking at it and I came up 

with a way of preserving the unimpaired structure of something and I contend this 

evening that the neighborhoods of Grand Junction are that unimpaired structure that 

we’re trying to preserve by due diligence. 

A sub-policy within goal one states city and county decisions about the 

type and intensity of land uses will be consistent with the future land use and map and 



 

 

planned policies.  And goal number eleven states to promote stable neighborhoods and 

land use compatibility throughout the community.  If the first goal didn’t broaden it 

enough this certainly does.  And policy 11 1 further stresses the compatibility with the 

zoning codes including other sources of incompatibility and I’m quoting directly from the 

policies and the goals. 

So I believe the evidences of incompatibility expressed by the public here 

tonight as well as the preponderance of letters coming to us including those that we 

didn’t get a chance to look at tonight do in fact express an opinion about the 

compatibility in our community.  I don’t believe that a bar, and I’m looking at this now a 

little different than you’re looking at it, and I may be…I may stand corrected someday, 

I’m looking at it for the fact that this property could be an automatic use with 

administrative approval without our consent if it were…had no drinking on the premises.  

But because it has drinking on the premises, I’m separating this in my mind and saying 

is this a bar nightclub application as required under our jurisdiction and I say it is and I 

say in my opinion it has…it is not a fit for Grand Junction and I don’t’ believe the goals 

of the growth plan and the lifestyle that’s exercised within the building are also a fit for 

Grand Junction.  Therefore, I would have to consider a no vote. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.   

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  Mr. Chairman? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  Without going into the detail that my 

cohort Doctor Dibble did, there’s really two things that I have based an opinion on and 

that is the compatibility with the neighborhood, with the growth plan and in the I-1 zone 

area but I’ll throw in another one and that is a benefit to the community – the entire 

community – the entire Mesa County within 200 miles of us.  And then there was a 



 

 

comment made…well, I won’t refer to that…but those I will…I will underscore what 

Doctor Dibble said and add to it the benefit to the community but he already mentioned 

the neighborhood and consequently I cannot support the proposal as presented. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: I didn’t….when I got out of college I was 

a bartender for five years.  I didn’t realize I was such a rotten person until tonight.  I 

don’t disagree with some of the comments that have been made.  I do have or think that 

the…if…if that’s the prevailing opinion then it would call for a rewrite of the uses by right 

or the conditional uses and I think it’s awfully late in the game to be proposing that.  And 

in light of that I would vote in favor of it. 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM: We have been advised by staff that the 

courts have held that this kind of thing is protected by the…I guess amendment one of 

the U. S. Constitution - free speech.  You may not agree with looking at unclad women 

as free speech but that’s immaterial.  We have to be governed by what the Supreme 

Court says and I can’t buy the allegation it doesn’t make it true just because somebody 

says it’s true that automatically the…the establishment of someplace like this is…is 

gonna produce drunkenness, disorderly conduct, bad driving, vandalism, et cetera.  It 

may be true but just saying it doesn’t make it true.  It seems to me that the staff’s 

argument that…that we ought to approve this and they say they recommend it should 

be taken seriously and I…I’m prepared to take their recommendation. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, anyone else like to make a comment this 

evening?  I would just like to make a couple of comments.  I happen to agree that most 

of the conditions that have been expressed by staff have been met.  I….I have certain 

personal feelings concerning this matter that I…I cannot or will not consider and as I 

look at this I’ve listened to all of the testimony; however, I think that Doctor Dibble has 



 

 

made a very valid point and that is the compatibility to the neighborhood and I would 

have to agree with him that the neighborhood is in fact the city of Grand Junction.  I may 

be called into question about thinking that and so with that in mind I will have to vote no 

on this application.  Does anyone else like to speak?  Hearing none, we are ready for a 

motion on the….on the application this evening. 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: Mr. Chairman, on the bar nightclub 

conditional use permit, C-P-U, 2008-158, I move that the planning commission approve 

of the conditional use permit with the facts and conclusions listed in the staff report. 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  Second. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  We do have a motion and a second.  I think I 

will ask for a roll call vote on this. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Pitts? 

COMMISSIONER PITTS:  No. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Pavelka-Zarkesh? 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH: No. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Dibble? 

COMMISSIONER DIBBLE: No. 

MS. SINGER: Chairman Cole? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  No. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Putnam? 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM: Aye. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Lowrey? 

COMMISSIONER LOWREY: Yes. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Carlow? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: Aye. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Motion fails so the application has been 

denied.  Is there any other business to come before the commission this evening?  

Hearing none, we are adjourned. 

END OF VERBATIM MINUTES. 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

GRAND JUNCTION CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 5, 2008 

 
The City Council of the City of Grand Junction convened into regular session on the 5th 
day of November 2008 at 7:00 p.m. in the City Auditorium.  Those present were 
Councilmembers Bonnie Beckstein, Teresa Coons, Jim Doody, Bruce Hill, Doug 
Thomason, and Council President Gregg Palmer.  Councilmember Linda Romer Todd 
was absent.   Also present were City Manager Laurie Kadrich, City Attorney John Shaver, 
and City Clerk Stephanie Tuin.   
 
Council President Palmer called the meeting to order.  Councilmember Coons led in the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Council President Palmer announced that no additional public testimony will be taken on 
Item #5, the appeal.  It is an appeal on the record only and no new testimony can be 
taken. 
 
Certificates of Appointment 

 
Mark Abbott, Patrick Carlow, and Ebe Eslami were present to receive their Certificates of 
Appointment to the Planning Commission. 
 
Presentations 
 
Stephanie Tuin, City Clerk, gave a report on the Election Results.  She reviewed the 
phenomenal turnout of the City voters and then pointed out the number of those that did 
not vote on items 2A and 2B. 
 
Councilmember Hill thanked City Clerk Stephanie Tuin for her work with Kids Voting 
which also had a great turnout. 
 
Citizen Comments 
 
There were none. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Council President Palmer asked that item #1 be pulled for individual consideration. 
 
Councilmember Thomason read items on the Consent Calendar, and moved to approve 
the Consent Calendar items #2 and #3.  Councilmember Beckstein seconded the motion. 
Motion carried by roll call vote with Councilmember Hill recusing himself from the vote on 
Item #3, Colorado Avenue construction contract. 
1. Contract to Purchase Property at 302 S. 7th Street 
 
 City Staff has negotiated with the owners of 302 S. 7th Street, Bert W. Younger, 

Dan L. Younger, and Glen R. Younger, for purchase of the property. The 



 

 

negotiations have been successful and a purchase contract for $321,678.00 has 
been signed by both parties. 

 
Action:  Moved to individual consideration. 

 
2. Setting a Hearing on the Loy Rezone, Located at 2872 F Road [File #RZ-2008-

273] 
 

A request to rezone 1.425 acres from R-5 (Residential, 5 DU/Ac) zone district to 
RO (Residential Office) zone district located at 2872 F Road. 
 
Proposed Ordinance Rezoning a Parcel of Land from R-5 (Residential– 5 DU/Ac) 
To RO (Residential Office) Located At 2872 F Road 
 
Action:  Introduction on Proposed Ordinance and Set a Hearing for November 19, 
2008 
 

3. Construction Contract for Colorado Avenue Reconstruction Project Phase II, 
Landscape and Irrigation 

 
 This project consists of installation of irrigation system and landscape for Colorado 

Avenue from 2nd Street to 7th Street, including two (2) parking lots in the 500 and 
600 blocks. 

 
 Action:  Authorize the City Manager to Sign a Construction Contract for the 

Colorado Avenue Reconstruction Project Phase II Landscape and Irrigation to 
Urban Farmer, Inc. in the Amount of $207,694.98 

 
   ITEMS NEEDING INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 
 
Contract to Purchase Property at 302 S. 7th Street 
 
City Staff has negotiated with the owners of 302 S. 7th Street, Bert W. Younger, Dan L. 
Younger, and Glen R. Younger, for purchase of the property. The negotiations have been 
successful and a purchase contract for $321,678.00 has been signed by both parties. 
 
City Attorney John Shaver reviewed this item.  He described the location of the property.  
The property is for the future Public Safety Facility. 
 
Councilmember Hill noted there are some items in the budget that are linked for the 
Public Safety Initiative.  He noted that the project is a priority project for the City Council.  
The funding option is what was defeated.    With the funding option not being approved, 
other options will need to be explored with those folks that did not favor the funding 
options put forward. He is comfortable with continuing to use those funds budgeted for the 
initiative. 
 
Councilmember Coons agreed; the defeat of the ballot measures does not mean the 
need has gone away.  She supports the continuation of the project.  Additionally, the City 
negotiated in good faith with the Younger family and should go forward. 



 

 

 
Councilmember Thomason stated the reason this was taken off the Consent Calendar 
was to reiterate that the project is still a priority. 
 
Councilmember Doody agreed, stating assemblage of the property is still good business. 
 
Council President Palmer said he has discomfort about going forward when the matter 
was just defeated.  He felt that there still needs to be an analysis as to why the vote was a 
defeat.  However, he does still support the project. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein said the defeat was due to funding and may have been the 
economic situation of the nation.  The need is still there.  The City needs to go forward 
and get prepared.  The project is already fifteen years too late. 
  
Resolution No. 139-08—A Resolution Ratifying the Contract to Purchase Real Property 
Located at 302 S. 7th Street, Grand Junction 
 
Councilmember Thomason moved to approve Resolution No. 139-08.  Councilmember 
Beckstein seconded.  Motion carried by roll call vote with Council President Palmer voting 
NO. 
 
Public Hearing—Merkel Growth Plan Amendment, Located at 769 24 ½ Road and 
766 24 Road [File #GPA-2006-126] 
 
Request to amend the Growth Plan, changing the Future Land Use designation from 
Estate (1 DU/2-5 Ac) to Commercial for property located at 769 24 ½ Road and 766 24 
Road. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:21 p.m. 
 
David Thornton, Principal Planner, presented this item.  He described the location, the 
site and the proposal.  He entered the Staff Report into the record.  The current 
designation of the property is Estate and it is surrounded by Estate designated land.  
The property is about 15 acres.  The current zoning is partially rural and the Merkel 
property is awaiting zoning since being annexed.  There was a development proposal 
for a shopping center for the property but that was withdrawn.  Now the property owners 
have asked to go forward with the Growth Plan designation and then the zoning.  Two 
of the parcels (Parcels 4 and 5) are already zoned Commercial. 
 
Mr. Thornton then addressed the North Central Valley Plan and its recommendation for 
this site.  There are access issues for the southern most parcels. 
 
Mr. Thornton reviewed the history of these parcels being brought into the Persigo Sewer 
Service boundary.  All of these parcels were recommended for commercial uses in that 
study (Sub Area Plan). 
 
With a Growth Plan Amendment, there are criteria to be reviewed.  The review was as 
follows: 
 



 

 

a. There was an error such that then existing facts, projects or trends (that were 
reasonably foreseeable) were not accounted for.  Mr. Thornton did not believe 
the designation was due to an error. 

 
b. Subsequent events have invalidated the original premises and findings.  It was 

Mr. Thornton’s opinion that with the continued growth in the community and the 
analysis done regarding traffic and access issues in the 24 Road corridor north of 
I-70, particularly for the 57 acres which includes the 15 acres already designated 
commercial, the original premise to establish the commercial boundary confined 
to only the two parcels totaling the 15 acres as the only area that should be 
commercial is no longer valid.  This includes traffic access issues on 24 Road, 
noise impacts from I-70 and the visibility of this site for commercial purposes. 

 
c. The character and/or condition of the area have changed enough that the 

amendment is acceptable.  Mr. Thornton advised that the character of the 
Appleton area as well as the traffic using the 24 Road interchange shows that the 
neighborhood has been and continues to be developing with urban land uses.  I-
70 continues to see an increase in daily traffic which increases the noise and 
traffic impacts to 24 Road.  A commercial designation is more appropriate for all 
properties located on the north side along I-70 between 24 Road and 24 ½ Road.  
The south side of I-70 is Canyon View Park, a park facility that at times serves 
hundreds, even thousands of visitors on the same day, with it traffic and other 
impacts to the urban environment.  All of this supports a change to this Land Use 
designation. 

 
d. The change is consistent with the goals and policies of the plan, including 

applicable special area, neighborhood and corridor plans.  Mr. Thornton referred 
to the plans and goals this change would fulfill. 

 
The 1998 North Central Valley Plan recommends non-residential highway 
oriented services at the northeast corner of Interstate 70 and 24 Road. 

 
 The amendment is consistent with goals of the Growth Plan.  It is important to 

ensure that the Future Land Use Map designates sufficient land in appropriate 
locations to accommodate anticipated demand for each land use category. 

 
e. Public and community facilities are adequate to serve the type and scope of the 

land use proposed.  Mr. Thornton advised that there are adequate public facilities 
currently available and can address the impacts of any development consistent 
with a “Commercial” designation.  The Colorado Department of Transportation 
completed interchange improvements including a double round-about at I-70 and 
24 Road a couple of years ago which has increased the capacity and safety of 
this interchange and provided increased capacity for traffic to this site. 

 
f. An inadequate supply of suitably designated land is available in the proposed 

land use.  Mr. Thornton stated that the commercial areas already designated are 
too limited in size and the existing commercially designated property has access 
issues so would not fulfill the need. 

 



 

 

g. The community or area, as defined by the presiding body, will derive benefits 
from the proposed amendment.  Mr. Thornton advised the change will provide 57 
acres on a site with highway visibility and flat terrain that is heavily impacted by 
highway noise.  Commercial uses in this area will act as a buffer and transitional 
area from a high impact area (a busy interstate highway system) to less intensive 
land uses north of the site.  With the visibility for business, economic value can 
be realized for the community. 
 

In conclusion, he believes the request is consistent with the intent of the Growth Plan 
and recommends approval.  Planning Commission also recommended approval. 
 
The applicant was not present. 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:39 p.m. 
 
Councilmember Hill noted the Council is familiar with this area due to its review for 
inclusion in the Persigo 201 boundary.  He believes the request meets the criteria of the 
Growth Plan Amendment and would support the change. 
 
Councilmember Doody said the potential for the development of this property is huge, 
as demonstrated while the previous shopping mall application was being processed.  
This property has potential and he supports the change in designation. 
 
Resolution No. 140-08—A Resolution Amending the Growth Plan of the City of Grand 
Junction to Designate 42.28 Acres, Located at 769 24 ½ Road and 766 24 Road, 
Known as the Merkel Growth Plan Amendment, from Residential Estate (1 DU/2-5 Ac) 
to Commercial 
 
Councilmember Thomason moved to adopt Resolution No. 140-08.  Councilmember Hill 
seconded the motion.  Motion carried by roll call vote. 
 
Appeal of the Planning Commission’s Decision Regarding a Conditional Use 
Permit for a Bar/Nightclub [File #CUP-2008-158] 
 
An appeal has been filed regarding the Planning Commission’s decision to deny a 
Conditional Use Permit for a Bar/Nightclub, to be located at 2256 and 2258 Colex Drive. 
The project sits on 1 lot in an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district.  (The project will include 
leased parking spaces from the lot immediately to the north.)  This appeal is pursuant to 
Section 2.18.E of the Zoning and Development Code, which specifies that the City 
Council is the appellate body of the Planning Commission.  According to Section 
2.18.E.4.h, no new evidence or testimony may be presented, except City Staff may be 
asked to interpret materials contained in the record. 
 
John Shaver, City Attorney, reviewed the process for this action.  The City Council is the 
appellant body for some decisions made by the Planning Commission; this is one such 
item.  The Planning Commission reviewed this item and the request was denied.  That 
denial has been appealed to the City Council.  The City Council was provided the 



 

 

complete record including a video of the Planning Commission proceedings in order to 
consider the appeal.  The Code allows the City Council to approve, reverse, or remand 
the application.  City Attorney Shaver explained each one of those actions.  In order to 
reverse or remand the application, the City Council should find one the following: 
 
(1) The decision-maker may have acted in a manner inconsistent with the provisions of 
this Code or other applicable local, State or Federal law; or 
 
(2) The decision-maker may have made erroneous findings of fact based on the 
evidence and testimony on the record; or 
 
(3) The decision-maker may have failed to fully consider mitigating measures or 
revisions offered by the applicant that would have brought the proposed project into 
compliance; or 
 
(4) The decision-maker may have acted arbitrarily, acted capriciously, and/or abused its 
discretion; and 
 
(5) In addition to one (1) or more of the above findings, the appellate body shall find the 
appellant was present at the hearing during which the original decision was made or 
was otherwise on the official record concerning the development application. 
 
The City Council is not to substitute their judgment for the Planning Commission. 
 
Councilmember Thomason said he did review the record and his thought was to 
remand the matter back to the Planning Commission with some direction, that being to 
narrow the scope of the discussion as it pertains to the definition of the neighborhood. 
 
Councilmember Coons asked about the precedence in the definition of the 
neighborhood and what are the allowable uses in that zone district. 
 
City Attorney Shaver said there is not specific legal precedent as to the definition of a 
neighborhood.  It should be accorded the common definition; it is generally not 
encompassing the entire community.  The Planning Commission used a much more 
expansive definition than the common definition. 
 
Council President Palmer asked if the Planning Commission has ever used the 
community as the definition of the neighborhood.  Neither City Attorney Shaver nor 
Assistant City Attorney Beard could recall such a time. 
 
Senta Costello, Senior Planner, stated the allowed uses for this zone district range from 
general office uses, veterinary clinics, parking lots, to public service businesses. 
 
Councilmember Coons asked what would be a use by right for this type of business.  
Ms. Costello said, with this business, it is the bar component that triggered the 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP). 
 
Council President Palmer clarified that it was the alcohol application that triggered the 
CUP.  Ms. Costello replied affirmatively. 



 

 

 
Councilmember Beckstein asked that without the alcohol, it would have been a use by 
right.  Ms. Costello said yes, it would have only had a site plan review. 
 
Council President Palmer asked if the City could outlaw certain types of businesses.  
City Attorney Shaver said the City can do that but whether it is constitutional is the 
question.  It would not be; it is protected under the First Amendment. 
 
City Attorney Shaver read the definition of a neighborhood from the City Zoning Code. 
 
Councilmember Coons noted that many people in the community feel this type of 
business is distasteful and morally wrong but the City Council must follow the City 
requirements.  She is hesitant to designate the entire community as a neighborhood.  
She agrees with Councilmember Thomason to remand the matter back to the Planning 
Commission with the instruction that they consider it under the normal definition of a 
neighborhood. 
 
Councilmember Doody agreed, adding they should consider it like any other 
establishment under the CUP process. 
 
Councilmember Hill noted that most of the objections received were about the 
gentlemen’s club part, not the service of alcohol.  Unless it is an activity that is unlawful, 
the City has to make it allowable.  It is heavily regulated so they are upholding some 
community values.  This body cannot just say no because they don’t like it, that creates 
a risk for a legal situation.  Even the denial of the CUP would not stop the gentlemen’s 
club activity.  He supported remanding the matter back to the Planning Commission with 
the instruction for them to focus on the definition of a neighborhood and on the reason 
for the CUP. 
 
Council President Palmer reiterated the purpose of the City Council sitting as the 
appellant body and their charge under those criteria.  He stated that the Planning 
Commission may have acted in a manner inconsistent with the provisions of this Code 
or other applicable local, State or Federal law and they may have made erroneous 
findings of fact based on the evidence and testimony on the record so he also agrees 
with remanding the matter back to the Planning Commission. 
 
Councilmember Coons moved to remand the matter back to the Planning Commission 
with the instruction for them to define neighborhood in the traditional sense in their 
consideration.  The motion was seconded by Councilmember Hill.  Motion carried. 
 
Non-Scheduled Citizens & Visitors 
 
There were none. 
 
Other Business 
 
There was none. 
 
Adjournment 



 

 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:09 p.m. 
 
 
 
Stephanie Tuin, MMC 
City Clerk 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

From:  Greg Moberg 
To: Senta Costello 
Date:  10/24/2008 10:06 AM 
Subject:  Fwd: Gentleman's Club 
 
 
 
>>> Belinda White 10/24/2008 7:48 AM >>> 
  
  
Belinda White 
Senior Administrative Assistant 
City of Grand Junction 
Administration 
(970) 244-1508 
 
 
>>> "Mike MacFarlane" <macjehu@gmail.com> 10/23/2008 7:42 PM >>> 
Dear City Council, 
     I would like to take a minute to ask you to stand in opposition to the appeal by the "gentleman's club".  I feel the right decision 
was made by the planning commission when they choose to deny them the right to go forward with their plans. 
     They choose to look at the entire city as the neighborhood and denied the petition on those grounds.  I feel this is the right 
choice. 
     As a Pastor in this city I have hade the opportunity to minister to many of the girls and bouncers form the former club that 
opperated in our city.  My wife and I took in one of the dancers for a period of time and have had many of them in our Church.   
     I can say without exception, these young girls and young men have been deeply scared by their experiences and take into their 
lives the fall out from this line or work.  The two ways these women tend to end up are one, very bitter and in denial of any issues, 
or two, they have such low esteem they typically end up in abusive relationships and feel that is what they deserve. 
     The men tend to look at the women in their lives as a commodity rather than somebody special to be cherished and thereby 
destroy their homes, leaving scared women and children in their wake. 
     These young men and women have high rates of STD's, mental issues, and law enforcement encounters, while typically being 
single parents receiving public help of some sort.  
     I am confident the argument will be made that there is no negative impact on the community but I have found that to be false.  
None of the employees will live within 1000 feet, a block, or probably even a half mile of the business and they are the most 
affected with the customers being a close second.  That tells me the influence of this business will be far reaching.  It will effect the 
neighborhoods we all live in, the schools that the cast off kids will attend, the health care system, the public assistance system, and 
the legal system.   
     With these things in mind, I am sure you can see that the planning commission was correct in their assessment of the impact of 
this type of establishment.  I know your decision will not be made on personal ideals relating to morality.  That was not the place of 
the planning commission in the original decision nor will it be yours in looking at this appeal.  However, it is your place to consider 
weather the planning commission judged accurately in it's belief that the "neighborhood" was larger than the name might ordinarily 
imply.  I believe you will not find any grounds to overturn their carefully thought out position.  Every study you will find comes to 
the same conclusions concerning these type of businesses.  They leave a mess in their wake. 
                                                                                     Thank you for your time.   
                                                                                     Pastor Mike MacFarlane 
                                                                                     970-270-3205 
                                                                                     2808 Bookcliff ave. 
                                                                                     Grand Junction, CO 81501 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

From:  Planning planning 
To: Senta Costello 
Date:  11/6/2008 2:13 PM 
Subject:  Fwd: Hearing re Matter of 'Gentlemen's Club,' 11-5-08 
 
 
 
>>> "Sisco, N." <sisco78@bresnan.net> 11/3/2008 3:29 PM >>> 
City of Grand Junction Planning Commission 
Re:  Hearing, Matter of 'Gentlemen's Club,' scheduled for consideration, p.m., 11-5-08 
 
Gentlemen: 
 
As persons that would be made genuinely and greatly aware and have strong persuasions against 
permitting a 'Gentlemen's Club' in Grand Junction, we firmly belief such a club to be out of character, 
unwanted, and certainly UNNECESSARY.  Such 'clubs' have no redeeming value, and open a whole can of 
worms that are an expense and blight on the community, foster lawlessness and do nothing but tear 
down decency.   
 
We firmly believe that this community is better for not having such a club, and respectfully ask your 
consideration of our position regarding this matter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Mr. and Mrs. H. N. Sisco 
 
670 1/2 W. Moorland Cir. 
Grand Junction, CO  81504 
sisco78@bresnan.net  
970-434-2198 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 
Dear Mr. Lowrey, 
  We are citizens of Grand Jct who are concerned about the possible topless bar.  
  The location in one concern because of its easy access to the entrance of I-70. This would make a great 
escape route for criminals. And we all know that the use of alcohol adds to the problem.  
  According to the Police Dept., the intersection of I-70B and G Rd. is one of the worst in the city for 
accidents. Plus the increased need for police patrols, which would increase the cost for the city. 
  And all of this besides our concern for the young people of our community.  
  Thank you for considering our concerns. 
  Sincerely, Glenn and Shirley Ewing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Mr. Cole, 
  We are concerned Grand Jct community citizens regarding the topless bar that is being considered. 
  We believe this would increase the crime that comes with drinking, which would increase the need for 
police patrols, which would increase cost for the city. 
  The Police Dept. has said the intersection at I-70B and G Road is one of the worst in the city for 
accidents. 
  Also, we are concerned for the youth in our community. This would be a very poor example to them. 
  Thank you for considering our concerns. 
  Sincerely, Glenn and Shirley Ewing 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 

 



 

 

Verbatim Minutes 
Planning Commission Hearing - November 25, 2008 
 
Bar/Nightclub & Office/Warehouse – Conditional Use Permit 
Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a bar/nightclub on 2.01 acres in an I-1 
(Light Industrial) zone district.  Request remanded back to Planning Commission on 
November 5, 2008 by City Council. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-158 
PETITIONER: Kevin Eardley 
LOCATION: 2256, 2258 Colex Drive 
STAFF: Senta Costello, Senior Planner 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  The first…the first and only item on this tonight is the 

bar nightclub and office warehouse conditional use permit.  It’s a request approval of a 

conditional use permit for a bar nightclub on 2.01 acres in an I-1, light industrial, zone 

district.  This request is remanded back to Planning Commission on November 5th, 2008 

by City Council.  Lisa, are you going to start? 

MS. COX:  Well, I’m going to just open with a couple of comments so, 

good evening, Planning Commission and Mr. Chairman, Lisa Cox, planning manager 

with the City of Grand Junction.  I did just want to clarify for…for the audience viewing at 

home, for our audience here this evening and for the Planning Commission that 

the…the item before you this evening is for a request for a conditional use permit for a 

bar and a nightclub.  There’s been a lot of press and attention been given to the adult 

entertainment portion of this application but the item before you and the item that’s here 

to be approved this evening is a conditional use permit for a bar and a nightclub.  You 

need to take the other items into consideration but I just wanted to be very clear that 

there was a distinction between the adult entertainment and the conditional permit 

request before you this evening.  Jamie Beard, Assistant City Attorney, also has a few 

words to…to share with you before you begin the presentation this evening. 



 

 

MS. BEARD:  Thank you, Lisa.  I’m Jamie Beard, Assistant City Attorney, 

and again just to help clarify for some of the people here in the audience and also for 

those who are watching at home there have been many objections that have been 

presented to the city that were included along with the staff report that was prepared for 

you that they were objecting to this use particularly being allowed within the City of 

Grand Junction and the use is focused more on the adult entertainment portion of the 

use that’s part of this application and I wanted to just make clear that that use is allowed 

within the City of Grand Junction. 

Our zoning and development code does allow it and the zoning and development 

code was adopted and approved in such a manner because of the decisions that had 

been made by the Supreme Court of the United States and those decisions were based 

on the fact that the justices had determined that this type of entertainment is considered 

expressive conduct and since it is considered expressive conduct they consider it to be 

basically covered under the Free Speech requirements of our First Amendment.  And so 

though we may be allowed to make some restrictions where it’s concerned, we can’t not 

allow it all together and some of those restrictions that we have to consider are the time, 

manner and place and our zoning and development code has taken those into 

consideration already in saying that adult entertainment is allowed in either the C-1, the 

C-2, the I-1 or the I-2 zone districts.  And the site that we’re dealing with here this 

evening you’ll be informed is actually in the I-1 zone district. 

The other restrictions that you can take into consideration are whether or not this 

site is within at least a thousand feet of another adult entertainment site that’s been 

approved or within a thousand feet of a church, a school, a playground, a park or a 

residentially zoned property.  That’s the information that you’re going to get to consider 

in regards to the adult entertainment. 



 

 

The reason that this is here before you tonight is because it’s also included with a 

bar nightclub application.  If this was just the adult entertainment request then you 

would not even have it come before you this evening.  It would have been approved 

administratively by staff.  But it’s because of the bar nightclub matter that it’s here 

before you and then you have to look at the criteria that is included for a conditional use 

permit.  And one of the major differences with that conditional use permit that you’re 

going to be considering it is to be sure that this particular use on this site is compatible 

with the adjoining properties that are around it.  Do you have any other questions? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any questions of the City Attorney? 

MS. BEARD:  Okay, thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, before we get into it I have a couple remarks I 

would like to…to make.  This item…item was heard on August 12th.  It was a split 

decision to deny the application and the applicant, as is their right, appealed to City 

Council for a rehearing.  City Council - they are the policy makers of the city - and they 

make…make the rules for us to follow.  They remanded this back to the Planning 

Commission with instructions and let me just read those instructions – the Planning 

Commission interpretation of neighborhood in relation to this request was too broad.  

City Council gave direction to the Planning Commission to rehear the request keeping in 

mind the definition of neighborhood as defined by the zoning and development code.  

The C-U-P requirement is…and item 2, the C-U-P requirement is triggered by the fact 

that the applicant seeks to construct and operate a bar nightclub in an I-1 zone rather 

than by the type or types of entertainment offered at the establishment.  So we have 

those…those guidelines. 

We have received a number of letters concerning this item.  The Planning 

Commission has copies of those letters both from the hearing in August as well as the 



 

 

hearing tonight and we have read those letters.  In addition to that we have verbatim 

copies of the minutes from that hearing as it went before and so that also has been read 

by Planning Commission members and these are already a part of the record.  

Therefore, if you have sent a letter it’s not necessary that you read that letter to us.  All 

of us up here are able to read so we have read those letters and would appreciate if you 

not do that and it is already in the record as I’ve already said. 

So with that I would open it for…for the staff to make the presentation concerning 

this and he may repeat some of the things that I’ve said which is just fine because we all 

know that repetition helps in learning and understanding these things. 

MR. MOBERG: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the Planning 

Commission, Greg Moberg, Planning Services Supervisor for the Public Works and 

Planning Department.  Again the request that is before you tonight is a conditional use 

permit for a bar and nightclub in an I-1, a light industrial zone.  The property is located 

on…at the intersection of G Road and Colex Drive.  The surrounding land use on the 

property is vacant to the north and to the west; we have a residence that is zoned I-1 

located to the east and then we do have a car lot sales lot to the south.  The future land 

use map on the property designates the site as commercial industrial and the existing 

zoning on the property is I-1.  Again there is I-1 to the north, the west and the east and 

C-2 to the south. 

On August 12th, 2008, there was a public hearing that was held by Planning 

Commission to review this.  The Planning Commission did deny the conditional use 

permit.  On August 22nd there was an appeal of that decision to City Council and that 

appeal was remanded back to Planning Commission for the reasons that the Chair has 

pointed out.  I’d like to go through section 2.2.D.4 which is the criteria to approve a 

conditional use permit for a bar and nightclub.  The proposal does conform with the 



 

 

growth plan as identified in the staff report.  There are no other conditions on the site 

that this approval would or this request would affect the approval of those conditions.  

The code requirements for the zone district…the bulk standards, dimensional 

standards, parking, landscaping and buffering…landscape buffering have all been met 

or exceeded.  The I-1 zone district…the standards for the chapter 3 have all been met 

and those are the dimensional standards. 

I would also like to point out that and this is where the use does come into a 

certain degree.  We are required to look at the use specific standards in chapter 4 and I 

would point out that staff has reviewed those standards for adult entertainment.  The 

specific standards for the adult entertainment is basically they have to be a thousand 

foot buffer from any other adult entertainment, any church, any school, park, 

playground, public building or residentially zoned property and staff has reviewed that 

and this…this request does meet all those standards. 

There are other standards that are located within chapter 4 that have to do with 

conduct and things that are happening within the building and the applicant will have to 

follow those as they go through or as they’re using the site.  And this…the slide that’s 

before you shows that thousand foot buffer that we did look at and there are no facilities 

that would disallow that type of use within or on this property. 

I’d also like to point out that the eastern property line has a 10 to 15 foot 

landscape strip adjacent to the parking area which includes shrubs ranging in the height 

of 3 to 6 feet in height to help maintain the privacy of the neighboring properties.  That’s 

one of the requirements under section 2.2.  The police department has reviewed this 

plan and has suggested modifications in the design to reduce secondary effects and the 

applicant has incorporated those requests into their design.  I would also like to point 

out that the proposed…proposed bar site…well let me back up just a hair. 



 

 

One of the things that did occur in your last meeting was a concern about 

the…the car lot…the use or the sales car lot to the south of the property.  We took a 

look at that to make sure that we had enough buffering that it did meet the requirements 

to try and take care of any problems that would occur on that site.  And the proposed 

site is approximately 90 feet from this Western Slope property separated by G Road 

which is classified as a minor arterial.  The subdivision…the previous subdivision that 

was approved and developed for this property provided a 6 foot wood privacy fence and 

a 14 foot landscape tract along that southern property line and which this also serves 

with that buffering from the C-2 property.  We’d also like to point out that the Western 

Slope side property to the south also has a 6 foot high chain link fence on the perimeter 

with 3 strands of barbed wire on top. 

In conclusion I would like to make the statement that after review of the bar and 

nightclub application for a conditional use permit the request does meet or is consistent 

with the growth plan, the review criteria of section 2…of section 2, the parking, excuse 

me, also that the parking must be provided.  There is one condition and that’s why you’ll 

see the site plan that shows the property to the north and the property to the south.  

There is one condition that we are requiring there is a shared parking agreement 

between the two so that both uses…uses can use this parking that’s in between both 

sites so that is a condition of our recommendation.  With that I would recommend that 

Planning Commission approve the requested conditional use permit with the findings, 

facts and conditions that are listed in your staff report.  If you have any questions, I’d be 

more than happy to answer them at this time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Questions of staff? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: What changes did the police department 

recommend on this? 



 

 

MR. MOBERG: The changes had to do with the material that were…that was 

being planted.  They had to do with a little more lower line so that if a police car drove 

by they could see through… 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: …a visual. 

MR. MOBERG: …and doesn’t create a… 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: …visual. 

MR. MOBERG: …buffer.  Exactly. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Further questions? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Greg, is that…are they going to… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Would you speak into the mic. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Are they going to build the nightclub first or the 

warehouse first? 

MR. MOBERG: My understanding is they’re going to build the nightclub first. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: So they would provide a fence to that property? 

MR. MOBERG: There is already a fence located along the south end. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: No, on the north side. 

MR. MOBERG: There…oh, you mean up here? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: No, down. 

MR. MOBERG: In the middle? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: In between the two properties. 

MR. MOBERG: There is no fence requirement between the two properties. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: But if they do not (inaudible) that and put fence 

around it.  But there’s a fence around the other one? 

MR. MOBERG: Yeah.  The property to the south that I was discussing, the 

Western Slope property, is actually located south of G… 



 

 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: I’m talking about the north, the north. 

MR. MOBERG: Down here? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: North.  The second property which they’re 

going to do the warehouses. 

MR. MOBERG: There is no fencing requirement between those two 

properties. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Well, as a security... 

MR. MOBERG: Up here? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Right. 

MR. MOBERG: There is…that it would be the same thing.  There would be 

no fence requirement between because it’s another industrial property to the north. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: I see.  Okay. 

MR. MOBERG: Does that answer your question? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Well, I’m concerned about the security.  People 

they drive through or come and go from that site. 

MR. MOBERG: From the site to the north down… 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Right. 

MR. MOBERG: This way? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Right.  So is there going to be a privacy, I 

mean a fence to provide that? 

MR. MOBERG: There’s no requirement for that.  You can certainly suggest 

that to the applicant. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Right. 

MR. MOBERG: When you take it forward. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  I think the residential property to the east that’s 

zoned industrial, would that…would we consider that to be grandfathered in since it’s 

residential now or do we not even look at it that way? 

MR. MOBERG: The residential use is a non-conforming…a legal non-

conforming use of that property, therefore, yes, it is grandfathered in. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  As a residential use? 

MR. MOBERG: As a residential use.  And they would have to meet…for 

them to expand or do anything different on that property as a residential use, they would 

have to meet the requirements of section 4 within our code. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  So if it’s grandfathered in as residential, would I 

not look at that as being within the thousand feet or do I just look at the whole zoning as 

a whole? 

MR. MOBERG: The code is specific to zone…to residentially zoned property 

not residentially used property and so the thousand feet would be to those properties 

that are zoned residential and not used. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Do you know, Greg, are those residences occupied? 

MR. MOBERG: It is.  It’s only one single family residence and it’s located 

right here and, yes, it is occupied. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further questions?  Hearing none, is the applicant 

present?  Would you like to step forward and add anything to this report? 

MR. ROWLANDS:  Good evening, fellow Commissioners.  My name is 

Rob Rowlands.  I’m with Design Specialists, Architects and Planners, 917 Main Street, 

here in Grand Junction.  I represent the owner, Mr. Eardley.  I really don’t have anything 

to add.  I’m here to answer any questions you might have about this property.  The city 



 

 

staff has really covered all the bases as well as Jamie has too.  So I’m just here to 

answer any questions you might want to know about the design of anything. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Are there questions of the applicant? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Is…how about the food?  Is it going to be a full 

menu or just microwave? 

MR. ROWLANDS:  Presently we are planning to have some food, yes. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: But what kind of food?  Is that microwave food 

or full menu?  Because that’s important… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  That’s…that’s not part of this hearing. 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Oh, I see. 

MR. ROWLANDS:  Okay. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further questions of the applicant?  Okay, thank 

you, sir.  We will now open the hearing to the public.  We would like first to hear of those 

that are in favor of this application.  This is a full hearing even though we have heard it 

once.  It has been remanded back to us as a full hearing.  I might just state that there 

are some factors that you may take into consideration.  We do have new members on 

the Commission that did not hear this item before and as I’ve already stated they have 

read the verbatim minutes from the last hearing and so they’re able to participate tonight 

with…with this and, however, even if they had not have, this is considered a…a new 

hearing so we will hear testimony tonight and again I would ask that you keep 

your…your remarks under 3 minutes if you possibly can. 

So first we’ll open it to those who are in favor of this application.  Seeing none, 

we will move to those who are opposed to this application.  Yes, sir, back in the back, 

back in the back, you, sir.  And I would ask that when you speak there is a sign up sheet 



 

 

on the table in the back and would ask that you sign up…sign on that sheet or is it up 

here? 

  MS. BEARD:  There’s one up front, both. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  There’s one both here and in the back.  So if you’d 

sign that we’d appreciate it.  Yes, sir. 

MR. McFARLANE:  I already did, sir.  My name is Mike McFarlane and my 

address is 2808 Bookcliff, Grand Junction, Colorado.  The first thing that I want to speak 

to is they…they mentioned something in the very beginning about the constitutionality of 

this issue.  Judge Scalia rendered a judgment in the case of City of Erie versus Pabst 

AM and said this, the traditional power of government to foster good morals and the 

acceptability of the traditional judgment that nude public dancing is itself immoral have 

not been repealed by the First Amendment.  There have also been at least two other 

cases – United States versus O’Brien, Barnes versus Glen Theater that have supported 

local municipalities as they have not allowed these types of…of businesses to open.  

Now there are also other Supreme Court cases where they were allowed to open and 

they found it in favor of the business and that tells us that we’ve got a situation 

where…free speech is allowed.  For example, though if you’d walk into a theater and 

yell fire, that’s not a covered constitutional right, okay?  And so we’re…we’re looking 

here that the case is that the free speech is going to be decided by the conditions of the 

particular case rather than the fact that there’s just a blanket statement that can be 

made that…that this is free speech and it has to therefore be allowed. 

In the code, number 4.1, says this - it says that rule number 1 says to establish 

and promote neighborhoods with integrity and character and that is neighborhoods 

plural not just a single neighborhood limiting it to a close proximity but it says 

neighborhoods plural.  It…where do we draw the line of a neighborhood is the question.  



 

 

It says to establish integrity and Webster defines integrity as an adherence to a moral 

code of values or incorruptibility.  Now it’s hard to believe that a business is an 

incorruptible type of business when they serve alcohol or have the dancing either one.  I 

don’t think that that lines up with the…with the…the conditions there.  It says in rule 

number 3 that there should be an appropriate level of flexibility for the use of a non-

residential property while maintaining…maintaining compatibility. 

Now commercial land is in somewhat short supply around here so I’m wondering 

about the wisdom is whether it makes sense to open a bar in a place where bars could 

open in other places as a non-conforming use and using up some of our commercial 

land that…that we can use and…and possibly have a better fit for this area.  Okay, 

could another type of business be a better fit and a more reasonable use of the land?  

See if we open this up it also opens up to other businesses of this type which would 

then possibly keep other type businesses from wanting to or even desiring to come into 

here.  So is this type of business really compatible when there’s family type retail 

businesses like the Ford dealer right across the street, okay? 

And the application now, as far as separating the two issues, the application was 

not just for a bar but it was for actually both and I believe by the app itself then ties the 

two together.  It’s one business not two so the whole business is…is on the table as far I 

can see that…that when they had to…when they added the liquor to it, it brought the 

whole issue before this…this…this Commission here and therefore ties them all 

together as one thing to be addressed. 

The…the fact that adult entertainment is before the commission is a statement of 

their connectivity as far as I can see.  Goal number 1 in the land use goals contained in 

the city code says that the purpose must be to achieve a balance of integrity of 

community neighborhoods.  Webster defines integrity as an unimpaired condition and 



 

 

are our neighborhoods truly unimpaired when the city says that the intersection directly 

out of here is a dangerous one and…and the one right up from it is a deadly one, now if 

we add liquor to the mix of this…this traffic issue, is that a compatible use for this land?  

Does it make sense to put a bar in a place where we already have traffic issues that the 

city has identified and who’s going to pay for the upgrading of those…those 

intersections and if we do upgrade those intersections does that then guarantee that 

somebody is not going to be hurt in these intersections or even killed because of the 

drinking? 

Goal 11 states…it says it’s to promote stable neighborhoods and land use 

compatibility throughout the community; 4.B.1 says that the City Council finds that the 

concentration…it says that the concentration of adult entertainment establishments in 

cities tends to result in the belittling and deterioration of neighborhoods is belittling and 

deterioration promoting stability of neighborhoods.  See I don’t think that these 

things…these things line up.  I think there’s an incompatibility issue here.  How does 

compatibility throughout the community fall into place when it’s not compatible with the 

very… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Excuse me, sir. 

MR. McFARLANE:  …with the very zoning laws. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Would you wind down, please? 

MR. McFARLANE:  Sure.  I’m uptight because I’m a little nervous so I’m 

sorry.  Compatibility means things live in harmony together, okay and I don’t think that 

these things can be in harmony together.  In…in code 4.B.3 it says the purpose of this 

section is to establish zoning locations for these type of establishments which a) are not 

a nuisance.  Now increased crime in my opinion is a nuisance.  Traffic issues are a 

nuisance.  Crime always increases around bars.  I believe that will be a nuisance.  I 



 

 

believe it will be a nuisance to our police department because that’s an area that’s not 

highly patrolled because it’s a low activity area now so it’s going to be a nuisance to the 

city to have to increase patrols in this area and…and that increased patrol is going to 

cost the people of the city something which I believe is also a nuisance.  And…and 

they’re going to have to, unless they have some kind of a funding increase, pull patrols 

from other areas where they’ve already prior to this deemed it necessary to patrol and 

yet they’re going to have to pull those things out.  This area is in close proximity to… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Sir, I’m going to ask you to cut it off.  We have your 

point.  You’ve…you’ve went five minutes so… 

MR. McFARLANE:  I’m sorry.  I didn’t realize that.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else.  Yes, ma’am. 

MS. GOMEZ: Hi, everybody.  My name is… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  You can pull that mic down. 

MS. GOMEZ: Oh, okay.  My name is Susana Gomez.  I live on 1171 Santa 

Clara up in Orchard Mesa.  I basically want to say the same thing but just where I can 

understand.  When it comes to the First Amendment I do agree it doesn’t fit because it 

pertains to religion and other things.  And when you continue to read it it says to 

assemble but peaceably so I don’t think with alcohol and all this type that it’s gonna 

happen.  Crimes are, you know, well it says in the statistics that it will happen so that’s 

why I go with.  And as far as the neighborhood this is a business so it doesn’t just affect 

that area.  It affects the neighborhood which are businesses; it pertains to the region, 

Junction, Orchard Mesa, Clifton, Fruita, like people come from everywhere to go to Wal-

Mart which is convenient and stuff like that.  And I just want to say I’m not for it.  Thank 

you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Yes, sir, in the leather jacket. 



 

 

MR. ALCORTA: Hi, my name is Marty Alcorta.  I live at 144 Helen Court.  I 

want to address the alcohol issue.  Being a person that used to frequent those kind of 

places, people go into those kind of places and they just don’t have a shot and a peep 

and leave.  They sit there, they slam beers down, they get drunk, they get out on the 

highway and we don’t need to put our citizens and our police department, sheriff 

department in that kind of a harm’s way.  With the violence in this world as it is now, you 

got guys going into places like that carrying guns and it’s just not safe.  You know, they 

get out on the street, they’re drunk, it’s not safe.  And I just don’t like the idea of the 

alcohol issue.  I mean they come from that neighborhood drunk, into my neighborhood 

which is 12 miles away and it still affecting my neighborhood.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, sir. 

MR. DEAL: My name is Robert Deal.  I live at 1313 North 18th Street.  I’d like to 

address real briefly three points.  The first is the adult entertainment.  I have observed 

places like this throughout the United States and Europe and Asia and never seen any 

that did not involve excessive alcohol and drug use, prostitution, violence.  These 

women have…I’m also a counselor.  I’ve been a counselor in Grand Junction for 20 

years.  I’ve counseled a lot of these women who have self-esteem issues.  The women 

are taught to present themselves as sexual objects.  Men learn to view them as sexual 

objects.  I don’t think that’s healthy or beneficial for any of them.  It’s a lure for easy 

money and I hesitate to see young…young women of Grand Junction lured into this so 

called business by easy money. 

The second point, some of you may remember a club out in the west part of the 

county years ago and I know personally of 3 people killed coming back from that club.  

There were many traffic accidents, DUI’s and so on.  These people out in that area are 



 

 

not gonna call a cab.  They’re gonna attempt to drive back on a major highway that has 

tourists and families traveling on it. 

The third point involves the use of neighborhood.  If this was a neighborhood bar 

where people were coming for two or three blocks around that would be one thing.  

These people are coming from throughout Grand Junction and as far as I’m concerned 

that is the neighborhood this involves is Grand Junction in which I live.  If the term 

neighborhood does not fit there even so since when do we not stand up for what we 

believe is right and decent for our community.  Somebody made the point a…a few 

minutes ago, when…when do we…when did we begin to let fear of what others believe 

stand in the way of our standing up for what is moral and right in our community?  

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, sir, in the red 

shirt…purple shirt, whatever it is. 

MR. STRASSER: Good evening.  My name is Michael Strasser.  I live at 485 

31-1/4 Road.  I’m too nervous so I wrote everything down and I’m just gonna read it 

from verbatim.  Okay.  The proposed gentlemen’s club is gonna be built in an industrial 

zoned area.  I understand that.  Based on this fact, how can a gentlemen’s club, a club 

that will promote sex and alcohol even be considered for this area?  The businesses in 

the proposed area do not support this gentlemen’s club in the area.  The businesses do 

not want their neighborhood to deteriorate as was the case when…when Cheers was in 

business in downtown Grand Junction.  While Cheers…Cheers was in business there 

were 711 phone calls to police over a 45-month period.  This is 4 calls a week to police.  

Can our jail handle the possible increase by allowing the gentlemen’s clubs to be built?  

If police receive the same amount of calls, how many more police officers will have to 

be hired for the increased number of police patrolling in the area? 



 

 

The current surrounding businesses of the nightclub might even have to pay 

higher property insurance rates due to a possible increase in vandalism to their 

businesses.  Western Slope Ford has been an outstanding business to our community 

for over 20 years.  Are you going to ask them to pay a higher premium to remain in 

business just because of the gentlemen’s club?  How many current businesses will 

close because of this club that are in the surrounding area? 

The intersection of G Road and I-70 Business Loop will see an increase in traffic.  

The intersection has seen multiple number of accidents over the past years with no 

signal at this intersection.  I work at AmeriGas Propane and that intersection is right 

across my highway.  I see accidents there weekly.  There always an accident there - 

maybe not weekly but at least monthly.  With an increase in traffic at this intersection by 

allowing this club to be built who will pay for the signal that will have to be constructed 

due to the added amount of traffic?  How many more deaths will be caused from the 

patrons leaving this club intoxicated into our community?  How many more DUI 

checkpoints will have to be added to I-70 and the I-70 Business Loop, increasing the 

burden of the Colorado State Patrol, which is already spread very thin?  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Ma’am, I think you…you 

were next. 

MS. FINDLAY: My name is Sarah Findlay.  My address is 202 North 

Avenue, number 195.  I just want to say that I came from the dancing industry and I 

started stripping here in Grand Junction at Cheers.  I was in the industry for 10 years 

and all the clubs that I’ve worked in which have been a number of clubs there’s always 

been drugs, prostitution, crime – even in places where they were top of the line clubs 

and I know they’re gonna try to make this club a gentlemen’s club where it’s top of the 



 

 

line.  They’re gonna try to make it look nice.  The same things are going to be going on 

in the club that they try to make look fancy. 

Also I want to say that I’ve been out active in the community.  I had two petitions 

signed.  I don’t know if you guys received those or not.  One was from students…I’m a 

student at Mesa State…stating that they did not…they were strongly against having a 

strip club in our community.  And another one was from residents of Mesa County.  I got 

hundreds of signatures.  The community has spoken.  We don’t want it here.  That’s all I 

have to say. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, ma’am. 

MS. HUDON-DEAL:  Hi.  My name is Milana Hudon-Deal and I live at 1313 North 

18th Street.  And I’m going to read this because I get very nervous. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:   Could you speak up just a little bit, please? 

MS. HUDON-DEAL:  I will try.  As a former dancer in Alaska during the 70’s 

I saw the boom of the oil fields, the Vietnam War and the money that seemed to flow 

from them.  One or two clubs started but as the pipeline work increased so did the 

number of clubs.  Outside the city limits the clubs were even more wild and disorderly.  

Fights were frequent, shootings were not uncommon.  Even at times the dancers were 

being maimed or killed by gunfire.  Drugs, violence and prostitution were a part of the 

lifestyle.  It became a reoccurring nightmare never knowing what would happen next. 

The dancers were encouraged to drink with the customers, fraternize and flirt and 

it was good money – building a false self-esteem which led to drug use and prostitution.  

Men paid attention to them not for who they were but for what they saw and wanted – 

sex and sexual fantasy – both for the dancers and…and the men.  The life of a dancer 

becomes shallow.  Only in the nightlife is she comfortable.  She becomes dependent on 



 

 

men to build her self-esteem.  Not only may she become addicted to the alcohol and the 

drugs, she becomes male dependent. 

As an alcohol and drug counselor, I have counseled many women and men who 

have started and supported their drug habit through dancing and many have moved to 

prostitution.  I would be very disappointed to think young women would be lured into this 

lifestyle because of the readily available money involved. 

By allowing a gentlemen’s club, strip club to be established in our community we 

are opening the doors to drug and alcohol addiction, prostitution, violence, DUI’s and 

other criminal behaviors.  And using tax dollars for law enforcement to maintain peace 

and order which means we are paying to have law enforcement monitor activities 

without this right to say no to this club. 

As in the 70s as far as violence I want to say I worked at a club and 8 women 

were shot because one woman said no to a man that asked him…her to marry him.  I’ve 

seen a lot…a lot of violence.  I just cannot…I don’t want this in my community.  We all 

have pasts.  I’m not ashamed of my past.  But I don’t want to see another woman 

victimized in this way.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, sir, Mr. Pitts. 

MR. PITTS:    I’m Bill Pitts.  I live at 2626 H Road in Grand Junction.  I first 

off want to mention that you guys look just about as well from back here as I used to 

look at you from up there.  You all look good tonight.  But I’m here to oppose… 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Flattery will get you nowhere. 

MR. PITTS:  …the proposition that’s before you on…on…on several 

accounts.  One is that it’s your job to determine whether it’s fitting for a community to 

approve a proposition before you not to decide whether it’s within the zoning codes, the 

growth plan or…or the…it’s up to the planning department.  Our planning department 



 

 

does a tremendous job on sifting through reams and reams and reams of paper and 

volumes and…and…and texts to determine whether a project meets the code or is 

within the growth plan.  And that’s not your job. 

Your job is to listen to the public to see whether that proposal fits our 

neighborhood.  Neighborhood in my dictionary is defined as compatibility with a 

region…a region the people who live in such a region, any region or area or vicinity.  

And as mentioned by the city attorney at the City Council meeting a neighborhood can 

even be the entire community.  And so that’s…that’s up to this body to determine what’s 

a neighborhood and the neighborhood where this situation or this proposal is located is 

not…is not applicable.  It’s not compatible.  It’s an industrial area.  It’s a light industrial.  

It’s a warehouse area.  That’s not indicative of a…of a bar and a nightclub.  So that’s…I 

would…I would submit that in using the old Ben…Ben Franklin tally chart, if you just add 

up the ginners and the forers, it’s pretty easy.  I didn’t hear anybody who was in favor of 

that and so far I’ve heard 11 people that’s in opposition to what this proposal is.  And I 

thank you very much. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, ma’am. 

MS. STRASSER.    Good evening.  My name is Kerrie Strasser and I live 

on 485 31-1/4 Road.  This establishment promotes neighborhoods, please notice the 

neighborhoods is plural with integrity and character.  This is in the current zoning code 

that we can be found on the City of Grand Junction’s website.  Based on this fact if the 

city of Grand Junction allowed a gentlemen’s club to be built, how can the word integrity 

be used in the same sentence with a gentlemen’s club?  Gentlemen’s clubs throughout 

our country degrade women.  When we use the word integrity we speak of a firm 

adherence to a code of standard of values.  Is the City of Grand Junction going to lower 

our community standards by allowing this gentlemen’s club to be built?  Remember 



 

 

gentlemen’s clubs do not promote integrity.  They promote degrading of women.  A 

business like this will affect the integrity of the City of Grand Junction in lowering our 

community’s standards.  Thank you for your time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, sir. 

MR. JACOB:  Good evening.  My name is Mike Jacob and I live at 2180 

Standing Rock Drive and I had just a…a story and just a different definition of 

neighborhood from Webster’s - a particular community, district or area.  So that 

encompasses the entire city.  And the story I would relate is we used to have to go to 

Las Vegas for conventions and when I would go to the convention hall by myself and 

we’d come out of the convention hall for a break at the end of a day, we always had 

strippers and hookers passing out cards to any man or group of men that did not have a 

woman present with them.  And I don’t think we need that kind of behavior and activity 

going down here at Two Rivers for any convention that we might have or any hotel out 

on Horizon Drive or even any hotel out on North Avenue.  And, of course, those areas 

are outside the greater Grand Junction area – our neighborhood. 

I remember walking down the strip with my daughters, just kids - 3 years old, 5 

years old - and we’d come up to the bus stops and they’d have these big fancy posters 

with the girls of glitter – glitter gulch - and my daughters were just thrilled with these 

sequins and these pretty women in these posters.  And I don’t think that we want that 

kind of activity in the bus stops in Grand Junction.  If you allow these things to come in, 

it’s going to affect the greater community.  These posters will show up at all of our bus 

stops and they could very well show up at our convention halls and hotels and I don’t 

think that’s the impression we want to give where people will come in this town for 

conventions.  Thank you very much. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, sir, in the back. 



 

 

MR. SMITH:  My name is Dave Smith.  I live at 541 29-1/2 Road.  And I 

would just like to ask the commission to…to consider a couple of things and that is first 

the…the traffic situation in that area that is not designed for a mass amounts of civilian 

or…or commercial traffic like that is very much an industrial area.  Those intersections 

are not meant for heavy loads of daily traffic like that and that intersection right there is 

already a very dangerous intersection and the placement of this establishment being 

such as it is allows for those who would commit criminal activity easy access to I-70 and 

a quick exit out of town which is going to allow them to commit their crimes and leave 

before our police force has a chance to respond.  When we have a police force that is 

already stretched as thin as it is I would ask that you take into consideration the fact that 

it would not be beneficial either to the city or any of its residents or the police force to 

ask them to take on the extra…the extra patrol routes, the extra ambulance activity from 

the fire department and such to…to patrol an area that is already a low activity area that 

they don’t currently have to assign a lot of manpower to. 

Secondly, that is also not an area where there’s a lot of businesses open at night 

and so cabs don’t tend to frequent that area and as such most people are going to be in 

the habit of driving home afterwards rather than…than providing the safe…safe 

alternatives that…that we would all ask them to. 

The other things that I would ask you to consider is that with the lack of…of 

commercial zoning that we have in this area, use it the wisest course of action to assign 

this lot to a bar nightclub that can be put in other areas and in other zoning 

commercial…other zoning districts that don’t impede the…the business and the 

commercial zoning that is currently there.  I…I look at the…the commercial zoning as it 

is currently and I look at it kind of from a standpoint of instant replay in football.  If it was 

there as one thing then it should be incontrovertible evidence to overturn it.  In other 



 

 

words if it was deemed to be commercial by previous commissions and previous 

councils and that’s been held up thus far, why would we change it now especially while 

we are experiencing the growth that we are.  It’s not like we’re in a…in a downturn or 

anything like that.  You know within Grand Junction expanding the way it is, why would 

we overturn it now?  Why would we change that now and allow this use now when 

every other commission and council has upheld its use as commercial. 

And finally the last thing that I would ask you to consider is that every time one of 

these…these types of establishments come into town it affects the reputation of Grand 

Junction just as it’s affected every other town that’s ever allowed one of these in and I 

would ask you guys to take into consideration I don’t want the town that I live in and the 

town that I have to do business in having the reputation that comes along with these 

establishments.  Thank you for your consideration. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Yes, ma’am. 

MS. McFARLANE:  My name is Rennae McFarlane.  My address is 2808 

Bookcliff Avenue.  Mainly I know we’re not supposed to talk about the adult side of it but 

I just wanted to remind everyone about Paige Birgfeld.  Running an escort service I 

know is a little different but she turned up dead because of the type of business and 

then Abby and Jennifer Blagg who we still haven’t found the young girl but her dad was 

into pornography.  They found it on the computer and this type of sexual misconduct 

always promotes violence.  You see in the bigger cities the mafia and the things like that 

are always involved somehow in the strip clubs and those type of businesses.  And also 

I wanted to just say there is the Westgate Inn right close by there and the Holiday Inn 

Express which are at this point very good businesses. 

Westgate Inn has a very high dollar restaurant and it’s a very nice motel and then 

also the Holiday Inn Express is a family type hotel that people when they’re traveling 



 

 

trust to go to but they are in a little bit darker area but with this type of business…I know 

when I’m traveling if we’re staying in a hotel we’ve stayed a couple of times and didn’t 

realize but there was a strip club close by.  The type of things that go on in the rooms 

next to you…I don’t even want to mention it, it’s vulgar.  But families can’t sleep, they’re 

traveling and this type of stuff, partying and the things they do in there that innocent 

families have to listen to.  And people travel through Grand Junction.  That’s the first 

stop is the Westgate Inn or the Holiday Inn Express and I don’t think we should put 

families and their children in, you know, this type of place where they can’t be safe at 

night. 

Also I had bartended years ago, I don’t do that anymore, but the bar that I 

bartended we didn’t have strippers but it was a biker bar and it…it drew this type of 

establishment will draw that type of people there I can guarantee it.  And they all carried 

guns, knives and there was always a violent fight.  One time I was robbed.  Some guy 

robbed me by knifepoint.  Things like that happen and I just…I’m more worried about 

the violence to these women.  You know these men do follow them home and rape 

them and some of the men that go there get in a frenzy and break into neighborhood 

homes, you know, their neighbors, some girl out late at night.  So it will affect our entire 

city and I hope you all consider that.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, ma’am. 

MS. STRASSER:  My name is Amber Strasser.  I live at 485 31-1/4 

Road and I attend Central High School.  I believe the developers of this club chose this 

area due to the close proximity of the Acorn gas station and truck stop.  We know that 

the club will be open after normal business hours but semi drivers drive their trucks all 

day and all night.  With this club being approximately one mile away from the truck stop, 

how many of these drivers will visit this club and then leave possibly intoxicated getting 



 

 

in their trucks and driving east or west on I-70 and cause a dangerous accident.  

Perhaps these drivers will not get in their trucks but will be looking for women for sex 

because they have been sexually aroused from the women inside the club exposing 

and touching their breasts.  We know that most truckers live in their trucks with little or 

no home life.  They visit these kinds of establishments to get aroused.  They stop to fill 

their trucks with gas and currently move on.  If these truckers visit this club the chances 

that something bad will very much increase.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Okay.  Yes, sir. 

MR. CHAVANCEK:   Good evening.  My name is Larry Chavancek.  I live 

at 2929 Whitney Lane.  In sitting and listening I cannot help but have some questions 

and to reiterate questions in relation to most appropriate use of land.  We live in an area 

that land is not easily created and manufactured.  And industrial land to diversify the 

potential long term growth of this community is very important and each of you know 

that and understand that very well.  I do not believe that such a use as this applicant is 

appropriate use for that land and there is much better and more appropriate uses that 

can be and will be necessary in the future. 

I remember being at the meeting like this one that you referred to earlier and 

hearing questions of the commissioners yourself in relation to the staff and the legal 

counsel of the city.  Questions like if one of these was placed in this position could 

another one be right next door and, of course, the response was no.  It would have to 

be at least a thousand feet away.  But another question came from the same 

commissioner asking, but would it be appropriate for other institutions, namely bars, to 

be in the area and the response as I remember and planning and city would have to 

correct me if I’m wrong was that oh, yes, it would be very possible that there could be 

the potential of half a dozen in fact the terms 8 and nine were actually voiced in that 



 

 

area.  I’m not quite sure…in fact I am sure I know that that’s not what this city wants for 

that area of the city to become an area whereby that such institutions would grow and 

foster for indeed they would feed off of this institution. 

I moved here 14 months ago from a much larger city community and worked just 

4 blocks from an institution that claimed to be the same as this applicant wants to build.  

I watched in the 11 years that I lived there the area around that community decay.  The 

businesses that were there that were reputable moved away because it had a negative 

impact upon them and I think it’s interesting that we as a city, you as commissioners 

and elected officials have heard of comments and letters from companies that are in 

that vicinity that are not pleased about this use and its potential impact upon them and I 

would dare say that the impact will be ongoing and that area of the city will not be a 

growing industrial park that will enable the long-term financial viability of this city but will 

indeed tend to pull down that area and, therefore, be an economic drain instead of an 

economic benefit.  I appreciate your time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Seeing none, would the 

applicant like to respond to anything that has been said this evening? 

MR. ROWLANDS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I sympathize with all the 

people here and I really understand their concerns but being a representative of my 

client I have to say the city zoning and development codes recognized they had to have 

a place for this type of business and they made the requirements very specific that have 

to be met and this project was located here because it met all these requirements.  And 

city staff recognizes the fact that it meets all the requirements. 

We’re here for a conditional use permit for the bar and nightclub portion of this.  If 

you see on your consent agenda, you approved two conditional use permits for a bar 

and type deals and even the conditional use permit has specific requirements that must 



 

 

be met.  And again I have to say we met all those requirements as city staff has 

identified that we have done this.  That’s really all I have.  Thanks. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Are there any further questions of the applicant? 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT: I have a question.  My…my biggest concern is 

the compatibility with the adjacent land uses.  Can you address in your opinion how this 

fits? 

MR. ROWLANDS:  It’s…it’s very difficult alright.  The city development 

code had to identify a type of zoning in which to put this type of establishment, alright, 

and made the determination that an I-1 zone was an appropriate use or appropriate 

zoning for this type of use.  It keeps you away from the residences, the parks, the 

schools, the churches and saw from the aerial view that (inaudible).  If an industrial 

zone is not an appropriate use then what zone is an appropriate use?  I mean you 

could…you could apply that to every zone in the city.  So the city code recognized that 

probably the least impact would be in my opinion that an I-1 would probably be the 

place to put this.  Okay? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further questions?  Okay with that we will close 

the public hearing and I’m sure the commission probably has some more questions for 

staff but my first question would be and I’ll ask it since it’s been brought up again.  We 

were instructed by City Council to rehear the request keeping in mind the definition of 

neighborhood as defined by the Zoning and Development Code and so I’d like staff to 

give us that definition if you would. 

MR. MOBERG: I’m sorry, Mr. Chairman, if you could repeat that. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Give us the definition of the neighborhood as defined 

in the Zoning and Development Code.  I believe you have it in your staff report but…it’s 

where the City Council…where you’ve written the City Council’s directions. 



 

 

MR. MOBERG: Neighborhood as defined by the Zoning and Development 

Code is an area of a community which…with characteristics that distinguish it from other 

areas and that may include distinct ethnic or economic characteristics, housing types, 

schools or boundaries defined by physical barriers such as major highways, railroads or 

natural features such as rivers. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, and that is one of the criteria that we have to 

consider since the City Council has instructed that…and so you might as well stay there 

a little bit, Greg, because I think there’s probably other questions of…of you or perhaps 

others of the staff. 

MR. MOBERG: I would while you’re thinking about that the question about 

surrounding property and…and the compatibility and how this property…that’s 

something obviously staff looked very closely at because that’s something that is one of 

the criteria.  The surrounding properties, just for everybody’s benefit, are mostly vacant 

at this time.  We do have an industrial use at this point and as pointed out before we 

also have that…that non…legal non-conforming residential use to the east.  We also 

have the…the auto dealership to the south. 

As we discussed with the landscape plan, excuse me, there is existing 

landscaping and a six foot fence that’s located along this south property line.  There’s 

also a fence that’s located to…from the south property line up to this point and so that 

would deter anybody from being able to go across to that property to the east.  The 

applicant has also placed in landscaping.  Back to Commissioner Carlow’s question 

about the police review, one of the things that they were also looking at was making 

sure that not only were the material…plant materials planted that they could see 

through but also plant materials in areas that would prohibit people from going through 



 

 

and using plant materials that have barbs, those kind of things that would reduce the 

ability for people to go back and forth in this area.  If that helps any. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Are there further questions? 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  I’ve got some questions.  Call me stubborn but 

we’re going to go back to the house.  Because that’s what’s really bothering me the 

most is the house.  As I understand it if they want to do anything to that house they 

would have to conform to the code.  So if they expanded or did anything they’d have to 

conform to the code. 

MR. MOBERG: They would have to conform to chapter 4, the non-

conforming… 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  Yeah, yeah.  Do they have the ability to sell the 

home as a residence and not…even though nothing was done to it? 

MR. MOBERG:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  And so anybody could go live in that house? 

MR. MOBERG:  Um, hmm. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  So with that in mind, understanding that there 

is the zoning of the whole area of industrial which I completely understand that, I’m 

having a difficult time, and maybe you can help me with this, not thinking about the 

residents that would live within that zone.  So there’s the opportunity…there could be…I 

don’t know who lives there.  There could be a retired couple who lived there now.  There 

could be a new family that moves in there later with kids.  So that piece, ignoring that 

piece is…is hard for me to overlook the whole entire area as industrial because there’s 

still that one element to the neighborhood for compatibility.  As long as there’s that 

opportunity there, that throws a different dart into the mix that I’m having a hard time 

getting over. 



 

 

MR. MOBERG:  Um, hmm. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  Can you help me figure that one out? 

MR. MOBERG:  Well, as I’ve stated earlier the problem that…that we 

have as staff in looking at this is it’s very specific to a thousand foot buffer or separation 

from any residentially zoned property, not used property. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  I understand that but I’m having a hard time 

just because on paper, black and white, it says residentially zoned.  I’m having a hard 

time ignoring the residents that actually live in that area.  I’m having a really difficult 

time.  And that’s the piece that I asked about being grandfathered in because 

businesses get grandfathered in areas.  I understand that but I…I think the code is 

written and…and it’s fine but I think…it’s…it’s…it’s too black and white.  There’s a gray 

that…that I’m having an issue with. 

MR. MOBERG: As you pointed out, one of the things that the city has done 

is zone that entire area industrial.  It is the city’s determination that all of these 

properties including that residence would go to an industrial use.  At this time there 

happens to be a residence on it.  My feeling, as just a personal feeling, this were to go 

up for sale it would go for sale as industrial dirt if you will and would be at a price where 

you’d more than likely have to develop it as industrial rather than just buy it to…to move 

in as a residence.  However, your comment somebody could buy it, could sit on it, could 

rent it out.  Obviously it is a residence and could be maintained as a residence under 

chapter 4 indefinitely until something were to occur to the…the structure itself. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  Thank you. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:    I have a gray area.  I mean 

we…we already…it’s already been stated I mean as far as the adult entertainment, it’s 



 

 

allowed there by…in an industrial area.  The issue before us is the use of alcohol.  What 

other areas can we have bars?  We’ll just simplify it – commercial? 

MR. MOBERG:  Let me look that up for you real quick so I’m not just 

going off the top of my head but certainly in the C-1 zone, the C-2 zone, the I-1 zone, 

let’s see.  I’m just not sure.  I’m assuming it’s also in the B-2 which would be the 

downtown. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  Okay. 

MR. MOBERG:  I just don’t know about the B-1 zone, but certainly the 

B-2, C-1, C-2 and the I-1 zone. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  So in those areas we’ve, 

you know, a straight…a bar is allowed in an I-1? 

MR. MOBERG: Um, hmm.  With a conditional use permit. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  With a conditional use 

permit.  What about C…the commercial zones with a CUP or not? 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  Actually it’s B-1, B-2, C-1, C-2, I-O and I-1 are 

all bar nightclubs with a C-U-P. 

MR. MOBERG: With a conditional use permit. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  All bars are with a 

conditional use? 

MR. MOBERG: And you did review one tonight, Quincy’s, which was looking 

to do an addition. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  Yes.  I understand that 

one.  I just wanted to make sure I had my zones, my alphabet soup straight.  Thank 

you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Further questions? 



 

 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW:  This is probably better aimed at Jamie 

but when the liquor licensing authority convenes do they address any of these issues 

other than…or do they just address the character of the applicant or whatever? 

MS. BEARD:  They will address those issues that are required to be 

addressed in regards to the state statutes before being able to grant a liquor license.  

They are not looking specifically when it comes to what the use of the property is. 

And if I may, if you can give me the opportunity to address some of what Mr. Wall 

was asking, some connection needs to be made.  If you’re looking at the criteria for the 

adult entertainment, then the specific criteria is that it cannot be residentially zoned 

property within a thousand feet.  If you’re looking at the fact that there is a residence 

next door, then you’re looking at the criteria for the C-U-P as for compatibility purposes.  

So if you’re not going to or if you’re saying that it shouldn’t be allowed to be there, then 

you have to connect it back to the compatibility and say what is it about the secondary 

effects on that site that are going to make it incompatible with the residences next door 

and can those secondary effects then be mitigated with the site so that it’s not 

incompatible. 

So don’t connect it with the adult entertainment and the fact that our criteria 

indicates that they have to be at least a thousand feet from residentially zoned property.  

Connect it back to the actual criteria for the conditional use permit and keep in mind that 

we do have bars that are next to neighborhoods and or residences.  So it’s specific to 

this particular site and what is it about the secondary effects that you believe make it 

incompatible and if you could then include those on the record so that we have an 

understanding of the decision. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  I’m not sure that I can separate those two now 

that it’s combined into one.  I understand exactly what you’re saying but when it comes 



 

 

to the compatibility piece as long as that one is held to such strict restrictions I think that 

does come into play as far as a residence being there. 

MS. BEARD:  But the restriction is specific to just residentially zoned 

property so it’s not… 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  I understand that. 

MS. BEARD:  It’s not that criteria.  It goes to the compatibility and then 

connect it to the secondary effects. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Further questions?  Hearing none, we will bring it 

back to the commission for discussion.  Would anyone like to…like to start out and 

make any statements before we call for the motion? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW:  My opinion that it was remanded back to 

us considering…I…I was convinced we erred when we called our city a neighborhood 

the last time and I still feel that way.  I…I think that’s far too broad and…and they also 

remanded it back to…let’s see…where am I…not to…not to consider what the 

entertainment’s going to be but rather the bar nightclub aspect.  So I…I would vote in 

favor of the motion. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI:  Yes.  Oh, sorry, sorry.  Go ahead. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  (Inaudible). 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: The only thing that I…I have a concern is the 

traffic, of course, but the rest of the stuff I don’t believe that we have seen all those in 

the TV, violence, sex, everything that has been presented to the kids with the IPODS, 

cell phones, computers.  So that is not the concern.  My concern is mostly the traffic.  If 

they can fix that one, then I’m for it. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Anyone else? 



 

 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  Mr. Chairman? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER PAVELKA-ZARKESH:  As…as we look at this by 

right adult entertainment is permitted on this site; however, it is the bar nightclub aspect 

that we’re looking at.  And if we take a look at having, from a business standpoint, if we 

start looking at having alcohol in an industrial area, does that foster a good spot for 

people to be bringing in their businesses?  That’s a question I keep asking myself and 

what we’re trying to do for the City of Grand Junction and, you know, in the long run with 

respect to providing jobs and opportunities for our…our residents and I just don’t believe 

having alcohol in this area where we’ve got businesses and that we’re hoping to 

promote businesses will…will help the situation so I’m just not in favor of this.  I don’t 

believe it will be compatible with the uses that we’re trying to promote. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Anyone else? 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  I’d probably agree with my peer as far as the 

compatibility piece and the alcohol use.  Being an industrial zone, I…I…my vision for 

that is a little bit different and I don’t think having alcohol in the area is going to promote 

the safety aspects of that neighborhood that we’re looking for.  Definitely with the 

residential property next to it, I’m not in favor of compatibility-wise with that piece but as 

far as the whole neighborhood as a vision, I…I…I just don’t see how a bar is going to 

influence that neighborhood and let it grow into the neighborhood that we…we hope it to 

be industrially. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Anyone else?  Okay, let me just say that the last time 

this came before this body, excuse me, the determination was that the entire city was 

the neighborhood and in fact that was what was reported in the newspaper as being 

the…the criteria that the commission used.  I followed that criteria; however, weighing 



 

 

more on my mind as I voted against this application was the concerns of the automobile 

dealer that is across the street.  That has since been addressed to my satisfaction that 

that probably is consistent with what is presented here. 

When I look at this now I…and let me just say I thought at the time to establish 

neighborhoods - neighborhood as being the entire city - that we were on shaky ground 

to do that probably legally.  Council saw that and I think that’s one of the reasons that 

they remanded it back to us.  We are required to follow the criteria that…that has been 

set forth by the ruling body which is the City Council here in this city.  And let me just 

say that we must follow the criteria whether it be a bar nightclub or even if it were a 

church.  We are required to follow the criteria that is set forth in that zone for whatever is 

applied for and so we need to…to take that into consideration. 

We’ve heard this twice.  At least I’ve heard it twice.  Some of you have not been 

so privileged as to hear it twice.  Some have.  But at any rate after hearing all of the 

testimony, and by the way, I…I happen to agree with the type of entertainment that is 

going on here but we’re called on to establish a bar nightclub.  The entertainment is not 

to enter in only as a…a side issue here and, regardless of my personal feelings, I have 

to say that I believe this item has met the criteria as set forth by those that rule the city.  

And I think that is what we are called on…to make our decision that whether or not it 

meets the criteria for a bar nightclub in this zone and in my opinion it has been 

established that it does.  Although I know that this goes against the grain for probably 

nearly everyone here tonight and…but, including myself. 

However, I’m called on to decide on the basis of the law here and so I would 

have to find in favor of…of this application.  Let me also say that there will be 

other…another…at least one more opportunity and that is when they come to apply for 

a liquor license for you to voice your…your concerns at that time in…in regards to them 



 

 

getting a liquor license.  So this…this is just one step in the process of getting this…this 

type of business established here and I would ask our legal representative if she would 

have any more comments concerning this. 

MS. BEARD:  Not unless there are specifically any questions that need to 

be answered. 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT:  I…I do have one question.  I guess my 

concern is, Mr. Chairman, as stated that, you know, we’re going forth with what staff has 

presented and staff has found that this is all in code and everything’s good, I guess my 

real question is, is are we obligated to follow staff’s recommendation or are we to use 

our best judgment in deciding whether or not in our opinion that this is a compatible use 

for this area? 

MS. BEARD:  It is not a requirement that you follow the staff’s 

recommendation.  What it is is just a recommendation to you for your consideration but 

based on staff’s expert opinion in reviewing the criteria and reviewing the information 

that is available, they have brought to you and said that this can be approved.  

However, it’s your responsibility to look at each of the criteria and determine has the 

information and the evidence and testimony been provided to you that you can say that 

yes this project can be approved. 

If there are factors and matters that you feel haven’t been brought for you 

particularly things such as discussed with Mr. Wall, that if there are secondary effects 

that are occurring because of the site that make you feel that it is incompatible with the 

adjoining properties, then this is the time when you ask for the additional evidence and 

the testimony that can make you feel more comfortable whether it does or it doesn’t or 

present some recommendation as to what needs to be done with the site so that it can.  



 

 

But in the end it’s up to you to decide has all of the criteria been met that’s required to 

be met under the code for a conditional use permit for a bar nightclub. 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT: Okay. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further comments or questions?  Hearing none, I 

think we are ready for a motion and for the benefit of those who are new to the 

commission we attempt to make…always make our motions in the affirmative so that’s 

just one of the conditions that we have placed on…on motions. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  Mr. Chairman, on bar nightclub conditional use 

permit, C-U-P 2008-158, I move that the Planning Commission approve the conditional 

use permit with the facts, conditions and conclusions listed in the staff report. 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW:  Second. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, we have a motion and a second.  Is there any 

further discussion?  Hearing none, all in favor say aye. 

COMMISSIONERS:  Aye.  Aye.  Aye. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:   Opposed, no. 

COMMISSIONERS:  No.  No.  No. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, let’s have a show of hands.  All in favor, raise 

their hand.  Opposed?  It’s a tie vote therefore the motion fails so the application has 

been denied. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Is there anything else that comes before the 

commission this evening?  We are adjourned. 

 



 

 



 

 

 



 

 

>>> On 11/26/2008 at 12:16 PM, in message <009701c94ffb$7aa5c680$de1cae48@DH7J5R51>, 
"Venus Adams" <venus1130@bresnan.net> wrote: 
Honorable Mayor                    Jim Doody 
Mayor Pro Tem                       Bonnie Beckstein 
Councilmember                       Bruce Hill 
Councilmember                       Linda Romer Todd 
Councilmember                       Teresa Coons 
Councilmember                        Doug Thompson 
  
  
     It is with real concern for our community and constituents that I write this letter to you, our elected 
leaders. 
  
     I have just become aware that an appeal of a decision which denied the application for a "Gentleman's 
Club".  I personally know this is just a (socially acceptable way of saying "strip club") to be opened in 
Grand Junction.  I applaud the Council for denying the original application.  I am sure this was best for the 
city and for the entire county and community. 
  
     I could personally attest to the negative and moral impact upon our communityif such weere 
accepted.  I have lived in communities where such existed and the costs for policing the areas and the 
drug and sex crimes treatment are extensive and the added costs to the community are not acceptable.  
This is also a very destructable reality to the families of those who work in or support such 
establishments/  I know this first hand. 
  
     I am proud of the community where we live and families are being raised, a great local collegee andd 
a great h istory and culture in our city.  Please, let us not lower the excellence that has been established 
for our community.  Again I applaud you, as elected leaders of the City Council for your leadership and 
the family and personal morals you have exhibited upon the city and surrounding areas. 
  
 Sincerely, 
  
  
Venus M. Adams 

 
 
>>> "Mike MacFarlane" <macjehu@gmail.com> 11/28/2008 2:10 PM >>> 
Dear Commission, 
     Now that the gentleman's club has been turned down twice do they have any other appeal process 
we should be looking for or is that it?  If there are other avenues for them what are they so we can be 
watching?  Thanks, Mike! 

 
 



 

 

>>> On 12/23/2008 at 10:07 AM, in message <33268297-ECEC-4119-8F23-266E518E2E39@aol.com>, 
Roberta Sivils <rssozo@aol.com> wrote: 
City Council Member, 
     
    Please oppose the entry of this gentleman's club/bar and all of it's   
problems into our city. 
     
    Protect the children/people of this city from further immorality.   
Would we want our children or grandchildren to be "involved" in this   
sort of thing? - No, I would hope not. So how else can this city   
council protect them, then by standing for what is right? And there is   
nothing "right" about this sort of "business." 
 
    We have programs to deal with children and adults who have been   
abused or have been damaged in some way by immoral actions. Whether   
it's physical, sexual or negligence, it still leaves an impact on   
their lives. We spend thousands of dollars to try to "repair" their   
lives "after" they've been through such despicable acts and yet, would   
consider leaving those who are vulnerable in our city unprotected from   
the effects of these immoral "businesses" that would bring this to   
their very doorstep? .....We need more policemen to control the crime,   
we need more jail space, we need more abuse counselors etc. Why? -   
because these seemingly harmless things have been allowed in and with   
it comes the abuse, drunken negligence and people's lives and families   
are destroyed. All because someone wanted to have a little   
"fun"......................? 
 
How could it even be considered? Who is responsible for these horrible   
crimes against the children/people of this community? If the city   
government doesn't stand for them and uphold family values within   
their area of influence, how can they be protected? 
 
The protection starts with our national government, state, county and   
city. What will they "allow" and what will they stand against? 
Will they uphold the values that this great country was meant to   
uphold? Will they do what is right and protect the people of this city? 
 
I truly believe we can protect the children of this city by upholding   
honorable standards and making conscientious decisions for that which   
is right. 
 
Thank you for your time and for upholding right standards to protect   
this community for all who live here. 
 
Roberta Sivils 
 
 



 

 

>>> On 12/23/2008 at 8:53 AM, in message <ED4C288206E4C644AB21609285D80BC003469ECA@LS-
E.mactec.com>, "McDonald, Michael" <MPMCDONALD@mactec.com> wrote: 
City Council Member, 
  
I would like to take a minute to express my hope and concern in regards to the gentleman's 
club/bar that will be coming before you to review. 
  
The United States Supreme Court and the lower courts have repeatedly confirmed that the 
Government can regulate the activities of these businesses. So long as the restrictions are 
protective, and not based upon the Government's disagreement with the message 
conveyed, they are deemed consistent with the First Amendment. 
  
The planning commission was installed by the city council as those who were competent and 
knowledgeable. We the city, do trust in, and employ the skills, talents, expertise and insight 
of these commissioners to insure the codes of our city are followed accurately. They study 
the code and it's applications to be sure they fairly enforced.  They have twice looked at this 
issue and found it to be incompatible with the goals stated in our city code. It is interesting 
to note that there has been a turnover of commissioners since the first hearing, and they 
still came to the same conclusion. Doesn't that lead you to believe they both groups have 
made the right choice? 
  
I will not go into all the facts they used to come to their conclusion for you already know 
and understand this, however, what can be concluded is that they listened to the evidence 
and made their choice based on the facts.  With this care taken to make sure the codes 
were followed, we can conclude with a high level of confidence that we are on solid ground 
constitutionally. The planning commission's job is to follow the letter of the code and I 
believe they have done their job. 
  
Your job as a council member goes way beyond just the codes. Your responsibility to the 
city is to look out for it's over all health and well being. That means you must ask 
yourselves the tough questions that go beyond understanding and following the code.  Will 
allowing this business to be a part of our community improve the quality of life in our 
community?  And although there are always positives that come from bringing new business 
to town, will these positives out weighing the negatives in this case?  
  
Do not fear the legal threats that will be accused. There is plenty of case law to support 
either side of this argument, and therefore, we must concern ourselves with doing what is 
right for the community. Supreme Court justice Scalia, in rendering judgment in support of 
the City of Erie vs. Pap's a.m., states: "The traditional power of Government to foster good 
morals, and the acceptability of the traditional judgment that nude public dancing itself is 
immoral, have not been repealed by the First Amendment." The following cited cases are 
just a couple examples of decisions that were made against such establishments and were 
upheld by the Supreme Court. 
  
1. City of Erie vs. Pap's a.m. 
U.S. 2000 -#98-1161 
  
2. United States vs. O'Brien 391 
#367.88 Ct. 1673,206 ed 2nd 672 
  
3. Barnes vs. Glen Theatre 
501 u.s. 560,11 S. Ct 2456,115 L ed 2nd 504 
  
It is time to put this thing to rest once and for all.  Hearing this at the planning commission 
level twice is enough. 
 



 

 

Please, make a stand and do what is right for the future of our community and stop this 
business.  
  
  
Thank You, 
 
Mike McDonald  
751 Horizon Ct. 
Grand Junction, CO 81506 
970.270.5314 
 

 
 

>>> On 1/1/2009 at 2:00 PM, in message <355E4C15824547DFA899FCD83C647D2F@yourus67pi6luv>, 
<denisec55@bresnan.net> wrote: 
Dear Council Members, 
  
It recently came to my attention that the application for the strip bar is still an issue, and that perhaps you 
are seeking citizen input. I strongly oppose this establishment and want to voice my opposition to you in 
the hopes that this business application will continue to be declined. It is not in the best interest of the 
community, and would not positively contribute to the quality of life, family values, and low crime rates we 
enjoy in the GJ area.  
  
Thank you for the job you do, and in preserving the integrity of our family-oriented style of living here on 
the western slope. Your consideration in this matter is greatly appreciated. 
  
Denise Clark 

 
 

>>> On 1/5/2009 at 9:35 AM, in message 
<15e14a880901050835m4ac0d565m1ee8b0b175a9c97a@mail.gmail.com>, "Mike MacFarlane" 
<macjehu@gmail.com> wrote: 
Dear City Council Member, 
     I would like to take a minute to express my hopes concerning the strip club issue and what I believe 
to be public opinion as well.    
     My hope is that you take this issue and end it once and for all.  It is time for this thing to be put to 
rest.  Our planning commission has twice found this to be incompatible with the goals set in the city 
codes.  I believe this should weigh heavy in your decision.  I think the cost for more police patrols, the 
crime issues for the immediate "neighborhood", the traffic safety issues and the effect on future industrial 
growth in that "neighborhood" all speak of the incompatibility of this business and should be found as 
substantial reason for denial of the conditional use permit.  All these issues and others not mentioned 
give you Constitutional rights to deny this business on community protection grounds rather than moral 
standards.  Not to say that moral standards are not enough.  According to Supreme Court Justice 
Scalia, nude dancing is not a protected freedom.   
     I understand that the city is hoping to avoid a court showdown over this issue.   I also appreciate that 
you consider this when looking at this issue but in the end it really comes down to doing the right thing.  
Sometimes we must do what is right no matter the cost.  Look at the cost involved in maintaining a city 
council.  That is not cheap, but we do it so we can maintain the high ideals and standards of this 
community.  We gladly cover the cost because the return on investment is a beautiful city that is a safe 
and wholesome environment to raise our families.  This is no different!  It will be worth the cost 
to maintain the standard of living we enjoy in Grand Junction.  There are also community 
watch organizations that are currently keeping their eye on this situation that would be willing to talk with 
us about defending the city should it come down to litigation.  They are well versed in these type of legal 
situations and have incredible track records protecting cities.  Don't let fear cause you to make the wrong 
decision.  There is no right way or right reason to make the wrong choice. 



 

 

     Finally, we as a city elected you to watch out for our best interest and to represent our concerns as 
we would if we were in office.  I read no less than six comments in the Daily Sentinel's "You Said It" 
section this weekend that expressed an opposition to the strip club (and yes, it is a strip club not a 
gentleman's club).  I did not see one person stand up for the club at the last planning commission 
hearing.  The public response has been overwhelmingly against this business.  Your position as a council 
member is to represent us.  If we do not want this, and it is clear we do not, I believe you have an 
obligation to stop this business and stop it now, or we will have to find those who WILL represent us in 
the next election cycle. 
     Please end this now so we can move forward in building a great city.  Thank you for listening.  I know 
you will make the right choice! 
                                                                      Thank You, Mike MacFarlane 
                                                                      2808 Bookcliff ave. 
                                                                      Grand Junction, CO 81501 
                                                                      970-255-6707 Home 
                                                                      970-270-3205 Cell 

 
 

>>> On 1/6/2009 at 8:24 AM, in message <BAY118-DS9815D02C7B036EA969330D4DE0@phx.gbl>, 
"STEVE BAILEY" <palisadefamily@msn.com> wrote: 
To the Grand Junction City Council: 
  
We are asking you to rule against allowing the "Gentleman's Club" or any other such strip club in our 
valley.  Please protect our standard of life here by not catering to the baser instincts of humanity.  We 
rely on you to guide the community; saying NO is sometimes very necessary. 
  
Thank you. 
  
Steve and Elizabeth Bailey 
PO Box 72 
Palisade, CO  81526 
  
970-464-4936 
  

 
 

   Just wanted to give you my input on the Gentleman's club.  I think it is a  
bad idea, we have enough crime in GJ, and I do believe it will cause more.  If  
people that live here don't want it, why isn't it put to a vote?  I read an  
article written by a woman who danced in those type of clubs, and she said  
indeed, it does cause crime.  That will drive good people out of town, it  
would be like the wild west.  We need to get stable businesses in our town, if  
we are to grow and suceed. 
Thank you for listening. 
Bobbi Freshcorn



 

 

>>> On 1/11/2009 at 3:44 PM, in message <d57.17138d88.369bd04d@aol.com>, 
<StrasserFam@aol.com> wrote: 
Dear Grand Junction City Council Members, 
My name is Amber Strasser, a student attending Central High School, and I am writing concerning the 
decision of having the strip club. I personally think that the idea of having this night club is just wrong and 
it degrades women and it does not belong here in this city. If the idea was even approved, it would 
increase the crime rate. I have seen in the news that in Denver at one time at a bar, there was a shooting 
with a guy killing 5 people. Honestly, if you want to keep Grand Junction a clean and safe environment, 
then I prayerfully hope you make a rightful decision and not approve of this hazard. We do not need any 
more sexual predators on the loose because of this club and going after young girls such as me or even 
younger like at the age of 13 years old. Thank you for your time and may God bless you all. 
  
Sincerely, 
Amber Strasser 

 
Mike, 
  
Thank you for including me in your email, although it wasn't really necessary. 
  
I wanted to let you know that any emails received by a City employee are public record and that they are 
made a part of the file for the project.  As such, this email has been forwarded to the project manager so 
a copy will be in the Gentlemen's Club file. 
  
Just thought you should know. 
  
Pat 
  
Pat Dunlap 
Planning Tech 
City of Grand Junction 
(970) 256-4030 
 
>>> "Mike MacFarlane" <macjehu@gmail.com> 1/8/2009 5:52 PM >>> 

Hello Everybody, 
     I just want to take a minute to thank everyone that sacrificed to stand in 
the cold out side the City Hall last night in protest of the gentleman's club.  It 
was a successful night.  We had several people out there.   
     The Daily Sentinel put an article in about the protest with a large picture 
and channel 11 News also did a piece at 10:00 pm last night.  Both were well 
done and I am sure caught the interest of the public.  That was our goal! 
     We now have until November 21st to help our city council find legal 
ground to make a stand against this business.  If there is any one that has 
specific knowledge or skills to help with this please contact us asap. 
     Pray that truth prevails and the lies of the enemy are exposed.  This will 
play an important part in the attempt to stop this business. 
     We will be contacting you again soon as to how you can help be a part of 
this great victory.  Until then keep the night of the 21st open so you can 
attend the hearing at city hall.  This should be the final time the issue comes 
before the council. 
     As always,please forward this to everyone possible. 
     Again, thank you all for your help and support,  Mike & Rennae! 



 

 

Ms Strasser, 
  
Thank you for taking time to write to your City Council. This is a very difficult community issue, and 
receiving input from our citizens is vital to us. What is often misunderstood is that this is an allowable 
use, we are not free to ban this type of club. The Supreme court has ruled repeatedly that we are not 
free to outlaw expressions because we do not like them. It is a guarantee in the first amendment. What 
we can do is firmly regulate them, and most of the discussion has been about a conditional use permit, 
which allows for alcohol sales, but places other harsh restrictions on this establishment.  
  
Please know that I speak for the entire Council when I tell you that our citizens safety is the most 
important consideration we have. We will always do everything in our power to ensure the strictest 
compliance with every law and code relevant to this type of operation, but it goes well beyond that. 
Know that we extend our concern for your safety to include safer schools with resource officers, safer 
streets, with our traffic patrol units, and safer events with your City youth council. We will always make 
our communities safety the most important consideration. We want you to always feel safe in your City. 
 I appreciate hearing from you, and I wish you good luck in the rest of your school term. Thanks for 
writing us. 
  
Gregg Palmer 
Mayor 
City of Grand Junction 
 
>>> Tina Dickey 1/12/2009 10:52 am >>> 
This email message was received from the city web link on 01-11-09 at 15:44 p.m. 
 
 
>>> On 1/11/2009 at 3:44 PM, in message <d57.17138d88.369bd04d@aol.com>, 
<StrasserFam@aol.com> wrote: 
Dear Grand Junction City Council Members, 
My name is Amber Strasser, a student attending Central High School, and I am writing concerning the 
decision of having the strip club. I personally think that the idea of having this night club is just wrong and 
it degrades women and it does not belong here in this city. If the idea was even approved, it would 
increase the crime rate. I have seen in the news that in Denver at one time at a bar, there was a shooting 
with a guy killing 5 people. Honestly, if you want to keep Grand Junction a clean and safe environment, 
then I prayerfully hope you make a rightful decision and not approve of this hazard. We do not need any 
more sexual predators on the loose because of this club and going after young girls such as me or even 
younger like at the age of 13 years old. Thank you for your time and may God bless you all. 
  
Sincerely, 
Amber Strasser 
 

 
>>> On 1/17/2009 at 6:58 AM, in message <495849.67023.qm@web57707.mail.re3.yahoo.com>, larry 
dixon <meter4u@yahoo.com> wrote: 
To whom it may concern, 
  
With all the negative input you probably have been getting, I would like to voice my support for 
Mr. Kevin Eardley's request to open his business as long as he  has met the requirements for the 
liquor license.  I don't know this man, and probably would never set foot in this business.  And  
those who oppose it don't have to either. It will be located in an out of the way area that shouldn't 
affect  many people. 
  
Thank you 
Lawrence Dixon 
 



 

 

>>> On 1/21/2009 at 11:53 AM, in message 
<15e14a880901211053s47dc0213p98a7bed4ce3130ff@mail.gmail.com>, Mike MacFarlane 
<macjehu@gmail.com> wrote: 

Dear Council, 

In the commitment you made to this city when you took office you 
pledged to lead this community in the way that was best for the city. I 
pray that you will live up to that promise today when you make your 
decision concerning the strip club. 

Some have argued that it is not your decision but the truth of the matter 
is that if you uphold the planning commissions two decisions this business 
will have to operate with out the income of liquor. This would severely 
hamper its potential profitability and no business can stay long without a 
profit. 

Some would say that they will open with out the liquor and be totally nude 
and this would be worse than partially clothed. Is that the case? Would 
they open or are they bluffing? Would they take us to court or are they 
trying to put fear in our hearts? Do we know for sure? How would any of 
this be worse? Will the women involved have better lives if they only bare 
their breasts?  

Women will be equally destroyed in both scenarios. Men will still be 
aroused either way with no outlet and will seek a release either with a 
willing partner, an unwilling partner or possibly a massage parlor. They will 
find a way, but take the intoxication factor out of the mix and some men 
will be more sensible in their choice of outlet. 

Take the liquor out of the equation and crime will decrease around this 
establishment and the traffic to the business would be less. To go out for 
a drink at a place like this can be written off as someone just going out 
for a drink and decided to check it out but to go into a place that only 
sells a "view" would limit who would be willing to attend. Limit the 
potential customers and you limit the impact on the community even if it 
does open. 



 

 

Less business means less crime and fewer dispatched calls to burden the 
police department with. Crime around Cheers dropped 8% when they 
closed. Do we really want that type of increase if this were to open?  

The direct cost of resources to this community would far exceed the cost 
of an attorney and the cost would be with out end. Pay the legal costs 
once and be done. The indirect cost of this would be beyond the scope of 
numeric value and it is worth any price to stop this. 

This brings me to my final point. I realize you have had council that says 
we would not win in court and I can only speculate as to why they feel 
they could not succeed. Maybe they side with the business or possibly 
come at this from the position that their job is to keep us our of law 
suits. Possibly they researched this from an opinion that they could not 
win and therefore only found case law to support that position rather 
than a mind set that says we have to find a way to win. We all know how 
our starting mind set can alter our view and perception of what we see. I 
can only speculate. What I do know is that we have been in contact with 
the Alliance Defense Fund and they have been watching this case and 
believe we can legally stop this and even win in court if it progresses to 
that point. 

The Alliance Defense Fund is an organization that specializes in cases like 
this that involve morality issues. They have successfully defended 
thousands of cases. They are not alone. There are others that do the 
same thing and have won at the Supreme Court level. They are well 
schooled in these cases. It compares to seeking the advise of an 
Oncologist rather than a family doctor when you have cancer. Is it 
possible our city's legal council is not as schooled in the specifics as 
others who have successfully defeated these businesses?  

If we know the effects of this business will reach into the future of this 
community without end is it not wisdom to do everything we can now to 
stop it? How much is the future of Grand Junction worth to you? Can you 
really say you have protected the cities best interest and let this in? Will 
you have lived up to your oath to serve us faithfully if you overturn the 
planning commissions decision? 



 

 

Please, do what is right. 

Thank You for Your Service, 

Mike MacFarlane 

2808 Bookcliff ave. 

Grand Junction, CO 81501 

970-255-6707 home 

970-270-3205 cell 

 
 
January 24, 2009 
 
 
 
Dear Grand Junction City Council: 
 
I am not in favor of the strip club, strip club serving alcohol or non alcoholic beverages. The owner needs a One Way Bus 
Ticket out of Grand Junction, CO.  
 
I am new resident as of 6 weeks and a native of California ashamed to say. My background has been in community awareness 
against Child Abuse and Molestation Prevention. In fact more than I would like, there has been times I have provided abuse 
counseling to women who have been in the stripping business.    
 
While reviewing the article on the strip club topic. I started to feel insulted by, Kevin Eardley’s demands and threats. According 
to a geography map Grand Junction, is two state’s away from California no rules, same sex marriages, what are morals and 
family values, state!  Have “WE” Americans not seen enough debauchery eroding communities throughout states? 
 
Where is the benefit: Newspaper ad promising big money, flexible hours, no experience necessary, 18 above applies. The 
common underlying element in strip clubs is that male customers, managers, staff, and owners use diverse methods of 
harassment, manipulation, exploitation, and abuse to control female strippers. On top of the abuse story line & nudity Mr. 
Eardley want’s to be granted a liquor license. In all due respect, GJ City Council and Planning Commission are you all out of 
your minds? 
 
In a typical hiring scenario women respond in person to a strip audition the club manager asks the applicants to perform on 
amateur night or bikini night, both of which are particularly popular with customers who hope to see girl-next-door types rather 
than seasoned strippers.  
 
The manager will make a job offer based on physical attributes and number of women already on the schedule. Clubs portray the 
job requirements as very flexible. Women are told that they will not be forced to do anything they do not want to do, but clubs 
overbook women so they are forced to compete with each other, often gradually engaging in more explicit activities in order to 
earn tips. 
 
 
In Sacramento, CA the few strip clubs featured a variety of attractions including topless dancing, nude dancing, table dancing, 
couch dancing, lap dancing, wall dancing, shower dancing, and bed dancing. In addition, some clubs had peepshows, female 
boxing and wrestling with customers, offered photographs of the dancers, or hired pornography models and actresses as 
headliners. Strip club owners, managers, pimps and the media portray stripping as a glamorous way to earn big money fast and 
use this strategy to lure young women into stripping. Where is the pride in those head lines? What is the message we are sending 
to our children and grandchildren. 
 



 

 

 
Despite the common perception that a woman can dance there way through school, many strippers report that their jobs take over 
their lives. Long and late hours, fatigue, drug and alcohol problems, and out of town bookings make it difficult to switch gears. 
 
 
Although strip clubs are considered legal forms of entertainment, people not associated with the industry are unaware of the 
emotional, physical, and sexual abuse inherent in the industry. Look there still will be drinking any way you look at it. Most 
dancer perform under the influence to numb them selves because it degrading work. Men will come with alcohol or drugs in their 
system to supporting there unacceptable acting out behavior in those environments. Please GJ Council Members get your head 
our of the sand. This town has enough drug abusers, manufactures and torn apart family units.  
 
Despite claims from management aka (Kevin Eardley) "glorified pimp" customers are prohibited from touching the women, this 
rule is consistently violated. Furthermore, stripping usually involves prostitution. The overwhelming trend for violence against 
women in strip clubs was committed by customers of the establishments, I was informed and almost all of the perpetrators 
suffered no consequence whatsoever for their actions. 
 
 
Men associated with strip clubs use force and coercion to establish sexual contact with women in stripping, proposition women 
for prostitution, intentionally inflict bodily harm upon the women, and expose themselves to the women. These actions are 
prohibited by law, yet when these crimes are committed against women in strip clubs, the general attitude that strippers deserve 
what they get prevails. Women’s complaints of abuse are met with contempt and are dismissed by owners, managers, and staff. 
 
 
Women are customarily told to ignore abuse, can you just imagine your daughter or neighbor’s daughter who has been rebuffed 
with "Go bend over and do your job" and "You have to expect a certain amount of that."  in the case of women in stripping, 
enduring sexual violence is part of her job description. Women in stripping are expected to endure these abuses, degradations, 
and humiliations with a smile and a "Thank You". 
 
 
The degree of sexual violence perpetrated against strippers explodes the myths about stripping as harmless entertainment. Poll 
your local Sheriff’s and Police Department on there professional opinion on such environment and future increase in crime. The 
verbal harassment, physical and sexual abuse, and financial exploitation women suffer in strip clubs is unparalleled in any other 
legitimate workplace.  
 
 
Women in stripping are subject to actions that would be perceived as assaultive or a least unwanted in any other context or were 
directed against other women. Strip clubs allow men to use and abuse women in a manner that is not tolerated in any other 
business..go view for your self. Must we still continue and degrade. The organization and conditions of strip clubs not only 
produce and reproduce gender inequality but facilitate and normalize men’s violence against women.  
 
 
Sexual violence has been normalized, institutionalized, and legalized in the strip club industry as socially sanctioned male 
behavior. Strip clubs and the men associated with strip clubs have turned acts of violence into entertainment and tied male sexual 
pleasure to victimizing and exploiting. Strip clubs are structured according to male domination 
and control, and are inherently violent. My position is not to demean either sex or denounce our sexuality as human beings.  
There is a correct place for healthy sexual expression and it not in granting a bully the space or permit to serve liquor. I think you 
would agree the reality this atmosphere offers does nothing to increase pride in living here in Grand Junction nor applauds our 
young adults to walk towards a future that benefit’s society as a whole.    
 
 
Fact it is impossible to set up strip clubs without sexual violence, alcoholism and drug use.  An explanation beyond any revenue 
generated by the means of approving Kevin Eardley’s purposed strip club and or license to sell alcohol requires Moral Scrutiny.  
I ask you do you have any morality left with in your self to say No More and be proud for the future being shaped daily. 
 
Thank you in advance for your support. 
Very truly, 
 
 
Natalie R.Curry  
Grand Junction, Co 81504 
916-628-6253 cell 



 

 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

GRAND JUNCTION CITY COUNCIL  
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

 
January 21, 2009 

 
The City Council of the City of Grand Junction convened into regular session on the 21st 
day of January 2009 at 7:03 p.m. in the City Auditorium.  Those present were 
Councilmembers Bonnie Beckstein, Teresa Coons, Jim Doody, Bruce Hill, Doug 
Thomason, and Council President Gregg Palmer.  Councilmember Linda Romer Todd 
was absent.  Also present were City Manager Laurie Kadrich, City Attorney John Shaver, 
and City Clerk Stephanie Tuin.    
 
Council President Palmer called the meeting to order.  Councilmember Doody led in the 
Pledge of Allegiance followed by an invocation by Pastor Paul McGinnett, Central 
Orchard Mesa Community Church. 
 
Citizen Comments 
 
There were none. 
 
Council Comments 
 
Council President Palmer expressed his appreciation for the job City Clerk Stephanie 
Tuin did on the consideration of the Brady Trucking petition issue.  He praised the way 
she handled a situation that she was not especially comfortable with. 
 
City Manager’s Report 
 
This was removed from the agenda. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Councilmember Hill read the Consent Calendar and then moved to approve consent 
items #1 through #9.  Councilmember Thomason seconded the motion.  Motion carried  
by roll call vote. 
 
1. Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 
 Action:  Approve the Minutes of the January 5, 2009 and the January 7, 2009 

Regular Meeting and the Minutes of the January 5, 2009 Special Session 
 
 
2. Setting a Hearing Regarding the Regulation and Licensing of Massage 

Parlors 

In an ongoing effort to monitor and police community nuisance and criminal 
activities, the Grand Junction Police Department and the City Attorney have 
become aware of some growth in criminal activities related to massage parlor 
establishments.  City Staff believes that it would be in the best interests of the 



 

 

community if City Council would consider a new City ordinance to regulate and 
license massage parlors. Those establishments can be a front for criminal 
activity. With licensing as proposed, law enforcement will have greater 
opportunity to monitor businesses before problems arise. 

Proposed Ordinance Regulating and Licensing Massage Parlors 
 
 Action:  Introduction of a Proposed Ordinance and Set a Hearing for February 4, 

2009 
 
3. Lease Agreement with MBC Grand Broadcasting Inc. 
 

The City owns real property near Whitewater, Colorado which is currently being 
leased by MBC Grand Broadcasting, Inc. for radio broadcast transmission. The 
City and the current tenant wish to update their current Lease Agreement and 
renew the lease for subsequent terms.  

 
 Resolution No. 08-09—A Resolution Authorizing and Ratifying a New Lease 

Agreement between the City of Grand Junction and MBC Grand Broadcasting, Inc. 
 

Action:  Adopt Resolution No. 08-09 
 
4. Energy and Mineral Impact Grant for Planning Software Upgrade 
 

A request to accept an Energy and Mineral Impact Grant, in the amount of 
$200,000, as partial funding for the purchase of Planning Project Submittal and 
Management Software. 

 
Action:  Accept the Grant and Authorize the City Manager to Sign the Grant 
Contract for the Purchase of Planning Project Submittal and Management 
Software in the Amount of $200,000 

 
5. Amendment No. 3 of Engineering Services Contract with Jacobs Carter 

Burgess for the 29 Road and I-70B Interchange 
 

This amendment is a supplement to the original final design contract for the 29 
Road and I-70B Interchange Project.  During the course of the final design effort, 
there have been a number of additions to the project scope that necessitate this 
supplement.  The additions to the scope include surveying, final design and right-
of-way acquisitions for sections of Melody Lane and D ½ Road not previously 
included in the project scope. 
 
Action:  Authorize the City Manager to Amend the Engineering Services Contract 
for the 29 Road and I-70B Interchange Project with Jacobs Carter Burgess for a 
Total Fee of $2,592,510 Thereby Increasing the Contract by $352,198 
 

6. Intent to Create Alley Improvement District 2009, Phase B 
 



 

 

A successful petition has been submitted requesting a Local Improvement 
District be created to reconstruct the alley that is east/west from 11th to 12th, 
between Hill Avenue and Teller Avenue. 
 
Resolution No. 09-09—A Resolution Declaring the Intention of the City Council of 
the City of Grand Junction, Colorado, to Create within Said City Alley 
Improvement District No. ST-09, Phase B and Authorizing the City Engineer to 
Prepare Details and Specifications for the Same 
 
Action:  Adopt Resolution No. 09-09 
 

7. Setting a Hearing on the DeRush Mini Storage Rezone, Located at 2179 H 
Road [File #RZ-2008-319] 

 
Request to rezone 4.60 acres located at 2179 H Road, from C-2 (General 
Commercial) to I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district. 

 
Proposed Ordinance Rezoning the DeRush Mini Storage Unit Property from C-2 
(General Commercial) to I-1 (Light Industrial), Located at 2179 H Road 

 
Action:  Introduction of a Proposed Ordinance and Set a Hearing for February 4, 
2009 

 
8. Setting a Hearing on Zoning the Colorado Army National Guard Campus 

Annexation, Located at 2800 Riverside Parkway [File #ANX-2008-344] 
 

Request to zone 57.95 acres, Colorado Army National Guard Campus 
Annexation located at 2800 Riverside Parkway, CSR (Community Services and 
Recreation). 
Proposed Ordinance Zoning the Colorado Army National Guard Campus 
Annexation to CSR (Community Services and Recreation), Located at 2800 
Riverside Parkway 
 
Action:  Introduction of a Proposed Ordinance and Set a Hearing for February 2, 
2009 

 
 Staff presentation: Michelle Hoshide, Associate Planner 
 
9. Rename Saccomanno Drive to Seeber Drive and Sentinel Way to 

Saccomanno Road [File #MSC-2009-005]                                                  
 

The request originated from Leitner-Poma of America, Inc. to change the street 
names in the Bookcliff Tech Park Subdivision.  The applicant is the first tenant in 
this subdivision and the company felt the name of their adjacent right-of-way 
should honor the Owner of the Company. 
 
Resolution No. 10-09—A Resolution Renaming Saccomanno Drive to Seeber 
Drive and Sentinel Way to Saccomanno Road 
 



 

 

Action:  Adopt Resolution No. 10-09 
 

ITEMS NEEDING INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION  
 
Public Hearing - Night Hawk Drive Right-of-Way Annexation, Located 
Approximately at 30 and B Roads [File #ANX-2008-301] 
 
Request to annex 1.45 acres, located approximately 660 feet west of 30 Road, 
adjoining B Road on the north and extending southerly approximately 2,060 feet. The 
Night Hawk Drive Annexation consists entirely of right-of-way. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:10 p.m. 
 
Ivy Williams, Development Services Supervisor, presented this item.  She described the 
site as all right-of-way and advised the reason for the request.  She asked that the Staff 
Report and attachments be entered into the record.  The annexation meets all the 
annexation criteria.  The applicant is the City of Grand Junction. 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:11 p.m. 
 
a. Accepting Petition 
 
Resolution No. 11-09—A Resolution Accepting a Petition for Annexation, Making Certain 
Findings, Determining that Property Known as the Night Hawk Drive Annexation, Located 
at Approximately 660 feet West of 30 Road and Adjoining B Road on the North and 
Extending Southerly for Approximately 2,060 Feet is Eligible for Annexation 
 
b. Annexation Ordinance 
 
Ordinance No. 4318—An Ordinance Annexing Territory to the City of Grand Junction, 
Colorado, Night Hawk Drive Annexation, Approximately 1.45 Acres, Located 
Approximately 660 feet West of 30 Road and Adjoining B Road on the North and 
Extending Southerly for Approximately 2,060 Feet 
 
Councilmember Thomason moved to adopt Resolution No. 11-09 and Ordinance No. 
4318 and ordered it published.  Councilmember Beckstein seconded the motion.  Motion 
carried by roll call vote. 
 
Public Hearing - Riverside Parkway and Overpass Annexation, Located at 29 Road 
and North Avenue and at 29 Road and I-70 B [File #ANX-2008-307] 
Request to annex approximately 15.0 acres, located at five locations on Riverside 
Parkway, a portion of 29 Road adjoining North Avenue on the north and extending 
southerly to I-70 Business Loop and a portion of I-70 Business Loop beginning at 29 
Road northeasterly approximately 2,400 feet.  The Riverside Parkway and Overpass 
Annexation consists only of right-of-way. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:13 p.m. 



 

 

 
Ivy Williams, Development Services Supervisor, presented this item.  She described the 
site as all right-of-way and advised the reason for the request.  She asked that the Staff 
Report and attachments be entered into the record.  The annexation meets all the 
annexation criteria.  The applicant is the City of Grand Junction. 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:14 p.m. 
 
a. Accepting Petition 
 
Resolution No. 12-09—A Resolution Accepting a Petition for Annexation, Making Certain 
Findings, Determining that Property Known as the Riverside Parkway and Overpass 
Annexation, Approximately 15.0 Acres, Located at Five Sections of Riverside Parkway 
Right-of-Way, 29 Road From 29 Road Southerly to I-70 Business Loop and I-70 Business 
Loop from 29 Road Northeasterly, Approximately 2,400 feet is Eligible for Annexation 
 
b. Annexation Ordinance 
 
Ordinance No. 4319—An Ordinance Annexing Territory to the City of Grand Junction, 
Colorado, Riverside Parkway and Overpass Annexation, Approximately 15.0 Acres, 
Located at Five Sections of Riverside Parkway Right-of-Way, 29 Road From 29 Road 
Southerly to I-70 Business Loop and I-70 Business Loop from 29 Road Northeasterly, 
Approximately 2,400 feet 
 
Councilmember Coons moved to adopt Resolution No. 12-09 and Ordinance No. 4319 
and ordered it published.  Councilmember Hill seconded the motion.  Motion carried by 
roll call vote. 
 
Public Hearing – Growth Plan Amendment, Outline Development Plan and Rezone 
for St. Mary’s Rose Hill Hospitality House Expansion, Located at 609 26 ½ Road 
[File #RZ-2008-227] 
 
A request for approval for a Growth Plan Amendment from Residential Medium (4 – 8 
du/ac) to Commercial and also a request for approval to zone property located at 609 
26 ½ Road known as St. Mary’s Rose Hill Hospitality House to PD (Planned 
Development) with a default zone of B-1, (Neighborhood Business) by approval of the 
Outline Development Plan. 
 
Councilmember Teresa Coons recused herself as she still has ties with St. Mary’s 
Hospital.  She left the dais and the meeting room. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:15 p.m. 
 
Scott D. Peterson, Senior Planner, presented this item.  Mr. Peterson described the 
request, the site, and the location.  The request is to change the zoning of the property 
to include the Rose Hill Hospitality House in St. Mary’s Hospital’s Master Plan Planned 



 

 

Development District.  Approval of the request will bring the property into conformance 
with the use. 
 
The applicant was present but did not wish to add anything. 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:21 p.m. 
Councilmember Hill reviewed the Growth Plan Amendment criteria and agreed there 
was an error in designation but that the request also met the other criteria for a Growth 
Plan Amendment. 
 
Resolution No. 13-09—A Resolution Amending the Growth Plan of the City of Grand 
Junction to Designate Approximately 0.80 +/- Acres Located at 609 26 ½ Road Known 
as the St. Mary’s Rose Hill Hospitality House Expansion from Residential Medium (4-9 
DU/AC.) to Commercial 
 
Ordinance No. 4320—An Ordinance Rezoning Property Located at 609 26 ½ Road 
known as St. Mary’s Rose Hill Hospitality House to PD (Planned Development) by 
Amending Ordinance No. 3992 to Include this Property 
 
Councilmember Doody moved to adopt Resolution No. 13-09 and Ordinance No. 4320 
and ordered it published.  Councilmember Hill seconded the motion.  Motion carried by 
roll call vote. 
 
Councilmember Coons returned to the meeting and took her place on the dais. 
 
Appeal of the Planning Commission’s Decision Regarding a Conditional Use 
Permit for a Bar/Nightclub [File #CUP-2008-158] 
 
An appeal has been filed regarding the Planning Commission’s decision to deny a 
Conditional Use Permit for a Bar/Nightclub, located at 2256 and 2258 Colex Drive.  The 
project sits on 1 lot in an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone district.  (The project will include 
leased parking spaces from the lot immediately to the north.)  This appeal is pursuant to 
Section 2.18.E of the Zoning and Development Code, which specifies that the City 
Council is the appellate body of the Planning Commission.  According to Section 
2.18.E.4.h, no new evidence or testimony may be presented, except City Staff may be 
asked to interpret materials contained in the record. 
 
The hearing was opened at 7:28 p.m. 
 
City Attorney John Shaver explained the process for the issue on the agenda.  He 
explained that this review is separate from the prior review and that the prior record is 
not relevant to the matter before them.  The record they are to review is the testimony 
heard by the Planning Commission on November 25, 2008 and the Planning 
Commission’s consideration of the matter.  The Council is to look at the Planning 
Commission’s consideration, not to substitute their opinion for the Planning 
Commission’s.  Mr. Shaver then explained the purpose of a Conditional Use Permit and 
why a CUP is required.  The City Council is not reviewing the entertainment aspect of 



 

 

the establishment.  The Council is free to comment on the evidence but it is not a public 
hearing at this meeting.  He advised Staff can address the Council on the application 
and can answer questions relative to the Code and the review but Staff does not have a 
presentation.  The record provided to the City Council includes a DVD copy of the 
proceedings, the Staff Report, and the verbatim minutes from the Planning Commission 
hearing. 
 
Council President Palmer reiterated that the Council acts as the appellant body and it is 
not a public hearing so no new testimony will be solicited. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein asked City Attorney Shaver to list the City Council’s options. 
City Attorney Shaver stated the Council may remand the matter back to the Planning 
Commission, they could remand the matter back to Planning Commission with direction, 
or they may deny the appeal. 
 
Councilmember Coons asked about the residentially used property and the fact that the 
property is not residentially zoned.  City Attorney Shaver stated that the Code rather 
than regulating the activity itself, regulates the location.  The Code says adult 
entertainment cannot be within 1,000 feet of residentially zoned property.  However, that 
means the Planning Commission is considering the use, adult entertainment 
specifically, rather than the liquor licensing of the establishment. 
 
Councilmember Coons asked about the Code provision for liquor establishments in that 
zone district.  City Attorney Shaver replied that is not an issue in this situation.  City 
Attorney Shaver stated that Conditional Use Permits are required for all bar and 
nightclub establishments based upon alcohol usage.  A Conditional Use Permit looks at 
the compatibility criteria.  The Conditional Use Permit is also scrutinized at a higher 
level under the City Code because of the proposed liquor service with adjacent land 
uses. 
 
Councilmember Thomason asked at what point will the application not keep going back 
and forth from City Council to Planning Commission. 
 
City Attorney Shaver advised due process ensures the rules are consistent and 
consistently applied.  The Council and Planning Commission may not like the law but 
changing the law midstream is a concern to him.  The matter stops when the Council 
says it stops.  If the Council denies the appeal, it stops at this level.  It may go to 
another process.  The other way it would stop would be if the City Council remands 
back to the Planning Commission and they make another decision that is consistent 
with the Code. 
 
City Attorney Shaver said he would not recommend any change to the law until this 
application is resolved. 
 
Council President Palmer asked if adult entertainment can be outlawed.  City Attorney 
Shaver stated that the laws that are upheld are laws that address the secondary effects 
of such activity such as increase in criminal activity or increase in police calls.  Trying to 
outlaw that specific activity would be an issue under the Constitution.  Dance has been 
defined as free speech and is protected under the First Amendment. 



 

 

 
Councilmember Coons asked if the City regulates the secondary effects of liquor 
licensed establishments.  City Attorney Shaver answered not specifically, but the record 
of every liquor licensed establishment is reviewed annually and there could be 
sanctions for unlawful conduct of the establishment. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein asked about the requirement for the needs and desires of the 
neighborhood for a liquor license.  City Attorney Shaver said that is required and the 
City uses a petition process to gather that information.  That is not the only 
consideration when reviewing a license application but certainly the Hearing Officer 
takes that into consideration. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein asked if it can be assumed that since those businesses in 
the neighborhood that spoke out against the establishment at the Planning Commission 
are against it in their neighborhood, then the Planning Commission did act correctly?  
City Attorney Shaver did not comment specifically on the question but instead cautioned 
the City Council that the two processes are separate. 
 
Councilmember Coons asked how the neighborhood is defined in the liquor licensing 
process.  City Attorney Shaver said generally it is a square mile but in the case where 
there are few inhabitants that area may be expanded.  The applicant has not yet applied 
for a liquor license. 
 
Councilmember Doody asked for a restatement of what the direction was previously 
given to the Planning Commission.  City Attorney Shaver said the direction was for the 
Planning Commission to define the neighborhood other than the entire City. 
 
Council President Palmer noted the non-conforming residential use was discussed. 
Also, in the planning discussion regarding alcohol service in various industrial zones, 
City Attorney Shaver could not recall a specific licensee, but the Code does allow for 
these types of establishments in industrial zone districts.  Council President Palmer 
asked if it was appropriate for the Planning Commission to look forward in making their 
decision based on speculation about future land use or business activity regarding 
Conditional Use Permits.  City Attorney Shaver advised that Council would not want the 
Planning Commission to speculate, but instead to follow Code. 
 
The City Council declined the need for any additional information from Senta L. 
Costello, Senior Planner. 
 
Councilmember Hill read an excerpt from the minutes, a statement by Assistant City 
Attorney Jamie Beard where she stated that this activity is covered by the First 
Amendment as free speech.   He then noted that even though there is a residential use 
in the neighborhood, the Code is specific to the zone district.  He said he thought the 
intent was to disallow this activity next door to a residential component.  Another 
Planning Commissioner (Abbott) comments were very specific to the bar/nightclub that 
he did not feel alcohol use in the area was compatible.  Councilmember Hill then looked 
to the criteria to uphold the appeal.  He said he does not find anything that supports the 
appeal.  He has reasons he can support denial of the appeal.  He does not believe the 



 

 

Planning Commission was acting erroneously or inconsistently for the Council to make 
a finding to uphold the appeal and remand it back. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein said she agreed and she does not believe the application will 
be successful in that neighborhood and it is a residential area even if the long range 
plan is to change the use in the area.  She will not support the appeal. 
 
Councilmember Thomason said he is not quite ready to sign off on the denial as he 
reads the Code.  It is clearly a hot button issue for the community but it still boils down 
to the Code.  The CUP application for the sale of alcohol should go back to the Planning 
Commission so the letter of the Code can be followed. 
 
Councilmember Doody supported statements from Dr. Paul Dibble in the record.  Even 
though the activity should not be considered, it was and caused this appeal.  Therefore 
he agrees with Councilmember Thomason. 
 
Councilmember Coons said the City Council and Planning Commission are charged 
with following the Code and although she hears Councilmember Hill’s arguments, she 
thinks the Commissioners may have stretched the argument.  She felt there are 
probably a lot of liquor licenses in industrial and commercial areas so she thinks the 
Commissioners’ decision expressed their dislike for this activity through their denial.  
She agreed that if the community wants to address this issue it should be addressed but 
it is unfair to change the Code in the middle of the process.  She cannot support the 
denial of the appeal. 
 
Councilmember Hill clarified that the residential use is in relation to the adult activity, not 
the liquor license; the Code is silent on that. 
 
Council President Palmer thanked the Council for their comments.  The community 
should see that the Council takes these issues very seriously.  Their charge is to be the 
appellant body of the Planning Commission regardless of their personal opinion.  He did 
not feel it is supportable that the residential use is a factor for denial.  He also cannot 
support the finding that it is not compatible with the industrial zone.  He cannot support 
denial of the appeal. 
 
Councilmember Thomason asked what the shaded area is as indicated on the site 
drawing.  City Attorney Shaver responded that is the 1,000 foot radius.  Councilmember 
Thomason asked if that is the area for surveying for the liquor licensing.  City Attorney 
Shaver said that would generally be a square mile, or perhaps expanded if needed to 
incorporate inhabitants. 
 
The hearing was closed at 8:13 p.m. 
 
Councilmember Hill moved to support the appeal of the Planning Commission’s 
decision regarding a Conditional Use Permit for a bar/nightclub at 2256 and 2258 Colex 
Drive.  Councilmember Coons seconded the motion.  Motion carried by roll call vote 
with Councilmembers Beckstein and Hill voting NO. 
 



 

 

The City Council then discussed how the issue will be remanded back to the Planning 
Commission either by defining the error or not, that is with or without direction. 
 
Councilmember Hill said he does not find the Planning Commission acted in error but 
he wished there was more support for their findings.  He asked that the Planning 
Commission be more specific.  He agreed that they did focus on the bar/nightclub issue. 
 
Councilmember Coons agreed and asked that further justification regarding the 
commercial/industrial conflict be included in Planning Commission’s findings. 
 
City Attorney Shaver noted that if Council wants to give specific direction to the 
Planning Commission, a motion would be preferred but certainly the Planning 
Commission will see the record of the discussion and know what the City Council is 
asking. 
 
Councilmember Hill suggested the Planning Commission members need to be more 
verbal as to what their position is.  There was a lack of that in the record. 
 
Council President Palmer called a recess at 8:21 p.m. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 8:29 p.m. 
 
Public Hearing - Amending the Municipal Code Regarding Minors in Possession of 
Alcohol and Marijuana 
 
Amendments are being proposed to define and clarify sentencing parameters for repeat 
Minor in Possession (MIP) offenders. Changes to the Ordinance will help enforce 
compliance with the City Ordinances governing minors in possession of alcohol and 
marijuana. 
 
The public hearing was opened at 8:29 p.m. 
 
John Shaver, City Attorney, presented this item.  He explained that the ordinance will 
classify substance abuse offenses as one category so that if a violator gets an alcohol 
offense and then a marijuana offense, they would not be considered a first offense of 
each; rather one would be a second offense.  It will allow the court more opportunity to 
make a difference in kids’ lives. 
 
Councilmember Doody asked if Staff worked with the Municipal Judge on this.  City 
Attorney Shaver said they did and had prepared the ordinance last fall but had not yet 
brought it forward. 
 
Council President Palmer agreed it will help address the problem as a combination 
problem. 
 
Councilmember Coons noted that in many cases the two are not separate behaviors. 
 
Mesa County Partners Director Joe Higgins spoke in favor the proposed ordinance.  His 
program works hand in hand with the juvenile courts for offenses which the majority are 



 

 

minor in possession cases.  They do see repeat offenders.   They do have them do 
community service and take a class on substance abuse.  It is predictive behavior.  He 
feels the change will help.  It will allow the court to give tougher sentences. 
 
There were no other public comments. 
 
The public hearing was closed at 8:36 p.m. 
 
Councilmember Hill supported the ordinance and agreed with Councilmember Doody’s 
comment about closing the loop hole. 
 
Ordinance No. 4321—An Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 3852, Which Establishes 
Section 24-22 of the Code of Ordinances and Prohibits the Purchase, Possession or 
Consumption of Alcohol by Minors and Also Amending Ordinance No. 3853, which 
Establishes Section 24-23 of the Code of Ordinances and Prohibits the Purchase, 
Possession or Consumption of Marijuana by Minors 
Councilmember Beckstein moved to adopt Ordinance No. 4321 and ordered it 
published.  Councilmember Doody seconded the motion.  Motion carried by roll call 
vote. 
 
Council President Palmer praised the work by Municipal Court Judge McInnis in working 
with juveniles. 
 
Non-Scheduled Citizens & Visitors 
 
There were none. 
 
Other Business 
 
Councilmember Coons said it strikes her that with the growth of the community, it puts 
Council in a position to deal with issues that they did not have to deal with in the past.  
She suggested a community-wide discussion on how to deal with some of these issues.  
Citizens could take a look at what it would mean to change the Code and requirements, 
not only the changes, but what are the ramifications. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein added that the vision is the “Best in the West by 2025” and she 
suggested sharing that with the community and have them discuss how they can make it 
the best in the west.  It does include tolerance and acceptance of things they do not have 
control over but ways they may lessen the negative experience. 
 
Council President Palmer noted the Council should have a retreat following the election 
and perhaps that can be discussed further in that setting. 
 
Councilmember Coons said that the pros and cons need to be discussed in public. 
 
Councilmember Beckstein said getting community involvement is being explored more 
and more by Councils in other formats that is more inclusive and less burdensome on the 
individuals. 
 



 

 

Councilmember Doody noted the investment in parks and recreation, school resource 
officers, the college and St. Mary’s, and he encouraged the Council to discuss it in their 
retreat.  He said he would like to be part of that discussion from the “other side” (as a 
citizen). 
 
There was no other business. 
 
 
Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:43 p.m. 
 
 
Stephanie Tuin, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
 



 

 

Attach 7 
Twelfth & Patterson Center 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 24, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Scott D. Peterson 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Twelfth and Patterson Center (City Market) - Conditional Use Permit 
– Vacation of Easement - CUP-2008-323 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP)/Sign Package 
and Vacation of Easement for the Twelfth and Patterson Center. 
  

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: SE corner of the intersection at N. 12th Street and 
Patterson Road 

Applicants:  Dillon Real Estate Company, Inc., Owners; 12th 
and Patterson GJ Goldberg, LLC, Representative 

Existing Land Use: Vacant land and former real estate office 

Proposed Land Use: City Market grocery store and neighborhood 
business commercial development 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Bookcliff Baptist Church, Counseling and 
Education Center and American Family Insurance 

South Single and Single-Family Attached Residential 

East Single and Multi-Family Residential (Patterson 
Gardens) 

West Village Fair Shopping Center 
Existing Zoning: B-1, (Neighborhood Business) 
Proposed Zoning: N/A 

Surrounding 
Zoning: 
 

North R-O, (Residential Office) and R-8, (Residential – 8 
du/ac) 

South PD, (Planned Development) and R-8, (Residential 
– 8 du/ac) 

East R-8, (Residential – 8 du/ac) 
West B-1, (Neighborhood Business) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A request for approval of a Conditional Use Permit to 
develop a neighborhood business commercial development in a B-1, (Neighborhood 
Business) zone district.  A Conditional Use Permit is required for a retail building that is 
in excess of 15,000 sq. ft. in the B-1 zone district and also for a drive-through retail use 
(Proposed Lot 1, Twelfth & Patterson Center Subdivision) in accordance with Table 3.5 
of the Zoning and Development Code.  The applicant is also requesting the vacation of 
a 2.5’ Irrigation and Drainage Easement. 



 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of the Conditional Use Permit and Vacation of 
Easement, CUP-2008-323, for a retail building that is in excess of 15,000 sq. ft. in the 
B-1 zone district and also for a drive-through retail use. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
 
1. Background: 
 
Conditional Uses are not uses by right.  The approval of the Conditional Use Permit, 
once established, shall run with the land and will remain valid until the property changes 
use or the use is abandoned and/or non-operational for a period of twelve (12) 
consecutive months.  Failure to develop or establish such use accordingly shall be 
sufficient to revoke the permit. 
 
The applicant, 12th and Patterson GJ Goldberg, LLC, wishes to construct a 49,548 sq. 
ft. City Market grocery store with a drive-through pharmacy, along with a fuel center and 
also three retail buildings that range in building size from 6,000 sq. ft. to 9,000 sq. ft., 
that could accommodate up to 17 individual tenants (See attached Site Plan – Sheet 
CS1.1) on a total of 8.4 acres (Proposed Twelfth & Patterson Center Subdivision which 
is being reviewed concurrently with this application).  In accordance with Table 3.5 of 
the Zoning and Development Code, a drive-through retail use is required to obtain a 
Conditional Use Permit in the B-1, (Neighborhood Business) zone district.  Also, a 
Conditional Use Permit is required for a retail building that is in excess of 15,000 sq. ft. 
in the B-1 zone district (Proposed Lot 1, Twelfth & Patterson Center Subdivision)  in 
accordance with Section 3.4 B. of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
The B-1, (Neighborhood Business) zoning district Performance Standards (Section 3.4 
B. of the Zoning and Development Code) requires that no use in this district shall open 
or accept deliveries earlier than 5:00 AM nor close later than 11:00 PM.  “Close” 
includes no customers on-site and no deliveries.  The applicant has stated that they are 
in agreement with these hours of operation. 
 
Access to the property will be from Patterson Road (“3/4 movement” – right-in, right-out, 
left-in), N. 12th Street (right-in, right-out) and Wellington Avenue (full movement). 
Complete reconstruction of the N. 12th Street and Patterson Road intersection will be 
required.  Real estate will need to be acquired for additional right-of-way for the 
intersection.  Upgrades at N. 12th Street and Patterson Road will include double left-turn 
lanes on all four legs.  The cost of these improvements is currently being negotiated 
between the City and the applicant.  Wellington Avenue will be upgraded with half (½) 
street improvements that include curb/gutter/sidewalk on the northside of Wellington 
adjacent to the applicant’s property.  This will be paid for by the applicant. 
 
As part of this application, the applicant wishes to vacate an existing 2.5’ Irrigation and 
Drainage Easement in anticipation of the proposed neighborhood business commercial 
development.  The existing Easement does not contain any public infrastructure utilities 
and was dedicated to the public as part of the Yo Minor Subdivision in 1993. 
In accordance with the Zoning and Development Code, unless otherwise approved, a 
site plan shall expire on the one year anniversary date of approval of the project. 



 

 

 
Sign Package: 
 
Project Manager has calculated the maximum amount of signage allowance for the 
entire project to be 2,290 sq. ft. (free-standing and building).  The applicant is proposing 
2,270 sq. ft. (1,482 sq. ft. for building signage and 788 sq. ft. for free-standing signage).  
The applicant is proposing three free-standing signs.  One free-standing sign along 
Patterson Road, one sign along N. 12th Street and the third, a center identification sign 
at the intersection of N. 12th Street and Patterson Road.  The two tallest free-standing 
signs will have an overall height of 22’.  All proposed signage is within the required 
square footage and height requirements per the Zoning and Development Code (See 
attached Sign Package – Sheets A6 and A7). 
 
2. Consistency with the Growth Plan: 
 
The site is currently zoned B-1, (Neighborhood Business) with the Growth Plan Future 
Land Use Map identifying this area as Commercial. 
 
3. Section 2.13 C. of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 
Requests for a Conditional Use Permit must demonstrate that the proposed 
development will comply with all of the following: 
 

a. All applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2 D. 4. of the Zoning 
and Development Code and with the SSID, TEDS and SWMM Manuals. 

 
Section 2.2 D. 4. 

 
1. Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable 

corridor or neighborhood plans, the Grand Valley Circulation Plan, 
trails plan and the parks plans. 

 
Project Manager finds the request for a Conditional Use Permit to 
be in compliance with the Growth Plan and Zoning and 
Development Code per my review of the application as this 
property is zoned B-1, (Neighborhood Business), with the exception 
of the applicant’s request to have an outdoor display area in front of 
the building entrance for City Market, which the applicant is 
requesting a waiver for from the Planning Commission as part of 
this Conditional Use Permit review.  The B-1 zone district does not 
allow general retail sales, outdoor operations, display or storage.  
The Planning Commission can consider this request however, 
since the outdoor display would be considered ancillary to the 
permitted use of the grocery store.  Project Manager is supportive 
of the applicant’s request to provide outdoor display areas adjacent 
to the proposed grocery store since many area grocery stores 
provide seasonal retail sales of pumpkins, Christmas trees, flowers, 
etc., for their customers shopping convenience. 
 



 

 

2. Conditions of any prior approvals. 
 
N/A. 
 

3. Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, 
applicable use specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning 
and Development Code and the design and improvement 
standards of Chapter Six of the Code. 
 
Project Manager finds that the proposed neighborhood business 
development will comply with the standard requirements of the 
Zoning and Development Code upon the development and 
completion of the proposed project. 
 

4. Quality site design practices. 
 
The applicant wishes to develop a neighborhood business 
commercial development and will meet all the requirements of the 
Zoning and Development Code and also the SSID’s TEDS and 
SWMM manuals. 
 

b. The underlying zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of 
the Zoning and Development Code. 

 
A retail drive-through retail use is a permitted land use in the B-1, 
(Neighborhood Business) zone district with a Conditional Use Permit.  
Also, a Conditional Use Permit is required for a retail building that is in 
excess of 15,000 sq. ft. in the B-1 zone district in accordance with Section 
3.4 B. of the Zoning and Development Code, therefore the underlying 
zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of the Zoning and 
Development Code are in compliance. 

  
c. The use-specific standards established in Chapters Three and Four of the 

Zoning and Development Code. 
 

A retail drive-through retail use and a retail building that is in excess of 
15,000 sq. ft. are required to have a Conditional Use Permit in the B-1 
(Neighborhood Business) zone district.  All use-specific requirements for 
this request as stated in Chapters Three and Four are in compliance with 
this application.  
 

d. Other uses complementary to, and supportive of, the proposed project 
shall be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, 
business and commercial facilities, and transportation facilities. 

 
The property is located at the intersection of N. 12th Street and Patterson 
Road which has existing bus connection routes, retail and restaurants, 
clinics and hospitals, Mesa State College and neighborhood single and 
multifamily residential development that will all benefit from the proposed 



 

 

neighborhood business commercial development by providing additional 
retail, restaurant and neighborhood convenience grocery and pharmacy 
shopping choices for the surrounding neighborhoods. 

 
e. Compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through 

measures such as: 
 

1. Protection of privacy. 
 

The adjacent properties to the east, south and north are zoned 
residential which requires increased screening and buffering 
requirements from the existing B-1, zone district by the minimum 
addition of an eight (8’) foot wide landscaping strip and also a six 
(6’) foot tall fence.  However, since the north and south residential 
zones are separated by a right-of-way (Patterson Road and 
Wellington Avenue), the Planning Director may approve increased 
landscaping  rather than requiring the fence.  The applicant is 
proposing increased landscaping adjacent to these rights-of-
way(15’ wide landscaping strip adjacent to Patterson Road and a 
landscaping strip ranging in width from 28’ +/- to 48’ +/- adjacent to 
Wellington Avenue) which have been approved by the Director.  
For the buffering requirement adjacent to the east property line, the 
applicant is proposing an 11’ wide landscaping strip and an eight 
(8’) foot tall masonry wall in-lieu of the six (6’) foot tall fence.  In 
accordance with Section 4.1 J. 2. b. of the Zoning and 
Development Code, fences or masonry walls in excess of six (6’) 
feet shall be considered a structure and shall comply with all 
required setbacks.  Therefore, this proposed masonry wall will need 
to be setback a minimum five (5’) feet from the east property line.  
However, the applicant is requesting as part of the Conditional Use 
Permit review, that the Planning Commission approve this side yard 
setback waiver and  construct the masonry wall along the common 
property line.  Project Manager is in support of the applicant’s 
request for this setback waiver since the proposed eight (8’) foot tall 
masonry wall will provide additional screening and buffering 
between the  proposed neighborhood business commercial 
development and the multi-family residential development 
(Patterson Gardens).  The  applicant has also received approval 
from the Patterson Gardens Homeowner’s Association to construct 
this eight (8’) tall masonry  wall along the property line. 

 
2. Protection of use and enjoyment. 

 
The proposed development will meet and exceed all parking and 
landscaping requirements of the Zoning and Development Code for 
the B-1, (Neighborhood Business) zoning district. 

 
3. Compatible design and integration. 

 



 

 

The proposed development will not adversely impact the adjacent 
residential neighborhood.  Because this property is adjacent to a 
high traffic intersection, is presently zoned B-1, (Neighborhood 
Business), is in close proximity to existing commercial, educational, 
hospital and clinic facilities, and within walking distance of existing 
residential development, makes this project a perfect neighborhood 
business commercial development location.  Even though the 
project technically does not come under the Big Box Development 
Standards (Section 4.3 of the Zoning and Development Code - for 
buildings over 50,000 sq. ft.), the applicant meets or exceeds many 
Big Box architectural standards such as developing an outside 
public seating area that includes a fire pit, concealing roof-top 
mechanical equipment where possible, providing colored concrete, 
patterned cross-walks, screening of truck well loading  and 
unloading area and finally the use of creative roof-lines, awnings 
and other architectural features.  Because of these development 
features, the applicant is providing a compatible design and 
integration with the existing neighborhood that goes above 
minimum requirements for commercial development within the B-1, 
zoning district. 

 
4. Section 2.11 C. of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 
The vacation of the easement shall conform to the following: 
 

a. The Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan, and other adopted plans 
and policies of the City. 

 
Granting this request to vacate an existing 2.5’ Irrigation and Drainage 
Easement does not conflict with Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation 
Plan and other adopted plans and policies of the City of Grand Junction.  
The Irrigation and Drainage Easement does not contain any infrastructure 
facilities. 

 
 

b. No parcel shall be landlocked as a result of the vacation. 
 

No parcel will be landlocked as a result of this Irrigation and Drainage 
Easement vacation. 

 
c. Access to any parcel shall not be restricted to the point where access is 

unreasonable, economically prohibitive or reduces or devalues any 
property affected by the proposed vacation. 

 
Access to any parcel will not be restricted as a result of this Irrigation and 
Drainage Easement vacation. 

 
d. There shall be no adverse impacts on the health, safety, and/or welfare of 

the general community and the quality of public facilities and services 



 

 

provided to any parcel of land shall not be reduced (e.g. police/fire 
protection and utility services). 

 
There will be no adverse impacts to the general community and the quality 
of public facilities and services provided will not be reduced due to the 
vacation request. 

 
e. The provision of adequate public facilities and services shall not be 

inhibited to any property as required in Chapter Six of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

 
The provision of adequate public facilities and services will not be inhibited 
to any property as required in Chapter Six of the Zoning and Development 
Code as there are no public infrastructure located within the requested 
Irrigation and Drainage Easement vacation.  No adverse comments were 
received from the utility review agencies. 

 
f. The proposal shall provide benefits to the City such as reduced 

maintenance requirements, improved traffic circulation, etc. 
 

The proposed Irrigation and Drainage Easement vacation will remove an 
unneeded easement from the property. 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Twelfth and Patterson Center application, CUP-2008-323 for a 
Conditional Use Permit and Vacation of Easement, I recommend that the Planning 
Commission make the following findings of fact, conclusions and conditions: 
 

1. The requested Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the Growth Plan. 
 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.13 C. of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met for the Conditional Use Permit application. 
 

3. As part of the Conditional Use permit application, I recommend that the 
Planning Commission approve the submitted Sign Package as presented 
which meets with all the sign requirements as specified in Section 4.2 of the 
Zoning and Development Code.  Project Manager also recommends that the 
Planning Commission approve the applicant’s request to have outdoor display 
areas in front of the building entrance for City Market and also approval of the 
five (5’) foot side yard setback waiver for the construction of the eight (8’) tall 
masonry wall to be constructed along the side property line. 

 
4. The requested easement vacation is consistent with the Growth Plan. 

 
5. The review criteria in Section 2.11 C. of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met for the proposed easement vacation. 
 



 

 

6. Approval of the project being conditioned upon the approval and recording of 
the Simple Subdivision Plat joining all parcels into four lots and finalization 
and approval of all outstanding items associated with the Site Plan Review, 
including the necessary infrastructure, the costs associated with the 
infrastructure and who will pay those costs, and the acquisition of all required 
rights-of-way. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the requested Conditional Use 
Permit and Vacation of Easement, CUP-2008-323, making the findings, conclusions 
and condition of approval as listed above. 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
First Motion: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on the vacation of a 2.5’ Irrigation and Drainage Easement located at 
1308 and 1310 Wellington Avenue, I move that we recommend approval to the City 
Council for the vacation request making the findings of fact/conclusions as listed in the 
City Staff report. 
 
Second Motion: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on the request for a Conditional Use Permit for the Twelfth and Patterson 
Center application, file number CUP-2008-323, to be located at the southeast corner of 
N. 12th Street and Patterson Road, I move that the Planning Commission make the 
Findings of Fact/Conclusions and Condition of Approval as identified in the Staff Report 
and conditionally approve the Conditional Use Permit. 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City Zoning  
Site Plan (Sheet CS1.1) 
Sign Package (Sheets A6 and A7) 
Landscaping Plan (Sheets LP1.1, LP1.2 and LP5.1) 
Building Elevation Drawings (Sheets A3, A4 and A5) 
Easement Vacation Resolution 
 
 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 
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Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 
 

A RESOLUTION VACATING A 2.5’ IRRIGATION AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT 
LOCATED AT 1308 AND 1310 WELLINGTON AVENUE 

 
RECITALS: 
 

The applicant proposes to vacate a 2.5’ Irrigation and Drainage Easement 
located at 1308 and 1310 Wellington Avenue. 
 

The City Council finds that the request is consistent with the Growth Plan, the 
Grand Valley Circulation Plan and Section 2.11 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 

The Planning Commission, having heard and considered the request, found the 
criteria of the Code to have been met, and recommends that the vacation be approved. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GRAND JUNCTION THAT: 
 

The following described ingress, egress and utility easement is hereby vacated 
subject to the listed conditions: 
 
2. Applicants shall pay all recording/documentary fees for the Vacation Resolution. 
 
The following easement vacation is shown on “Exhibit A” as part of this vacation of 
description. 
 
A 2.5’ IRRIGATION & DRAINAGE EASEMENT SITUATED IN THE NW ¼  OF THE NW 
¼ OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, UTE MERIDIAN, BEING 
A PART OF LOTS 1 & 2, YO MINOR SUBDIVISION AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 
14 AT PAGE 89, CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION, COUNTY OF MESA, STATE OF 
COLORADO, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID YO MINOR SUBDIVISION, 
SAID POINT ALSO LYING ON THE NORTHERLY R.O.W. LINE OF WELLINGTON 
AVENUE; THENCE N00°12’35”E ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SUBDIVISION A 
DISTANCE OF 217.80 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID 
SUBDIVISION; THENCE S89°45’58”E ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
SUBDIVISION A DISTANCE OF 2.50 FEET; THENCE S00°12’53”W A DISTANCE OF 
217.80 FEET TO A POINT LYING ON SAID NORTHERLY R.O.W. LINE AND THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SUBDIVISION; THENCE N89°45’58”W ALONG SAID 
NORTHERLY R.O.W. LINE AND SAID SOUTHERLY LINE A DISTANCE OF 2.50 
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
 
PARCEL CONTAINS (545 SQUARE FEET) 0.0125 ACRES. 
 



 

 

BEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NW 1/4 OF THE NW 1/4  OF 
SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, OF THE UTE MERIDIAN 
BEARING N89°45’58”E AS REFERENCED AND BOUNDED BY A 3.25” MESA 
COUNTY ALUMINUM CAP L.S. IN A RANGE BOX AT THE SW CORNER OF THE NW 
1/4 OF THE NW 1/4  OF SAID SECTION 4 AND CALCULATED CORNER FROM 
ACCESSORY TIES AS SHOWN ON MESA COUNTY REFERENCE SHEET 
RECORDED OCTOBER 30, 1987 AT THE SE CORNER OF THE NW 1/4 OF THE NW 
1/4 OF SAID SECTION 12. 
 
PREPARED BY:  CHARLES N. BECKSTROM, PLS NO. 33202 
                             FOR AND ON BEHALF OF 
                             ENGINEERING SERVICE COMPANY 
                             1300 SOUTH POTOMAC STREET, SUITE 126 
                             AURORA, COLORADO  80012 
                             PHONE: (303) 337-1393 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this    day of   , 2009. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 ______________________________  
 President of City Council 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 



 

 

 
 



 

 

Attach 8 
Corner Square Apartments 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  February 9, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Greg Moberg 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Corner Square Apartments - Phase II – PP-2008-172 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approve a Planned Development Preliminary Development 
Plan & Recommendation to City Council to approve the opening and use of 25 ¾ Road 
for access to the development. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 2535 Knollwood Drive 

Applicants:  
Owner:  F & P Land, LLC 
Developer:  Constructors West 
Representative: Ciavonne, Roberts & 
Associates 

Existing Land Use: Vacant 
Proposed Land Use: Multifamily Residential 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Commercial 
South Single Family Residential/Agricultural 
East Vacant 
West Single Family Residential/Vacant 

Existing Zoning: PD (Planned Development) 
Proposed Zoning: PD (Planned Development) 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North PD (Planned Development) 
South R-5 (Residential 5 du/ac) 
East PD (Planned Development) 
West R-12 (Residential 12 du/ac) 

Growth Plan Designation: Residential Medium High – RMH  (8-12 
du/ac) and Commercial 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Request approval of the Preliminary Development Plan for 
the Corner Square Apartments - Phase II on 3.3 acres within an approved PD (Planned 
Development) zone district.  Separate from the Preliminary Development Plan approval, 
Developer is requesting the Planning Commission to make a recommendation to the 
City Council to approve the opening and use of 25 ¾ Road for access by the public to 
the development. 
 



 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Development 
Plan.  Staff recommends denial of the Developer’s request for a recommendation for the 
opening and use of 25 ¾ Road for access to the development. 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
1. Background 
 
On November 1, 2006 the City Council approved Ordinance 3981 rezoning 20.7 acres, 
located at the southwest corner of 1st Street and Patterson Road, to PD (Planned 
Development) and approved the ODP (Outline Development Plan) for a mixed use 
development.  The ODP was approved with the following default zones for each Pod: 
 

• Pod A – B-1 (approved as part of Phase I) 
• Pod B – B-1 (approved as part of Phase I) 
• Pod C – B-1 (approved as part of Phase I) 
• Pod D – B-1 (approved as part of Phase I) 
• Pod E – B-1 (future phase) 
• Pod F – R-4 (approved as part of Phase I) 
• Pod G – R-12 (future phase) 
• Pod H – R-12 (currently requesting approval as Phase II) 

 
 

 
 
 
On June 26, 2007, the Planning Commission approved the PDP for Phase I which 
included the four Pods along Patterson Road.  The approval did not include the 



 

 

multifamily Pods (Pods G and H) or the remaining commercial Pod (Pod E).  Planning 
Commission must approve PDPs for each of the remaining Pods prior to staff approval 
of final development plans and issuance of planning clearances.  Approval of a 
proposed PDP is to ensure consistency with the uses, density, bulk, performance and 
other standards of the approved ODP and Ordinance. 
 
As part of the ODP approval, Pods F, G and H were approved with a density range 
between 70 and 111 dwelling units.  Furthermore, the default zoning for Pod F is RMF-4 
(R-4) and the default zoning for Pods G and H is RMF-12 (R-12) with deviations.  
Deviations to the bulk standards were approved and included deviations to the minimum 
lot area, width and street frontage, front and rear yard setbacks and maximum lot 
coverage and FAR. 
 
On December 17, 2007 the Final Plat was recorded.  The Final Plat included all of the 
lots, tracts and right-of-way for the entire development, including the right-of-way 
dedication for 25 ¾ Road.  The Pods and default zoning depicted by the ODP relate to 
the following platted lots: 
 

• Pod A – Lot 2, Block 2 – B-1 
• Pod B – Lot 1, Block 2 – B-1 
• Pod C – Lot 2, Block 1 – B-1 
• Pod D – Lot 1, Block 1 – B-1 
• Pod E – Lot 4, Block 4 – B-1 
• Pod F – Lots 1, 2 and 3, Block 4 – R-4 
• Pod G – Lot 5, Block 4 – R-12 
• Pod H – Lot 1, Block 3 – R-12 

 
 
 



 

 

The proposed Preliminary Development Plan for Corner Square – Phase II is only for 
Lot 1, Block 3 (Pod H).  Lots 4 and 5, Block 4 (Pods E and G) will be reviewed by 
Planning Commission under future phases. 
 
A component of this proposal separate from the approval of the preliminary 
development plan is for the construction, opening, and use of 25 ¾ Road by the public 
for access to the development.  Staff has determined that it would not be safe to allow 
access from Patterson Road on to 25 ¾ Road due to the close proximity of a driveway 
on the property immediately west of the development.  The adjacent driveway is 
approximately 20 feet from and runs parallel to 25 ¾ Road.  The Transportation and 
Engineering Design Standards (TEDS) do not allow a road and a driveway to operate 
that close to each other due to safety reasons.  The owner of that property has objected 
to the closing of the driveway and relocation of the driveway to the owner’s property.  
The Developer is proposing to relocate the driveway access from Patterson Road to 25 
¾ Road. 
 
Lot Layout 
 
Four buildings are proposed containing 12 dwelling units each.  Two buildings will be 
located on the east half of the lot and two buildings will be located on the west half of 
the lot.  Parking will be located between the four buildings in the middle of the lot.  The 
parking lot will be accessed from both West Park Drive and Knollwood Drive.  The 
center parking isle will be covered and will contain small storage units for each dwelling 
unit.  Landscaping is located throughout the site with a majority of the landscaping 
located on the lot perimeter.  A 1,988 square foot future Clubhouse will be located at the 
southwest corner of the lot.  A modular block retaining wall will be constructed parallel to 
the west and a portion of the south property lines.  This wall will be constructed due to 
the nine foot grade change that occurs along the west property line. 
 
Density 
 
The maximum residential density for the Corner Square development is 111 dwelling 
units.  Currently there exist 3 dwelling units on Lots 1, 2, and 3, Block 4 (Pod F).  A total 
of 48 dwelling units are being proposed as part of Phase II.  If the PDP is approved, a 
maximum of 60 additional dwelling units would be allowed on Lot 5, Block 4 (Pod G). 
 
Bulk Standards 
 
The default zoning for this lot is R-12.  The dimensional standards with approved 
deviations are as follows: 
 

APPROVED DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS  
Zoning 
District  

Minimum Lot 
Size 

Minimum  
Street 

Frontage 

(ft.)  

Minimum Setbacks 
(Principal/Accessory Building)  

Max. Lot 
Coverage  

(%)  

Max. 
FAR  

Max. Height  
(ft.)  

Area  
(sq. ft.)  

     
Width 

(ft.)  

Front 
(ft.)  

Side  
(ft.)  

Rear  
(ft.) 

R-12  1,500 20  N/A  15/20 5/3  5/3  N/A N/A 40  

 



 

 

The submitted site plan has been reviewed and meets or exceeds all of the minimum 
standards. 
 
A concern has been raised by the adjoining property owner relating to the maximum 
height of the structure.  This concern is due to the grade change that occurs along the 
west property line.  The grade rises from the natural grade at Patterson Road to 
approximately nine (9) feet at the southwest corner of this Lot. 
 
Chapter 9 defines height as: “The vertical distance from the grade to the highest point of 
any portion of a structure.”  Grade is defined as: “The lowest point of elevation of the 
finished surface of the ground, paving or sidewalk within the area between the building 
and the property line or, when the property line is more than five feet (5') from the 
building, the point between the building and a line five feet (5') from the building.” 
 
The maximum height allowed for structures on this Lot is 40 feet.  The proposed 
structures are 31 feet in height, measured from the finished grade.  It should be noted 
that the finished grade extends nine (9) feet from the proposed structures thereby 
meeting the definition.  Therefore the proposed structures are below the maximum 
height allowed for this Lot. 
 
 
Access 
 
The proposed development has two ingress/egress points, one access point provided 
from West Park Drive and one access point provided from Knollwood Drive. 
 
To improve access to the development, the Developer is proposing that the construction 
of 25 ¾ Road along with the opening and use occur with the development of this Phase 
II.  Construction of 25 ¾ Road would provide another point of access to the entire 
Development from Patterson Road.  Currently there is only one access for the 
development from Patterson Road, Meander Drive. 
 
Initially the Developer submitted a TEDS Exception requesting that the adjacent 
driveway and 25 ¾ Road be allowed to coexist (the existing driveway and right-of-way 
are separated by approximately 20 feet).  A 150’ separation is required from a street 
intersection and a driveway.  Because of the separation requirement, Staff was unable 
to recommend approval of the TEDS Exception which would have allowed the 
construction of 25 ¾ Road while the driveway remained.  On October 28, 2008 the 
TEDS Exception was denied by the TEDS Exception Committee. 
 
The Developer has now proposed the construction of 25 ¾ Road and the relocation of 
the driveway from Patterson Road to 25 ¾ Road.  The Development Engineer has 
reviewed the proposal and has found that this proposal meets all of the TEDS 
standards.  However, upon review of the Transportation Impact Study, the Development 
Engineer found that an additional access onto Patterson Road (the construction of 25 ¾ 
Road) is not required for the 48 proposed dwelling units.  Because the Traffic Impact 
Study does not support the need for 25 ¾ Road for Phase II, it is recommended that the 
opening and use of 25 ¾ Road not occur at this time. 
 



 

 

Parking 
 
Eighty-eight parking spaces, including four handicap spaces and 24 bicycle spaces will 
be provided meeting the requirements of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
Open Space  
 
Other than the “outdoor living area” provided on the site, no open space or parkland is 
proposed for this proposal. 
 
 
Landscaping 
 
The development will be landscaped in accordance with Section 6.5 of the Zoning and 
Development Code which has be reviewed and approved as part of the submitted site 
plan. 
 
Exhibit 6.5.C of the Zoning and Development Code dictates whether a landscape buffer 
is required between a development and adjoining property.  If a landscape buffer is 
required the Exhibit defines the width of the buffer and whether a wall of fence is 
required.  The requirement is based on the zoning of the proposed development and the 
zoning of the adjacent property.  Because the Exhibit does not include PD zoning, the 
default zoning is used.  The default zoning of this property is R-12 and the adjoining 
property to the west is R-12 and to the south is R-5.  Based on the default zoning and 
adjoining zoning, an eight (8) foot wide landscaped buffer with trees and shrubs and a 
six (6) solid fence are required. 
 
The Developer is proposing a landscaped buffer of between twelve (12) and fourteen 
(14) feet and a six (6) foot ornamental steel fence along the west and south property 
lines.  The Developer is requesting that the ornamental fence be allowed rather than the 
solid fence based on two reasons.  First, the fence will be placed on top of a retaining 
wall which, if the required fence is solid, would have the appearance of up to a fifteen 
(15) foot solid barrier.  Secondly, the Developer feels that an ornamental steel fence 
would have a more aesthetically pleasing appearance to the adjoining property owners 
and apartment occupants. 
 
Based on these two reasons Staff would recommend approval of placing an ornamental 
steel fence along the west and south property lines rather than a solid fence. 
 
2. Section 2.12.C.2 of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
Requests for a Planned Development Preliminary Development Plan must demonstrate 
conformance with all of the following: 
 

b) The Outline Development Plan review criteria in Section 2.12.B of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

 



 

 

The proposed Preliminary Development Plan has been reviewed and is in 
conformance with and meets the requirements of the approved Outline 
Development Plan. 

 
c) The applicable preliminary plat criteria in Section 2.8.B of the Zoning and 

Development Code. 
 

1) The Growth Plan, major street plan, Urban Trails Plan, and other adopted 
plans 

 
The Future Land Use Map of the Growth Plan indicates this parcel as Residential 
Medium (4 – 8 du/ac) and Residential Medium High (8-12 du/ac).  Based on the 
total acreage identified on the future Land Use Map the residential density would 
range from 74 to 131 dwelling units (2.8 acres – Residential Medium and 9.1 
acres – Residential Medium High).  The ODP was approved allowing a density 
range of 70 to 111 dwelling units on Pods F, G and H.  Therefore the proposal is 
consistent with the Future Land Use Map designation. 

 
2) The Subdivision standards (Chapter 6). 

 
All of the subdivision standards contained within Section 6.7 of Chapter 6 have 
been met. 

 
3) The Zoning standards (Chapter 3). 

 
The proposed development has been reviewed using the dimensional and site 
specific standards contained in Chapter 3 for the R-12 zone district and the 
proposal has been found to meet the required standards. 

  
4) Other standards and requirements of the Zoning and Development Code and 

other City policies and regulations. 
 

Standards of the Zoning and Development Code have been met as well as the 
requirements for the Transportation Engineering Design Standards (TEDS). 

 
5) Adequate public facilities and services will be available concurrent with the 

subdivision. 
 

Adequate public facilities and services have been made available through 
approval of the subdivision. 

 
6) The project will have little or no adverse or negative impacts upon the natural 

or social environment. 
 

The project will have little or no unusual adverse or negative impacts upon the 
natural or social environment. 

 
7) Compatibility with existing and proposed development on adjacent properties. 

 



 

 

The proposed multifamily development is part of a larger approved multi-use 
development that will contain commercial and residential structures.  The 
commercial structures are located along Patterson Road on the north half of the 
development and the residential is located on the south half of the development.  
The proposed multifamily residences will provide a transition between the 
adjacent single family residences to the south and the commercial uses to the 
north. 

 
8) Adjacent agricultural property and land uses will not be harmed. 

 
The agriculturally used property to the south will not be harmed by the proposed 
development as the development will have to adhere to the requirements of the 
Stormwater Management Manual. 

 
9) Is neither piecemeal development nor premature development of agricultural 

land or other unique areas? 
 

The proposed development is a part of the overall Corner Square development 
and is therefore neither piecemeal development nor premature development of 
agricultural land or other unique areas. 

 
10) There is adequate land to dedicate for provision of public services 

 
All required dedication of land occurred as part of the Final Plat. 

 
d) The applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and 

Development Code. 
 

1) Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable corridor or 
neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan and the parks plan 

 
The Future Land Use Map of the Growth Plan indicates this parcel as Residential 
Medium (4 – 8 du/ac) and Residential Medium High (8-12 du/ac).  Based on the 
total acreage identified on the future Land Use Map the residential density would 
range from 74 to 131 dwelling units (2.8 acres – Residential Medium and 9.1 
acres – Residential Medium High).  The ODP was approved allowing a density 
range of 70 to 111 dwelling units on Pods F, G and H.  Therefore the proposal is 
consistent with the Future Land Use Map designation. 

 
2) Conditions of any prior approvals. 

 
The proposed PDP has been designed in accordance with the approved ODP 
and meets the requirements and restrictions of the ODP. 

 
3) Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, applicable use 

specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning and Development Code and 
the design and improvement standards of Chapter Six of the Code. 

 



 

 

The proposed landscape and parking plans have been reviewed and have been 
found to meet the standards contained under Section 6.5 and 6.6.  The proposed 
structures meet the default zone district requirements (R-12) and use specific 
standards as defined in the ODP and Chapter 3.4.B of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

 
e) The approved ODP, if applicable 

 
The proposed PDP has been designed in accordance with the ODP that was 
approved through Ordinance 3981 in November 2006. 

 
f) The approved PD rezoning ordinance, if adopted with an ODP 

 
The overall development was approved as part of the ODP that was approved 
through Ordinance 3981 in November 2006. 

 
g) An appropriate, specific density for all areas included in the preliminary plan 

approval. 
 

The approved ODP allows a total residential density of 111 dwelling units.  Currently 
there exist 3 dwelling units within Pod F (all of the dwelling units were existing single 
family dwellings on existing lots).  The Developer is proposing 48 dwelling units on 
Pod H (Phase II).  If the PDP is approved a maximum of 60 additional dwelling units 
would remain for Pod G. 

 
h) The area of the plan is at least five (5) acres in size or as specified in an 

applicable approved ODP. 
 

The proposed PDP is part of an overall development that contains 20.7 acres. 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS/CONDITIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Corner Square Phase II application, PP-2008-172 for approval of a 
Preliminary Development Plan, I make the following findings of fact, conclusions and 
conditions: 
 

3. The requested Preliminary Development Plan is consistent with the Growth 
Plan. 

 
4. The review criteria in Section 2.12.C.2 of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met. 
 

5. The review criteria in Section 2.8.B of the Zoning and Development Code 
have all been met. 

 
6. The review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met. 
 



 

 

7. Allow a six (6) foot ornamental steel fence in place of a six (6) foot solid fence 
along the west and south property lines. 

 
8. Any indication on any of the Preliminary Plan documents showing the 

construction and or use of 25 ¾ Road with the approval of this Phase II is not 
included as a part of the approval for the Preliminary Development Plan. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the requested Corner Square 
Phase II, Preliminary Development Plan, PP-2008-172 with the findings, conclusions 
and conditions listed above. 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS/CONDITIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Corner Square Phase II application, PP-2008-172 for approval of a 
Preliminary Development Plan, I make the following findings of fact, conclusions and 
conditions regarding the recommendation for opening and use of 25 ¾ Road by the 
public: 
 

1. The requested access is not necessary as a part of this Phase II 
development. 

 
2. To allow the opening and use of 25 ¾ Road would require the closing and 

relocation of the driveway access to the neighboring property.  The relocation 
of the driveway is not necessary at this time. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission deny the request to recommend to City 
Council that 25 ¾ Road be open for use by the public for access to the development 
based on the facts and conclusions listed above. 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTIONS: 
 
Mr. Chairman, I move that we approve the Preliminary Development Plan for Corner 
Square Phase II, PP-2008-172, with the findings, conclusions and conditions listed in 
the staff report. 
 
Mr. Chairman, I move that we recommend to City Council that 25 ¾ Road be open for 
use by the public as access to the development based on the testimony provided by the 
Developer. 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map 
Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map 
Existing City and County Zoning Map 



 

 

Planned Development Rezone Ordinance 
Outline Development Plan 
Final Plat 
Preliminary Development Plan/Landscape Plan 
TEDS Exception 
Letter and documents from Mr. Joseph Coleman 
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Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 
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Figure 3 
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Existing City and County Zoning 

Figure 4 
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NOTE:  Mesa County is currently in the process of updating their zoning map. Please contact Mesa 
County directly to determine parcels and the zoning thereof." 
 
 
 

SITE Residential Medium 
High 

SITE 
PD 

Commercial 

Commercial 

Residential Medium  

Residential 
Medium High 

PK 
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Residential 
Low 
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Industrial 
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